#### ABSTRACT

Title of Dissertation:	Reminding Me of the Future: Episodic Future Thinking as A Strategy for Mobile Health Interventions
	Yan Qin, Doctor of Philosophy, 2021
Dissertation directed by:	Dr. Xiaoli Nan, Department of Communication

The use of mobile and wireless technologies has been rapidly increasing worldwide and sparked a growth in the use of these technologies to support the achievement of health objectives (i.e., mHealth). This dissertation aims to test the effect of an mHealth intervention using mobile apps for promoting healthy lifestyle behavior change among college students. It takes an "active ingredient" perspective that examines the utility of a single strategy in mHealth interventions. The strategy is called episodic future thinking (EFT), the ability to project oneself into the future to pre-experience future events. Drawing on future thinking, intertemporal choice, and construal level theory, this dissertation proposes that engaging in EFT (vs. episodic recent thinking, ERT) could help individuals make better health-related choices in their everyday lives in terms of taking sufficient sleep or physical activity. Through a two-week mHealth intervention using the health apps *SleepCycle* and *NikeTrainingClub*, this dissertation examines the effect of EFT on two lifestylerelated behaviors, i.e., sleep and physical activity participation, and explores the psychological mechanism underlying EFT's effect. The findings suggest that EFT could be a useful strategy incorporated into mHealth interventions to increase intentions for health behavior change and to promote actual behavior change among college students. However, it might have contradictory effects when applied to different types of behavior. Specific to the current study, EFT was effective in promoting physical activity as recorded through the health app *NikeTrainingClub*. However, EFT had negative effect when applied to the sleep behavior. The reasons why this was the case are explained and theoretical and practical implications for EFT research and mHealth interventions are discussed. In general, the findings complement and extend previous research on EFT and mHealth interventions and emphasize the importance of context (including the context of mobile technologies) in mHealth intervention research.

### Reminding Me of the Future: Episodic Future Thinking as A Strategy for Mobile Health Interventions

by

Yan Qin

Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Maryland, College Park, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy 2021

Advisory Committee: Professor Xiaoli Nan, Chair Professor Kang Namkoong Professor Anita Atwell Seate Professor Leah Waks Professor Ronald A. Yaros © Copyright by Yan Qin 2021

# Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my husband who encouraged me to pursue my

dreams and finish my dissertation.

## Acknowledgements

There are many individuals who have guided and helped me throughout my PhD study. While words alone cannot possibly express the gratitude I have for their invaluable support, I will try to acknowledge them.

First, my advisor, Dr. Xiaoli Nan, Professor in the Department of Communication, has been a wonderful mentor and role model for me throughout my PhD study. She encouraged me to be creative in my scholarly work and trained me to be rigorous when pursuing it. I still remember the moments that she enabled me to form my own research ideas, guided me to put my ideas into workable research questions through a problem-oriented lens, and taught me to think in a theoretical way. I am very grateful for her invaluable advice, continuous support, and patience during my PhD study. In the meantime, I am so appreciative that she supported me to grow personally as well. She has been very supportive of my decision to become a mother while completing my PhD study. Through working with her, I learned that one can be both an accomplished scholar and a wonderful mother. As challenging as this can be, I feel lucky that I have her to look upon to whenever I have doubt. My life, both professional and personal life, is forever better for having worked with her.

Dr. Kang Namkoong, Associate professor in the Department of Communication, has had a tremendous influence on me as well. I worked with him on two research projects and took his seminar. He always makes himself available for students through different ways to help them learn and grow. It is through these formal and informal conversations I had with him that I came to think profoundly differently than I did before about a lot of research related questions. He helped me

iii

think more deeply and thoughtfully about my research and improve my research methods. The climate of his seminar was very engaging and inclusive. He accommodates to the need of different students but is also fair and strict. He truly cares about his students and is patient and sincere. I have learned a lot from him, not only on how to do research but also on how to be a good instructor. I am deeply grateful to him for his support and belief in me.

I also have learned so much from Dr. Anita Atwell Seate, Associate Professor in the Department of Communication. I worked as an assistant to Dr. Seate for the research system SONA in our department. She taught me so much about managing a research system and balancing between administrative and research work. I loved working as her administrative assistant. I also had the opportunity to learn from her on various occasions, such as workshops, seminars, and even in the hallway of our department building. Yes, that is how ready she is to share her experience and help students both in their academic and personal life. She has been so supportive of me throughout my PhD study.

Dr. Leah Waks, Principal Lecturer in the Department of Communication and Dr. Ronald Yaros, Associate Professor in the Philip Merrill College of Journalism, gave me tremendous support on my dissertation. They are very thoughtful scholars and very conscientious committee members, who read my work carefully and provides insightful critique. I am very appreciative of their support and guidance.

Dr. Shawn J. Parry-Giles has been a terrific influence on my PhD experience. I am forever indebted to her for her support and guidance during the first few years of my PhD study when I encountered difficulties both academically and personally. Her

iv

course on academic writing helped improve my English writing and shape my academic writing style, which enabled me to be more confident when submitting papers to journals.

I am also very thankful to have had the opportunity to take Dr. Dale Hample's course and learn from him through various occasions. His course on communication theory planted a seed in my academic soul that later grew into my long-term interest in theories and advanced my knowledge in how to study theories in social sciences and how to apply them appropriately. The debate section in his course challenged me and made me jump out of my comfort zone. The way he approached debate and more generally, disagreement, and the way he organized the whole debate section helped me better cope with anxiety when thinking about debating/disagreeing with other people. It also fostered a critical and open mind in me. I benefit from this experience until this day, especially when I need to read and respond to reviewers' comments.

Dr. Mai Ding, my former advisor, has guided me to the world of quantitative research and statistics; professors of the EDMS program from the College of Education have helped advance my quantitative research skill and statistics knowledge. I am thankful to them for enriching my academic arsenal so that I am better able to explore the social sciences world.

The faculty, staff, and other students in the Department of Communication, as well as my friends, have also been so helpful throughout my PhD study. Dr. Soyoung Bae, Zexin (Marsha) Ma, Xiaojing (Romy) Wang, Victoria Ledford, Junhan Chen, Yuki Lama, and Jarim Kim, I have received love, guidance, and advice from so many people, and I truly appreciate their help.

V

I am most grateful of my family members, including my parents, my in-laws, and my husband. I could not have made it here without their support and sacrifice. Words cannot possibly express how appreciative I am of them.

Finally, to my daughter Eleanor Sun, who brings me tears and joys. I become much braver because of you. Thank you for providing me with purpose in life and teaching me patience and balance. I love you more than words can express.

# Table of Contents

Dedication	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	. vii
List of Tables	ix
List of Figures	X
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Background and Overview	1
1.2 Theoretical Importance	3
1.3 Methodological Importance	6
1.4 Practical Importance	8
Chapter 2: Literature Review on mHealth Interventions	. 10
2.1 Technologies and Functionalities Used in mHealth Interventions	. 10
2.2 Health Domains and Participants in mHealth Interventions	. 12
2.3 Study Designs and Outcome Measures in mHealth Interventions	. 14
2.4 Theory Use in mHealth Interventions	. 17
2.4.1 Use of Behavior Change Theories in mHealth Interventions	. 17
2.4.2 Identification of Active Ingredients in mHealth Interventions	. 20
2.5 Summary	. 21
Chapter 3: Episodic Future Thinking as A Strategy for Mobile Health Intervention.	. 25
3.1 Health Behavior as Intertemporal Choice: Why EFT is Suitable for Lifestyle	-
Related Behaviors	. 26
3.2 EFT and Related Concepts	. 28
3.3 EFT – Bridging the Present and the Future	. 31
3.3.1 Thinking about the Future Enhances Our Sense of Temporal Continuity	
and Personal Identity	. 31
3.3.2 Thinking about the Future Relates to Personal Goals and Increases Self-	
Control	. 34
3.4 Bridging Specific Actions and High-level Goals: Why EFT is Suitable to be	
Integrated into mHealth Interventions using Mobile Phones	. 37
Chapter 4: Research Questions and Hypotheses	. 42
4.1 EFT, Delay Discounting, and Health Behavior	. 42
4.2 Psychological Mechanism Underlying the Effect of EFT	. 45
4.2.1 EFT, Self-Control, and Health Behavior Change	. 47
4.2.2 EFT, Positive Affect, and Health Behavior Change	. 49
Chapter 5: Methods	. 53
5.1 Design & Procedures	. 53
5.1.1 Recruitment and Baseline Session	. 53
5.1.2 Intervention Session	. 54
5.2 Participants	. 59
5.3 Stimulus: Episodic Future Thinking (EFT)	. 62
5.4 Measures	. 64
Chapter 6: Results	. 70

6.1 Randomization Check	70
6.2 Manipulation Check	72
6.3 Main Analysis – Baseline Session	74
6.4 Main Analysis - Sleep Data	74
6.4.1 One-Way MANCOVA	75
6.4.2 Longitudinal Data Analysis on Behavior Variable	76
6.4.3 Longitudinal Data Analysis on Psychological Variables	81
6.4.4 SEM Analysis	82
6.5 Main Analysis - Physical Activity Data	84
6.5.1 One-Way MANCOVA	84
6.5.2 Longitudinal Analysis on Behavior Variable	85
6.5.3 Longitudinal Analysis on Psychological Variables	89
6.5.4 SEM Analysis	90
6.5.5 Additional Analyses	91
Chapter 7: Discussion	94
7.1 EFT and Psychological Outcomes (i.e., affect, self-control, and intention)	96
7.2 EFT and Behavioral Outcomes (i.e., sleep and physical activity)	96
7.3 Technological Functions in mHealth Interventions	. 100
7.4 Practical Implications	. 102
7.5 Limitations	. 104
7.6 Conclusion	. 106
Appendices	. 108
Appendix A Instructions for the EFT Task Used in the Baseline Survey	. 108
Appendix B Instructions for the EFT Task Used in the Intervention	. 111
References	. 112

Table 1	
Table 2	
Table 3	
Table 4	
Table 5	
Table 6	77
Table 7	
Table 8	
Table 9	
Table 10	
Table 11	
Table 12	
Table 13	
Table 14	
Table 15	
Table 16	

# List of Figures

Figure 1 mHealth intervention by health domains (Free et al., 2010)	13
Figure 2 Theoretical model	52
Figure 3 Flowchart for study design	59
Figure 4 Flowchart for participants	61
Figure 5 Change in mean scores on future-oriented (left) and difficulty to recall	
(right) measures as a function of time – baseline data	74
Figure 6 Descriptive individual trend lines for EFT vs. ERT groups	76
Figure 7 Descriptive mean trendlines fitted with a linear (left) and a polynomial	
(right) function for EFT vs. ERT groups	79
Figure 8 Mean trendlines from baseline to the last wave for EFT and ERT groups for	or
the sleep data	81
Figure 9 Path model with standardized path coefficients for sleep data	84
Figure 10 Descriptive individual trend lines for EFT vs. ERT groups with (left) and	
without (right) problematic data points	88
Figure 11 Path model with standardized path coefficients for the physical activity data	ata
	91
Figure 12 Indirect effect of EFT on physical activity through intention	92

## Chapter 1: Introduction

#### 1.1 Background and Overview

The use of mobile and wireless technologies has been rapidly increasing worldwide. Mobile coverage reached 98.8% for developed countries and 96% for developing countries (ITU, 2019). In the US, for example, 95% of the population own at least one mobile phone (PEW Research Center, 2017) and 84% have home access to the Internet (ITU, 2017). Globally, almost the entire world population (97%) could be reached through a mobile cellular signal (ITU, 2019). The high penetration rate of mobile phone, together with its mobility, instantaneous access, and direct communication, allows this technology to transfer health information in a fast and personalized way, which in turn supports medical and public health practices. These characteristics have sparked a growth in the use of mobile and wireless technologies to support the achievement of health objectives (i.e., mHealth). *mHealth* broadly refers to any use of mobile computing and communication technologies to address health care and public health challenges (Fiordelli et al., 2013, p. 2). mHealth for health promotion can include diverse mobile tools, ranging from text messages (e.g., Fortmann et al., 2017; Nelson et al., 2016) to apps for health promotion and selfmanagement (e.g., Chavez et al., 2017; Holtz et al., 2017). Health promotion apps are designed to support daily health self-management. For example, sleep apps help monitor sleep quality and provide information on sleep hygiene knowledge; physical activity apps integrate various functions ranging from self-monitoring of daily steps/running miles to instruction videos on exercises such as yoga and functional training.

This dissertation aims to test the effect of an mHealth intervention using mobile apps to promote healthy lifestyle behavior change among college students. It takes an "active ingredient" perspective that examines the utility of a single strategy in mHealth interventions. The strategy is called *episodic future thinking* (EFT), the ability to project oneself into the future to pre-experience future events (Szpunar, 2010). Accordingly, this dissertation addresses the question: whether and how EFT helps individuals make better health-related choices in their everyday lives? Drawing on literature about future thinking, intertemporal choice, and construal level theory, this dissertation proposes that engaging in EFT helps individuals make better health-related choices in their sufficient sleep or physical activity. Through a two-week mHealth intervention using the health apps *SleepCycle* and *NikeTrainingClub*, this dissertation examines the effect of EFT on two lifestyle-related behaviors, i.e., sleep and physical activity participation, and explores the psychological mechanism underlying EFT's effect.

Chapter 2 gives a narrative review on mHealth interventions. Research shows that mHealth has the potential to efficiently deliver high-quality health interventions, but the evidence supporting its current effectiveness is still mixed. The reasons for the mixed results are manifold. But the key issue revolves around theory use in interventions. Specifically, there has been a lack of theory-based design in mHealth interventions, and it was often those unsuccessful interventions that lacked a theoretical framework grounded in behavior science. Even when theories are in use, efforts are still needed on devising theoretical techniques that are suitable for the

technologies used in the intervention. Technology advances, on the other hand, should be better utilized to fulfill potential theoretical propositions.

mHealth stands at the crossing of mobile technologies, communication media, and health behavior change. The design of mHealth interventions thus needs to consider all these aspects. Specifically, we need to consider the use of behavioral change strategies in relation to the modes of intervention delivery, technology components, and different health domains and targeted populations.

Based on this understanding, Chapter 3 introduces the theoretical framework for this dissertation. This chapter provides "thinking about the future" as a general framework and discusses why and how this framework fit into the interventions developed in this dissertation. The choice of the strategy EFT is based on considerations of its suitability with the target behaviors under investigation and the mobile technologies employed. Chapter 3 elaborates on these relationships from a theoretical perspective.

Chapter 4 proposes the research questions and hypotheses of this dissertation based on previous theoretical discussion and empirical evidence. Chapter 5 introduces the intervention study that examines the effect of EFT on two behaviors (i.e., sleep and physical activity) among college students. In this chapter, study design, procedures, and measurements are presented. Chapter 6 provides results of the intervention study and chapter 7 elaborates on the implications of those results.

#### 1.2 Theoretical Importance

A large body of literature has shown that EFT interventions reduce delay discounting (DD), individuals' preference for smaller, immediate rewards over larger,

delayed rewards (Rung & Madden, 2018). EFT interventions usually involve an EFT cue generation task and a subsequent DD task during which the cues generated are presented auditorily or visually to the participants. In the EFT cue generation task, participants are usually asked to imagine vividly possible, positive future events.

Steep DD rate is associated with many unhealthy behaviors, such as cigarette smoking (Chiou et al., 2017; Stein et al., 2018), problematic drinking (Bulley & Gullo, 2017; Snider et al., 2016), drug use (Johnson et al., 2007; Sofis et al., 2020), and obesity (Epstein et al., 2010; Sze et al., 2017). It has also been associated with risky behaviors that are believed to pose a threat to public health, such as neglecting sunscreen and using seatbelt (Reimers et al., 2009). As such, EFT could be a promising strategy for reducing maladaptive impulsive behaviors and promoting public health.

This dissertation adds to the literature of EFT first by applying it to behavior types that have not been addressed before. A large amount of the EFT studies focused on addictive behaviors, e.g., smoking, alcohol use, and drug use. Recent studies have started to explore EFT's utility for other behavior types, such as weight loss maintenance (Leahey et al., 2020), prosocial (Gaesser et al., 2020), and proenvironmental behavior (Lee et al., 2020). Examining behavior types that have not been studied in previous research could help increase the generalizability of EFT as well as testing the boundary conditions of its applicability.

Moreover, this dissertation extends the literature of EFT by exploring the effect of repeatedly engaging in EFT on behavior change over time and examining its effect in natural settings.

Traditional EFT studies are mostly conducted in laboratory settings with one set of DD task and/or hypothetical behavior task following one session of the EFT task. Not many studies have examined the effect of repeatedly engaging in EFT over a period of time on DD or health behaviors. For those that examined the repeated effect of engaging in EFT, the results have been inconsistent. Two studies showed some promises of this approach (Mellis et al., 2019; Sze et al., 2015). For example, Mellis et al.'s (2019) study showed that for current and recent problem drinkers, the presence of future cues decreased their DD rates over six sessions, compared to those with no cue or shown with scarcity cues. However, another study examined the effects of repeated engagement of EFT (i.e., one week of time) showed no effect of such repeated engagement of EFT on DD, nor on the ad lib energy intake and the relative reinforcing value of snack food, compared to one engagement in EFT (Mansouri et al., 2020). Similarly, not many studies on EFT were conducted in natural settings, limiting its external validity and practical applicability (but see the following for some exceptions: Hollis-Hansen, 2020; Hollis-Hansen et al., 2020a, 2020b; O'Neill et al., 2016).

Lastly, this dissertation seeks to integrate EFT with mobile technologies to test the plausibility of such combination on health behavior change for different types of behavior. Previous research has proposed some ways for combining EFT with different media formats or technologies. For example, Kakoschke et al.'s (2018) and Sze et al.'s (2015, 2017) studies employed smartphone apps and text messages or emails to deliver EFT cues. Kaplan et al. (2016) asked participants to view ageprogressed computer-generated images of themselves as a modified procedure for

EFT. Bays et al. (2018) examined the effects of photographs on the quality of future thinking. Recently, Wang et al. (2019) proposed a theoretical framework that integrated EFT into virtual reality (VR) to mitigate substance use disorders. In a word, exploring different possibilities of integrating EFT with new technologies or media formats has received increasing research attention. It could be a promising way to make this strategy more powerful (Wang et al., 2019).

#### 1.3 Methodological Importance

This dissertation employs several ways to increase both the internal and external validity of its results. Specifically, 1) it employs a field experiment with longitudinal design; 2) it assesses two behavior types – physical activity and sleep – by means of objective data; 3) it uses ecological momentary intervention and assessment (EMI and EMA); 4) the use of thinking task (i.e., EFT), compared to reading health messages, facilitates participants' engagement with the information being communicated.

This dissertation involves a field experiment with longitudinal design (i.e., 2 weeks). Experiment has been a gold standard for probing causal relationships. However, one drawback of it is a lack of external validity due to the often controlled and artificial laboratory setting. Mobile technologies have increasingly become an integral part of people's everyday life to the extent of becoming our "extended self." (Belk, 2013) Addressing mHealth from an everyday use perspective become more practical and can increase the external validity of a study. Moreover, most choices about health are made during everyday activities. Approaching mHealth interventions from an everyday use perspective may thus provide researchers great opportunity to

improve the efficacy of mHealth interventions as "influencing these choices constitutes the single greatest opportunity to improve health and reduce premature deaths" (Schroeder 2007, p. 1222).

This dissertation also employs EMI and EMA to increase its internal and external validity. EMI enables delivery of interventions to individuals as they go about their daily lives, that is, during their everyday lives (i.e., in real time) and in natural settings (i.e., real-world; Heron & Smyth, 2010), whereas EMA assesses individuals' experiences, behaviors, and moods as they occur in real time and in their real-world settings (Burke et al., 2017). Both the EMI and the EMA take advantages of the ubiquitous availability of mobile technologies and have increased in popularity in recent years (e.g., Heron & Smyth, 2010; Hollis-Hansen et al., 2020).

EMIs are ecologically valid because they occur in the natural environment. They could also provide real-time support in the real world because they are usually provided at specifically identified moments when they are most needed in people's everyday life. EMA reduces retrospective recall and the associated biases to some extent as people report on current or recent states or events. As with EMI, EMA increases generalizability and ecological validity because the measurements are taken in natural settings. In addition, there are usually multiple assessments over time, allowing for the exploration of temporal relationships among variables.

Last but not least, this study is able to deliver intervention and collect behavior data using the same device (Direito et al., 2018) thanks to the various functions, sensors, and applications of mobile phones.

#### 1.4 Practical Importance

Lifestyle-related behaviors have significant influence on people's health during different times. On the one hand, unhealthy lifestyle is among the main reasons for the prevalence of chronic diseases. Many of such illnesses can be prevented or treated by making changes to people's own behaviors. On the other hand, promoting preventive health behaviors could inform responses to infectious diseases, especially during a pandemic such as the COVID-19 pandemic. Lockdowns during the COVID-19 pandemic have been shown to influence a variety of lifestylerelated behaviors, such as sleep time and mealtime (Sinha et al., 2020), sleep duration, physical activity, and social encounters (Oved et al., 2021), sedentary activity and exposure to digital media (Dutta et al., 2020).

mHealth has been suggested as an effective and cost-efficient way to address lifestyle related health behavior change due to the adoption, pervasiveness, and ubiquity of mobile technologies in our daily lives (Marcolino et al., 2018). This dissertation integrates streams of research on intertemporal choice (e.g., Lempert & Phelps, 2016; Loewenstein & Thaler, 1989), future thinking (e.g., D'Argembeau et al., 2010; Schacter, 2012), and construal level theory (e.g., Katz & Byrne, 2013; Trope & Lieberman, 2010) to understand how to better design mHealth interventions to promote health behavior change.

Since it has been coined in the first years of the new century, mHealth has been the center of debate in the health context (Bashshur et al., 2011). It has grown in importance given two lines of development in the health arena. One is that the scope of health has been broadened considerably to integrate lifestyle related aspects, such

as diet, fitness, and wellness. The other is that new technologies have altered how people perceive health, opening new opportunities for individuals to take an active part in their health care and management, which also has empowering effect on them (Koinig & Diehl, 2020, p.179). Together with these two lines of development is WHO's (2011) call for discovering "new horizons for health through mobile technologies." As such, mHealth is a promising area in health communication that warrants further research.

# Chapter 2: Literature Review on mHealth Interventions

*mHealth* is defined by the WHO as "medical and public health practice supported by mobile devices, such as mobile phones, patient monitoring devices, personal digital assistants (PDAs), and other wireless devices" (Kay, 2014). While mHealth demonstrates potential for improving the coverage, efficiency, and quality of health systems, with likely benefits for health service utilization, behavior change, and clinical outcomes, its effectiveness by now is still mixed (Marcolino et al., 2018). A number of factors could be underlying the mixed results. These include different types of technology or functionality used in the interventions, types of targeted health behavior, participants, study designs, outcome measures, and theory use. The following sections review these aspects one by one.

#### 2.1 Technologies and Functionalities Used in mHealth Interventions

Mobile technologies used in mHealth involve patient monitoring devices, personal digital assistants (PDAs), mobile phones, and other wireless devices. Even for a single technology such as mobile phone, the term has evolved to include different functionalities over the years as the technological capabilities have advanced. The functions of mobile phones used in mHealth include voice and short messaging service (SMS) as well as more complex functionalities and applications, such as global positioning system (GPS), Bluetooth technology, third and fourth generation mobile telecommunications (3G and 4G systems), and others.

This review focuses on mHealth interventions using mobile phones, which refer to interventions delivered through or in combination with mobile phones via short messaging services (SMS), multimedia messaging services (MMS), applications, phone calls, email, web browsers, and social media. Specifically, this review focuses on SMS and health applications (apps) because these two functions relate most closely to this dissertation.

Short messaging service (SMS), also called text messaging (TM), is one of the most frequently utilized functions of mobile communication. It is also among the first to be used in mHealth interventions and has expanded rapidly since 2002 (Hall et al., 2015). Systematic reviews and meta-analyses have shown statistically significant positive effects of text-massaging interventions (TMI) on diverse health outcomes and health behaviors, such as physical activity, smoking, and chronical disease self-management. For example, Head et al., (2013)'s meta-analysis found an overall weighted mean effect size of d = .329 (95% CI = .274, .385; p < .001) for text messaging-based interventions for health promotion.

As mobile applications (apps) began to emerge after 2008, there have been an increasing number of interventions using mobile apps. There are a few general reviews on app-based interventions (e.g., Payne et al., 2015; Zhao et al., 2016). The majority of reviews focused on a single behavioral type such as diabetes self-management (Wu et al., 2017), with app-based interventions associated with a clinically significant reduction of HbA1c (MD 0.48%, 95% *CI* 0.19%-0.78%); a small-to-moderate positive effect on physical activity (standardized difference in means [SDM] = 0.350, 95% *CI* 0.236 to 0.465,  $I^2$ =69%,  $T^2$ =0.051; Laranjo et al., 2021); and for improving nutrition behaviors (g = 0.19; *CI*, 0.06-0.32, P = .004) and nutrition-related health outcomes (g = 0.23; *CI*, 0.11-0.36, P < .001; Villinger et al., 2019).

Some of the research attention on app-based interventions has been directed to examining commercially available health apps and related issues, such as people's motivation to download certain apps or their attitudes and perception toward using those apps. In such studies, researchers usually relied on behavioral change theories as standard for the quality of app design. For example, Middelweerd et al., (2014) examined commercially available physical activity apps and found that the reviewed apps included an average of 5 behavioral change techniques ranging from 2-8. The most often used techniques included self-monitoring, providing feedback on performance, and goal setting. However, there has not been conclusive evidence on whether the number or type of behavioral change techniques used in a health app is associated with larger or small effect (Middelweerd et al., 2014).

Despite an emerging interest in using apps for improving health behaviors and the fact that thousands of health apps are now available for download, very few of these commercially available apps have been utilized and tested in interventions (Payne et al., 2015). It is shown that smartphone owners have an average of 41 apps installed with 52% using their phones for health purposes (Payne et al., 2015). Health apps have the potential to empower individuals, but evidence-based research is needed (Wiederhold, 2015).

#### 2.2 Health Domains and Participants in mHealth Interventions

mHealth interventions have been applied to a variety of health domains. Free et al. (2010) proposed a framework of intervention classification (see Figure 1). According to a systematic review on the systematic reviews of mHealth interventions (Marcolino et al., 2018), text messaging for chronic disease management was by far the most widely used and successful mHealth intervention. Evidence is still cumulating for the effectiveness of using mobile technologies for lifestyle-related behavior change. One meta-analysis reported that no article in their review examined the effectiveness of mobile-based technology in monitoring health behaviors and behavioral change (McMillan et al., 2017). A recent review found a moderate positive effect on lifestyle behavior outcomes (standardized difference in means [SDM] 0.663, 95% *CI* 0.228-1.10; Tong et al., 2021).

Closely related to health domain examined in mHealth interventions, participants in mHealth research were most often people with certain conditions such as people with diabetes and those who needed cardiac rehabilitation, etc. This is understandable because priority should be given to those who could benefit the most from the interventions. However, as mobile phones and apps become increasingly integrated into people's daily life and as "the old entitlement mindset of 'I'm broken, fix me' is giving way to 'I want to stay out of trouble' (Wiederhold, 2015)," it is also important to address how people use mobile devices to guide them toward a healthier lifestyle.



Figure 1 mHealth intervention by health domains (Free et al., 2010)

#### 2.3 Study Designs and Outcome Measures in mHealth Interventions

Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have long been considered the research gold standard for determining the efficacy of health interventions and have been well accepted in mHealth interventions as well. Most review articles and meta-analyses based their discussion on studies using this method. Another method often used in mHealth interventions was pilot study, especially for app feasibility tests. But the small sample size associated with this method and a lack of control group in many studies were often criticized.

Although RCTs remain to be the gold standard to test efficacy, scholars have argued for the use of other study designs and evaluation methods in mHealth studies, such as sequential multiple assignment randomized trial (SMART), multiphase optimization strategy (MOST), ecological momentary intervention (EMI), and assessment (EMA).

Two forces might be driving this call for other methods. One concerns the need to evaluate the active ingredients in a program, and the other is about using methods that best suit the characteristics of newer communication technologies.

First, there is a need to evaluate the active ingredient(s) driving the effect of mHealth interventions to generate better design of these interventions. Although evidence so far support the use of mobile technologies in health interventions, less is known about what specific strategies are responsible for the effect, and through what mechanisms. For example, Klasnja et al. (2011) posited that the use of RCTs might not be suitable to evaluate interventions using newer technologies, especially at early stages of technology development. They argued, instead, for a narrower notion of

efficacy, "one that tailors outcome measures to the particular intervention strategies a technology employs" (p. 3063). This is especially important for interventions using health apps because the narrower notion of efficacy would enable researchers to test whether their apps are doing what they are intended to do. As was mentioned before, researchers have examined the use of behavioral change techniques (BCTs) in health apps, but there has been a lack of evidence on whether the number and type of BCTs used in an app is associated with larger or smaller effect for behavior change due to the methods used to test such effect.

In line with this, some scholars (Collins et al., 2007) recommended sequential multiple assignment randomized trial (SMART) as an alternative method. Traditional RCTs evaluate the intervention as a whole and do not allow isolation of the effects of individual components. SMART design, on the other hand, considers behavioral change as involving a set of components and addresses these components separately. The SMART design incorporates RCTs, but before the RCT is undertaken, it includes methods for "identifying which components are active in an intervention, and which doses of each component lead to the best outcomes" (Collins et al., 2007, p.2).

Additionally, scholars have advocated for using methods that better leverage the characteristics of mobile technologies, such as their ubiquity and easy access. These methods include ecological momentary intervention (EMI) and assessment (EMA), and just-in-time adaptive interventions (Nahum-Shani et al., 2018). EMA and EMI were proposed by Shiffman and Stone (1998), which are characterized by delivering intervention and collecting data in real-time and in subjects' real-world environment and are considered as complements to laboratory studies in health

psychological research. These methods are particularly well-suited for the study of mHealth interventions and have increased in number and popularity in recent years (Heron & Smyth, 2010). The array and scope of behaviors being studied also expanded but the emphasis has mainly been on substance abuse, chronic pain, physical activity, eating behaviors, and lapses among dieters (e.g., Heron & Smyth, 2010; Minami et al., 2018; Sokolovsky et al., 2013).

Technology advances allow a more effective use of methods such as EMI/EMA and just-in-time adaptive design in mHealth interventions. These advances also make it possible to track actual behavior change and collect data on objective measures of behavior. Broadly speaking, two types of outcome measure have been used in mHealth interventions: objective measures (e.g., health behaviors such as physical activity and clinical outcomes such as chemotherapy-related toxicity symptoms) and subjective measures (i.e., self-report behavior-related measures). Other than these primary health-related outcomes, secondary outcomes that related to technology use (e.g., technology acceptability, usability, and retention rate) and other aspects (e.g., cost-effectiveness analyses) have been reported less often but could still be found in empirical works and review articles.

Mobile technologies have increasingly become an integral part of people's everyday life, especially in industrialized countries and with younger generations. Addressing mHealth from an everyday use perspective will inform researchers of the best practice to implement mHealth interventions and provide knowledge on what strategies should be used in combination of what functions of the technology to generate optimal results. Moreover, most choices about health are made during

everyday activities. Approaching mHealth interventions from an everyday use perspective may also provide researchers great opportunity to improve the efficacy of health interventions as "influencing these choices constitutes the single greatest opportunity to improve health and reduce premature deaths in the USA" (Schroeder 2007, p. 1222). For example, in a smoking cessation intervention, researchers utilized mobile phone and EMA to examine the moment-to-moment changes that may influence a smoker's likelihood of smoking lapse. With such tools, researchers were thus able to identify factors associated with smoking lapses (Hébert et al., 2018). In short, taking advantage of the role mobile phones play in people's daily life, mHealth intervention could better assist people in their moment-of-decision concerning health. *2.4 Theory Use in mHealth Interventions* 

The prevalence of newer communication technologies suggests that most people are already connected to a potential intervention device throughout most of the day. The ubiquity of mobile phones, however, is just one part of the equation to promote health behavior change. The second part is the knowledge on behavior change and on how people use communication technology in their daily life. These issues have been examined less often in previous studies but have received increasing attention these days. The following sections address the issue with theory use in mHealth interventions.

2.4.1 Use of Behavior Change Theories in mHealth Interventions

There are three aspects to theory use in mHealth interventions: (1) adopting theory-based research design, (2) adopting theories that are suitable for the

technologies used in the intervention, (3) adopting theories that have dynamic, regulatory system components.

The issue of theory use in intervention design has been a key word since the early days of mHealth studies. Earlier reviews found that there was a lack of behavioral theories in the design of mHealth interventions (e.g., Buhi et al., 2013; Kaplan & Stone, 2013), and it was often those unsuccessful interventions that lacked an empirical or theoretical framework grounded in behavior science. Some of these earlier reviews also showed that fields such as health education, communication, and behavior science were underrepresented in mHealth literature (Buhi et al., 2013; Fiordelli et al., 2013). This may explain the lack of use of behavior change theories in early development of mHealth interventions. Theory guides what researchers need to know before they develop mHealth interventions and could inform researchers the reasons why people do or do not engage in certain health behaviors (Rimer & Glanz, 2005). Thus, it is important that the design of mHealth interventions is theory-based.

According to more recent reviews targeting at specific health areas, there has been an increase in the use of behavioral change theories or techniques (BCTs) in mHealth interventions (Conroy et al., 2014; Direito et al., 2014; Lyons, et al., 2014). However, even if a theoretical framework is in place, researchers need to devise the program strategies so that the theories used are suitable for the technologies. Stephenson et al. (2017) conducted a literature review comparing interventions delivered through computer, mobile phone and wearable device. They found that people preferred different behavioral change techniques (BCTs) depending on different platforms of intervention delivery. They argued that these different choices

suggested that some BCTs might lend themselves well to certain modes of deliver and technology components. This argument is consistent with affordance theory. Affordance theory argues that a single technology affords multiple action capabilities (possibilities) which constraint what people could do with them; what capability a technology will achieve, however, depends on how individuals use it (Schrock, 2015). In other words, what technology could do to people depends on its own functions as well as how people use it.

Adapting theories to suit technologies also indicates that researchers should take more advantage of technology advances. The advancement of mobile technologies makes it possible to capture rich data on time-varying factors, such as mood, attitudes, urge to smoke, fatigue levels, etc., which can change hour-by-hour or even moment-to-moment. The availability of time-intensive information (e.g., longitudinal data on mood obtained at intensive frequency) increases our ability to provide intra-individual tailoring of health interventions (Riley et al., 2011).

However, current behavior change models are predominately static and linear in nature, which are limited at informing just-in-time intervention adaptations and intra-individual dynamics of future mobile technology interventions (Dunton et al., 2009; Riley et al., 2011). Riley et al. (2011) found that when a theory was used in mHealth intervention, the theory usually relied on dispositional constructs (e.g., selfefficacy) as the potential sources for behavior change. They argued that mHealth interventions should adopt conceptual frameworks "that have dynamic, regulatory system components to guide rapid intervention adaptation based on the individual's current and past behavior and situational context" (Riley et al., 2011, p. 54). They

suggested that control systems engineering, characterized by dynamical systems and feedback regulatory processes, could help enrich current behavior change theories to better fit the time-intensive, interactive, and adaptive health behavior interventions delivered via mobile technologies (Riley et al., 2011). For example, regulatory feedback for disease management has been applied to diabetes management where frequent adjustments to insulin dose and diet are determined based on blood glucose levels (i.e., the glucose–insulin closed-loop system; Bequette, 2009). This suggestion might not be practical in the past but could be achieved with the advances in technologies.

2.4.2 Identification of Active Ingredients in mHealth Interventions

In addition to theory use for effective intervention design, researchers have also started to pay attention to identifying active ingredients that drive the effectiveness of mHealth interventions. This shift of attention mirrors the trend in health behavior change research in general. Researchers from this field noted that many health interventions tended to adopt multiple behavioral change strategies or techniques, making it difficult to identify which aspects of the intervention were effective in changing behavior and how different components might interact with one another (Hagger et al., 2016). They suggested to isolate specific strategies or techniques.

mHealth interventions using apps are good examples of this issue. As noted in previous sections, researchers have examined the quality of health apps based on behavioral change theories/techniques, but there was a lack of evidence on whether the number or type of behavioral change techniques used in a health app was

associated with larger or smaller effect (Middelweerd et al., 2014). This is because apps were often used as a whole, or as part of a multicomponent strategy in mHealth interventions, which made it difficult to pinpoint the active ingredient(s) for the effectiveness. The same applied to mHealth interventions in general. Empirical studies have demonstrated a small-to-moderate effect of mHealth interventions. However, less is known about what "active ingredients" are driving the successful interventions (Stephenson et al., 2017).

Research on this issue is warranted because it will help produce a refined evidence base upon which mHealth interventions can be developed. As was mentioned before, different behavioral change strategies may lend themselves to different modes of deliver and technology components; different delivery components, in turn, could be more or less suitable for different health domains. Isolating the effects of specific strategies or techniques, thus, could not only produce more refined evidence base for mHealth interventions, but also help refine the design of optimal use of behavioral change techniques.

#### 2.5 Summary

This dissertation addresses or responds to the above issues to varying degrees. First, this dissertation takes the "active ingredient" perspective and proposes a strategy named episodic future thinking. The choice of this strategy is based on considerations of its suitability with the target behaviors under investigation and the mobile technologies employed. In the next chapter, I will introduce this strategy and explain why it could be a good candidate to be integrated into mHealth interventions using mobile phones to promote lifestyle-related behavior change. In addition, this

dissertation adopts longitudinal design, EMI, and EMA to better suit the multivariate, time-varying, and often nonlinear processes of behavior change.

Secondly, this dissertation employs two commercially available smartphone health applications targeting sleep and physical activity. Several reasons underly the choice of these two behaviors. First, both are lifestyle-related behaviors vital to individual health and wellbeing. Insufficient physical activity and sleep have been associated with increased risk for myriad disease states (Glowacki et al., 2018), whereas sleep, physical activity, and fruit and vegetable intake have been associated with increased overall quality of life and subjective health (Tan et al., 2018). Second, these two behaviors relate closely to the targeted population of this dissertation, i.e., college students (Laska et al., 2009). In a survey conducted by Glowacki et al. (2018) for an mHealth intervention using text messaging, sleep and fitness are among the top four topics perceived most relevant to college students' health. Moreover, both behaviors are negatively impacted by technology use (e.g., Owens et al., 2017), which is another important element of this dissertation.

Sleep habits are shown to be closely tied with physical activity (Fanning et al., 2016). While closely related to each other, sleep and physical activity differ in some important ways with which it would be interesting to see whether EFT exerts similar or different effects. For example, in terms of ability, those who have difficulties falling asleep do not have too much to rely on except for resorting to medications. On the other hand, people with different physical conditions could find some sort of exercise that is suitable for them. In addition, the sleep behavior is more susceptible to unexpected situations, such as a break-up with a romantic partner, a party lasting

till late evening; whereas exercise behavior might be less susceptible to unexpected situations – someone who wants to go for a run could still realize the goal of running in an indoor stadium even if it suddenly rains outside. More importantly, sleep among college students has been shown to be influenced by academic and social considerations (Robbins & Niederdeppe, 2015). As such, more self-control effort might be needed for them to put themselves in a position that actually fosters a good night's sleep (Nauts & Kroese, 2017).

Last but not least, sleeping among college students has received less attention from healthcare professionals and researchers compared to other health promoting behaviors and risk-taking behaviors such as alcohol/drug use and sexual activity (Nauts & Kroese, 2017; Owens et al., 2017).

The targeted population of this dissertation is college students. This is first because of the close relationship between college students and mobile phone use. Ninety four percent of young adults (aged 18-29) in the US owned a smartphone (Statista, 2018). Mobile technologies have become an integral part of college students' life. Interventions using mobile phones may fit better with their lifestyles than more traditional treatments (Heron & Smyth, 2010). In addition, technology literacy is high among this population group. College students are thus more familiar with and comfortable using mobile phones and apps.

Moreover, the strategy used in the intervention concern thinking about the future, a concept closely related to an individual's trait time perspective. Based on studies on time perspective and chronological age, these two concepts inherently associated with one another. For example, planning for future is not developed until
8-10 years of age (Nurmi, 2005); as people get older, they perceive their time as more limited (Gellert et al., 2011). Young adults, on the other hand, have their futures ahead of them, but are also faced with developmental transitions and competing goals, making their time perspective more dynamic. Adding one layer to this "dynamism" is the prevalent use of mobile phone among this population and the effect of mobile phone use on time perspective. Wilmer and Chein (2016) conducted a study on mobile technology use, intertemporal preference, and some other selfcontrol variables. They found a significant relationship between technology engagement and intertemporal preference. Specifically, heavier engagement in mobile devices was correlated with a relatively weaker tendency to delay gratification and a greater inclination toward impulsive behavior. The latter two features relate closely to a present-focus time perspective. Given the integral role mobile phones play in the life of college students, it might be important to employ proper intervention strategies to guide the use of such devices toward more rational and pro-health directions.

# Chapter 3: Episodic Future Thinking as A Strategy for Mobile

## Health Intervention

"The future is not a result of choices among alternative paths offered by the present, but a place that is created – created first in the mind and will, created next in activity. The future is not some place we are going to, but one we are creating. The paths to it are not found but made, and the activity of making them changes both the maker and destination."

> John Schaar, American writer, scholar, and Professor Emeritus, University of California

In Chapter 2, I reviewed past mHealth interventions and issues associated with those interventions. Key issues revolve around theory use and the compatibility between target behaviors, behavioral change strategies, and mobile technologies. In this chapter, I will address the theoretical framework used in this dissertation, i.e., thinking about the future, and discuss why and how this framework fit into the intervention developed in this dissertation.

The quote above shows how thinking about the future plays a role in people's life. It also points to the two steps of getting to the (usually desirable) future: through a creation in the mind and through the creation of activity. In the sections that follow, I will show that the combination of episodic future thinking (EFT) with mobile technologies is an instantiation of these two steps. Briefly, episodic future thinking asks people to vividly imagine possible future events, i.e., "*the future is not some place we are going to, but one we are creating*;" whereas mobile technologies provide numerous action possibilities through functions such as apps, reminders etc.,

i.e., "*the paths to it are not found but made*." But before that, I will start with a discussion on lifestyle-related health behaviors.

3.1 Health Behavior as Intertemporal Choice: Why EFT is Suitable for Lifestyle-Related Behaviors

Lifestyle-related behaviors include physical activity (PA), sedentary behavior (SB, with screen time as one important indictor), sleeping time (predicted by total sleep duration, TSD), and fast food (FF) consumption (Qin et al., 2021). Unhealthy lifestyle is among the main reasons for the increasing incidence of non-communicable chronic diseases including heart disease, diabetes, and cancer (WHO, 2021). Many of such illnesses can be prevented or treated by making changes to people's own behaviors. For example, research has suggested that more than half of mortality from the leading causes of death could be reduced if people exercised regularly, maintained a reasonable weight, ate a healthy diet, and refrained from smoking cigarettes and excessive alcohol (e.g., Knoops et al., 2004; van Dam et al., 2008). In addition, many other behaviors would help people achieve or maintain optimal health, such as attending regular health screenings, adhering to medications, getting sufficient sleep, and reducing stress. As such, lifestyle-related behaviors are often called preventive health behaviors.

Promoting preventive health behaviors could not only benefit noncommunicable chronic diseases, but also inform responses to infectious diseases, especially during a pandemic such as the COVID-19 pandemic. During the COVID-19 pandemic, for example, lockdowns have been adopted by governments from many countries and regions to prevent the community transmission of the virus. However,

lockdowns also confined people at home and imposed social restrictions, which have been shown to alter people's daily routine and habits to varying degrees (Aguiar et al., 2021). For example, research has shown that lockdown has led to significant delay in sleep onset-wakeup times and meals' time (Sinha et al., 2020), significant changes in mood, sleep duration, physical activity, and social encounters (Oved et al., 2021), and drastic increases in sedentary activity and the use of digital media (Dutta et al., 2020).

Lifestyle-related behaviors have significant influence on people's health during different times. As such, it is important to gain more knowledge on how to promote lifestyle related, preventive health behaviors, be it in normal times or in this "new normal" brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic (Pietrobelli et al., 2020).

One important characteristic of lifestyle-related behavior is that the desirable outcomes are often temporarily distant, whereas the benefits of not adopting ot maintaining a healthy behavior, or engaging in unhealthy behaviors, are in the here and now (Klasnja et al., 2011). Decisions on lifestyle-related behaviors can be construed in this way - as decisions made between rewards available at different time points, especially between smaller, immediate rewards and larger, later rewards, which is called intertemporal choices (Lempert & Phelps, 2016). It is well documented in intertemporal choice literature that individuals have the tendency to over-value immediate rewards and undervalue larger, later rewards as the later reward becomes farther removed in time – a phenomenon known as "time discounting" or "delay discounting" (Loewenstein & Thaler, 1989).

Because decision-making for many health behaviors is intertemporal in nature (i.e., the benefits and costs carry different weights at the time of decision-making due to their association with either long-term or short-term outcomes), it is important to put time into the consideration of health behavior change. Researchers have proposed that effortful attempts to shift temporal focus toward the future could be a potent way of increasing healthy decision-making, that is, helping people understand how their actions today impact their lives in the future (Hall & Fong, 2007; Rutchick et al., 2018). EFT, the ability to project oneself into the future and pre-experience an event (Atance & O'Neill, 2001) is one such attempt. Research has shown that EFT can help extend an individual's temporal window and reduce impulsive choice by promoting consideration of the future, thereby reducing the valuation of immediately gratifying choices (e.g., Schacter et al., 2017). In the next two sections, I will introduce EFT, its related concepts, and why it works to bridge the present and the future, thus serves to help individuals make better intertemporal choices concerning health.

#### 3.2 EFT and Related Concepts

Episodic future thinking (EFT) was proposed by Atance and O'Neill based on Tulving's *episodic memory*, the latter concept is defined as "the ability to remember one-time events from the personal past" (Szpunar, 2010, p. 143). For example, one could mentally reexperience the events happened during one's college graduation. A common mechanism underlying EFT and episodic memory is *autonoetic consciousness*, "the kind of consciousness that mediates an individual's awareness of his or her existence and identity in subjective time extending from the personal past through the present to the personal future" (Tulving, 1985, p. 1). The combination of

episodic memory and autonoetic consciousness allows an individual to engage in mental time travel. One other type of consciousness, *noetic consciousness*, has been defined as being aware when people "retrieve general information in the absence of a feeling of reexperiencing the past" (Szpunar, 2010, p. 144), and is associated with one other type of memory, semantic memory. *Semantic memory* is thus defined as "a type of memory that is devoid of a feeling of personally experiencing the past" (Szpunar, 2010, p. 143). An example for semantic memory would be that someone knows that he/she attended the college graduation without any specificity of any event happening during the graduation. Thus, one characteristic of EFT is to *vividly* pre-experience future events.

EFT is different from nondirected *imagery* (Szpunar, 2010). First, mental imagery could be general or specific, but EFT is characterized by generating *specific scenarios* in one's future events. Second, mental imagery could be anything from more realistic future scenarios to fantastic events that are highly unlikely to happen in one's future. EFT, on the hand, has to have some *personal relevancy* to the individual who engages in the thinking. In other words, EFT involves thinking about specific events that are relevant to the individual and are possible to happen in one's own future (Szpunar, 2010).

All characteristics mentioned above have been observed in empirical research on EFT. The descriptions produced by participants for future thinking tasks were often coded as personal (personal relevance), contextual (vividness), and emotional (valence). Among these, emotional intensity has been shown to enhance the effect of EFT based on neuroimaging results (Benoit et al., 2011). These characteristics were

thus often used as criteria based on which participants rated their future thinking events.

The ability to think about the future has also been considered as a personal trait and this line of research is usually under the umbrella term *time perspective*. In fact, thinking about the future is a broad concept that has been approached from a variety of traditions and scientific fields. Two research traditions are dominant among those fields (Andre et al., 2018). One tradition originates from social cognition and neuroscience and considers thinking about the future as individuals' *capacity*. Research from this tradition investigates future-oriented cognitions, which could be experimentally manipulated, and their underlying mechanisms. Episodic future thinking research is from this tradition. The other is based on the framework of "time perspective," proposed by Lewin (1942) to refer to the overall importance people attach to the future. This tradition considers time perspective (or "time orientation" in some other conceptualizations) as an *individual difference*. Research from this tradition focuses on the relationship between different time perspectives and people's decision-making and behavior (Andre et al., 2018). Specifically, future time perspective (FTP) has received a lot of research attention because its relationship with motivation and its predictive role to attitudes and behaviors in important life domains, such as education, work, and health.

This dissertation entertains the possibility of treating future thinking as individuals' capacity, or a state that could be temporarily activated by self-generated thoughts, i.e., EFT. Indeed, studies have demonstrated the surprising effects of selfgenerated thoughts and situational cues on activating mental processes associated

with seemingly stable, dispositional characteristics (e.g., Aaker & Lee, 2001; Shevorykin et al., 2019; Zhao & Pechmann, 2007).

In summary, EFT seeks to temporally extend an individual's temporal window by asking them to imagine positive, vivid, and personally relevant future events, thereby reducing the valuation of immediately gratifying choice. The next section discusses the various ways EFT works to extend an individual's temporal window. Specifically, it emphasizes EFT's ability to bridge the present and the future through enhancement in people's sense of temporal continuity and personal identity and through its connection with goals and self-control.

3.3 *EFT* – *Bridging the Present and the Future* 

3.3.1 Thinking about the Future Enhances Our Sense of Temporal Continuity and Personal Identity

An emerging body of research has suggested that individuals vary in how they perceive their future selves – usually as a different person, from one who feels close to their current self to total strangers (Hershfield, 2018). The extent to which one feels emotionally connected to one's future self is called *future-self continuity* (Hershfield, 2011). Here, the continuity refers to continuity in one's identity, whereas many other aspects of our selves can change over time, e.g., people can alter their names, goals, and reputations. It is with this feeling of continuity that the present and future selves are tied together (Hershfield, 2011). Future-self continuity has been shown to influence a range of consequential outcomes, including decision-making, saving behavior, health, and well-being (e.g., Adelman et al., 2017; Blouin-Hudon et al., 2015; Ersner-Hershfield et al., 2009a, 2009b; Hershfield et al., 2012; Sadeh &

Karniol, 2012). For example, Rutchick et al.'s study (2018) showed that people with higher present-future continuity reported having better subjective health or exercised more in the days following a writing task that aimed to enhance future-self continuity. In a word, evidence has suggested that increases in future-self continuity help people make decisions with the future self in mind and has been proposed as one explanation for the success of temporal perspective interventions (Rutchick et al., 2018).

Episodic future thinking (EFT) works to make the future "me" feel close, connected to, and overlapping with the current me, i.e., increasing future-self continuity.

First, imagining future events shared many neural and cognitive similarities with remembering past events, which ground our sense of temporal continuity and personal identity (La Corte & Piolino, 2016; Klein, 2013). Research on *mental time travel (MTT)*, the ability to mentally project oneself backward or forward in time in order to remember an event from one's personal past or to imagine an event from one's potential personal future (Suddendorf & Busby, 2005), has shown that a common *core network* of brain regions underlies both future thinking and memory (Schacter & Addis, 2007). Numerous studies have compared EFT with the ability to remember past personal events and found that re-experiencing past events and pre-experiencing future events shared the same neural mechanism (e.g., Addis et al., 2007; Szpunar & McDermott, 2008; Spreng & Grady, 2010; Szpunar et al., 2007). Experimental studies also demonstrated striking similarities in cognitive structures (for a review see Schacter et al., 2012) and how people respond to a range of behavioral manipulations (e.g., D'Argembeau & Van der Linden, 2004; Schacter et

al., 2013; see Szpunar, 2010 for a review) when they are imaging future experiences and remembering past experiences.

In addition to a shared neural mechanism between future thinking and remembering, the various features of EFT also facilitate future-self continuity by pulling the future-self closer to the current-self. Specifically, EFT tasks usually ask individuals to imagine future events that are positive, vivid, and autobiographical.

First, *autobiographical* means that the content of EFT is about the self. Thinking about the future requires people to draw information from their past, such as episodic memories and personal history, to construct and simulate possible future events (Addis et al., 2007; Schacter et al., 2012). Through this integral process, individuals collect and recombine elements of self-referential information that reflect the most salient issues and goals in their lives (Bang, 2018). As such, future thinking is usually self-referential and personally important. In addition, research has shown that the self is an organizing feature in imagining future events, as in remembering past events (Grysman et al., 2013), and it serves the foundation for the other aspects of EFT to work.

The positive and vivid features of EFT tasks help make the future "me" feel close and connected to the current "me". For *positivity*, Salgado & Berntsen (2019) found that, compared to negative future events, individuals forecasted positive events to occur closer to their present than negative events. This pattern, however, was found only in future events for the self but not for an acquaintance. Waugh and Fredrickson (2006) found that people feel a greater sense of overlap with another person who elicits positive (vs. negative) emotions when forming a new relationship. *Vividness*,

on the other hand, serves as a distance cue in that closer objects can be seen in greater detail and more vividly, which in turn, imply closeness in time (Nurra & Oyserman, 2018). Things that are close in time and space are likely related (e.g., Ebert & Wegner, 2010). As such, vividness implies relevance. Vividness has been shown to make the future-self more salient and future events more emotionally evocative (Hershfield, 2018) and has downstream influence on financial (Ellen et al., 2012; Hershfield et al., 2011), ethical (Van Gelder et al., 2013; Van Gelder et al., 2015), and health (Kaplan et al., 2016; Kuo et al., 2016) behaviors.

3.3.2 Thinking about the Future Relates to Personal Goals and Increases Self-Control

#### Personal Goals

Although past and future thinking share many similarities in neural network and cognitive structures, they also differ in some important respects. Specifically, compared to past thinking, future thinking relates more closely to goal pursuit (Cole & Berntsen, 2016; D'Argembeau & Van, der, 2012) and is more emotionally positive and idyllic (e.g., Berntsen & Bohn, 2010; D'Argembeau & Van der Linden, 2004; Rasmussen & Berntsen, 2013; Salgado & Berntsen, 2019).

First, thinking about the future is essentially goal-directed and important for goal-directed cognition and behavior (Cole & Berntsen, 2016; D'Argembeau et al., 2010). When constructing a potential future event, either voluntary or involuntary, people use their most remarkable memories, driven by their personal goals, meaningful themes, and dominant schemata (D'Argembeau et al., 2010; Demblon & D'Argembeau, 2017). An EFT task usually consists of envisioning future events in relation to personal goals and self-schema, for example, picturing future states of the self that one aspires to attain (which is similar to goal setting), or conceiving ways to achieve those states (which is similar to goal striving). Evidence from fMRI studies shows that the default network in the brain region, which underpins future event simulation, supports cognitive activities that are associated with goal-directed processing (D'Argembeau et al., 2010; Schacter, 2012). In addition, behavioral evidence also links future simulations with planning, problem-solving, and related forms of goal-directed processing (Schacter, 2012).

On the other hand, goal related thoughts also involve and facilitate future thinking. Being one type of future thinking, personal goals offer a means of traveling through time. One conceptualization of goals is "people's desired future state or the outcomes to which they aspire." In a study conducted by D'Argembeau and Mathy (2011), participants who were cued with personal goals generated more episodic details when they were instructed to think about the future. The authors concluded that: "knowledge about personal goals plays an important role in the construction of episodic future thoughts" (p. 258).

Second, thinking about the future is self-referential, positive biased, and serves self-enhancement motivation (Grysman et al., 2013; Rasmussen & Berntsen, 2013; Salgado & Berntsen, 2019). Self-referential processing – imagining oneself versus another person – enhances attention to and memory for information. This, in turn, helps people better able to construct a variety of different versions of themselves that reflect their potentials and personal aspirations and use as incentives (Markus & Nurius, 1986; Markus & Ruvolo, 1989). These possible future selves, as Markus and

Nurius (1986) noted, "are not just any set of imagined roles or states of being. Instead, they represent specific, individually significant hopes, fears, and fantasies" (p.954). This constructive nature of future thinking increases motivation and guides its course toward goal pursuit (Bartels & Rips, 2010; D'Argembeau et al., 2010).

In addition, a positive image of oneself in the future can motivate action by also helping people articulate their goals clearly, organize, and improve the adoption of behaviors over time that allow them to fulfill those goals (Vasquez & Buehler, 2007). In addition to the positive representations of future selves, people's mental simulation of discrete actions and events may also affect motivation by increasing their emotional involvement, prompting concrete plans and problem-solving activities, and increasing people's expectations of success (Taylor et al., 1998). *Self-control* 

Given that future thinking creates desirable images of possible future selves and reflects the potential for growth and change, that is, incentives placed in the future, such mental simulation can be effective especially when people face internal conflicts between instant gratification and future consequences (Bang, 2018). EFT is said to give people the ability to counteract their natural disposition to short-term decision making by directing people's attention to long-term benefits and enables them to make better intertemporal choice.

A standard intertemporal choice task is called delay discounting task. *Delay discounting* (DD) refers to the process of devaluing future outcomes as the time of its actualization goes further from the present time (Frederick et al., 2002). DD relate closely to *self-control*, individual's ability to exert control over the self (Tangney et

al., 2004). Theoretically, self-control is defined as voluntary actions aligned with personally valued longer-term goals in the face of conflicting impulses to seek immediate gratification (Duckworth & Steinberg 2015; Fujita, 2011). This conceptualization of self-control fits well with the concept of DD and serves the basis for research in delay-of-gratification and temporal (and delay) discounting. In fact, DD has often been used as a measure of self-control (e.g., Bickel et al., 2019).

Research on future-self also sheds light on the effect of future thinking on self-control (e.g., Kaplan et al., 201; Kuo et al., 2016; Hershfield et al., 2011; Van Gelder et al., 2013, 2015). Findings from multiple studies showed that exposure to vivid, age-progressed images of participants (so that they were looking at their future self) prompt more patient long-term intentions and behaviors in financial (Hershfield et al., 2011), ethical (Van Gelder et al., 2013; Van Gelder et al., 2015), and health (Kuo et al., 2016) domains.

3.4 Bridging Specific Actions and High-level Goals: Why EFT is Suitable to be Integrated into mHealth Interventions using Mobile Phones

EFT helps bridge the future and the present and highlights future benefits and long-term goals. However, even though the future goal is highlighted and wanted, the process to achieve it is in the present. Failures occur when individuals do not know how best to achieve their future goals (Taylor & Wilson, 2016). In other words, how could a shift in temporal focus influence decision on a given day or at a particular moment?

This dissertation proposes that mobile technologies, specifically, mobile phones, could serve to bridge the gap between high level goals and specific actions.

EFT makes higher level goals (i.e., health-related goals) salient and wanted. Mobile health apps provide action possibilities related to the target health behavior, whereas reminders sent through mobile phones connects higher level goals highlighted by the EFT task with specific actions offered by the health apps.

Action possibilities relate closely to a concept called affordance. The concept of affordance was proposed by Gibson (1977) to describe action possibilities that an environment or artifact offer a living being. Affordances are driven by material design of the artifact but are not fully determined by it. On the one hand, the materiality of the artifact creates possibilities for and constraints on the functionality that the technology offers to its users. On the other hand, technological affordances are not solely determined by the materiality of technology, people's perceptions of a technology are equally important in determining how they are used. As such, this perspective seeks to find a middle ground between technological and social determinism. In other words, it encompasses the relationship between technology with potentialities and actors with motivations and abilities. It is thus a useful way to explain why people interact with (media) technology the way they do.

Specifically, mobile phones provide various action possibilities to its users. For example, the feature of physical activity app on the phone provides action possibilities for doing and recording a variety of workouts, whereas the sleep app feature provides action possibilities for monitoring and recording sleep time and quality, among other action possibilities, like gaming and communicating provided by all sorts of features of the device. Although technologies and their features may be the same across users, affordances are social constructs experienced in unique ways. In

other words, whether a mobile phone is perceived as a physical activity device, a sleep alarm device, or a gaming device depends on a user's situation and context-specific interpretation of that technology (Vaast & Kaganer, 2013).

Our everyday decisions are strongly context dependent (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979; Louie & De Martino, 2014). A choice between two alternatives could be influenced by context effects, such as framing, incidental affective states, prospection, and cues in the media environment (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979; Louie & De Martino, 2014). Research has suggested that interventions targeting behavior change need to compete with many activities in individuals' daily routines that could distract them from their action plans (Schwerdtfeger et al., 2012). Weinstein (1988) once used the term "messy desk" to illustrate the obstacles that may emerge when people aim to transform intentions into action. To counter this, Weinstein suggested using reminders to keep intentions active (e.g., Prestwich et al., 2010), which could be realized through mobile technologies.

Reminders sent through mobile phones bring people's attention to the connection between abstract health-related goals (high construal level) and specific actions (low construal level), a process called cognitive bridging. Cognitive bridging refers to the situation when abstract higher level goals (i.e., be healthy) are mentally connected to the specific means to achieve them (i.e., using a physical activity app). As such, delivering EFT task through mobile phone reminders might enhance its effect by connecting goals and motivations highlighted by EFT with specific actions offered by the health apps.

High vs. low construal levels are concepts from the construal level theory (CLT, Liberman & Trope, 2003). Mental construal refers to how objects, events, and constructs are represented in mind and is often categorized into high-level mental construal (e.g., why one might take a certain action) and low-level mental construal (e.g., how one might do so). Another important concept in the CLT is psychological distance, which refers to "the subjective experience that something is close or far away from self, here and now" (Trope & Liberman, 2010, p. 440). Psychological distance has been established along four dimensions – temporal, spatial, social, and hypotheticality. Mental construal could influence psychological distance, and vice versa. As an example, the CLT would predict that an individual who is asked to describe the attributes of a vacation next year (i.e., temporally distant) would mention abstract qualities of the vacation (i.e., high-level construal), such as relaxing and tropical. However, when asked to describe a vacation tomorrow (i.e., temporally closer than next year), one might mention concrete considerations of the vacation (i.e., low-level construal), such as packing a bathing suit and confirming a flight (Clark & Semin, 2008).

Accordingly, mobile phone could influence people's construal level of an event through perceived psychological distance. Mobile phones are anchored with the self and in the here and now, i.e., they are of proximal psychological distance to the users (Katz & Byrne, 2013). This means that mobile phones could sense the environment from the same perspective as their users. As such, mobile devices serve as low abstraction cues (Katz & Byrne, 2013).

As it was mentioned above, cognitive bridging features two or more logically related abstraction cues. At least one of these cues should be at a high level of abstraction, such as the goal of being healthy, whereas one at a low level of abstraction, such as using mobile phone apps to do workouts (mobile phones serve as low abstraction cues). When these cues are processed, the cognitive bridging is induced in the mind.

### Chapter 4: Research Questions and Hypotheses

In its broadest sense, this dissertation seeks to examine the joint effect of mobile technologies and communication in promoting positive outcomes such as healthy lifestyle. More specific, this dissertation addresses the question: whether and how EFT, a communication intervention, delivered through mobile technology, helps individuals make better health-related choices in their everyday lives?

#### 4.1 EFT, Delay Discounting, and Health Behavior

The strategy examined in this dissertation is called episodic future thinking (EFT). As it was mentioned in Chapter 3, EFT directs people's attention to long-term benefits and enables them to make better intertemporal choice. Intertemporal choice is usually measured through a delay discounting task. Delay discounting (DD) refers to an individual's preference for smaller, sooner over larger, later rewards. In a DD task, participants are usually asked to choose between an immediate, smaller reward and a later, larger one. Numerous studies have shown the effect of EFT on reducing DD compared to various control conditions (e.g., Daniel et al., 2013; O'Neill et al., 2016; Snider et al., 2016). Meta-analysis studies showed that EFT reduced DD with medium effect size (Rösch et al., 2021; Rung & Madden, 2018; Ye et al., unpublished). The most often used control condition in EFT studies is episodic recent thinking (ERT). Participants in the ERT group vividly describe events in their recent past in the same way as those in the EFT group. ERT helps control for episodic thought and the procedures used to construct episodic cues. As such, this comparison highlights the temporal differences between EFT and ERT (Hollis-Hansen et al., 2019).

#### H1: EFT (vs. ERT) will lead to decreased delay discounting.

The effects of EFT in reducing DD have also extended towards improving health behaviors (e.g., Bromberg et al., 2017; Daniel et al., 2013; Dassen et al., 2016; O'Neill et al., 2016; Snider et al., 2016; Stein et al., 2016). For example, Stein et al. (2016) tested the effect of EFT on discounting rates and cigarette self-administration among smokers. Smokers in the EFT group showed significantly reduced DD rates and the number of cigarette puffs earned in a cigarette self-administration task compared to smokers in the ERT group. Stein et al.'s (2018) later study showed that the effects of EFT on DD rates and the intensity of demand for cigarettes in a hypothetical purchase task were significant even when controlling for measures of demand characteristics including participants' perceptions about the experiment.

For alcohol related decision-making and behavior, Snider et al. (2016) demonstrated that participants showed reduced DD rates and reduced number of drinks purchased at various price points in an alcohol purchase task in the presence of future-cues compared to being exposed to the control cues. Bulley and Gullo (2017) showed that EFT reduced DD rates and alcohol demand intensity during hypothetical alcohol purchase tasks among college students.

For eating behavior, Dassen et al. (2016) found that EFT led to reduced DD rates and healthier eating (less caloric intake), whereas Sze et al. (2017) found that EFT reduced DD rates and the demand for fast foods, even when challenged by negative income shock. These latter authors employed online-administered EFT and suggested that this could be a reliable way to conduct EFT related studies. They also noted that "EFT is a scalable intervention that has implications for improving public

health by reducing discounting of the future and demand for high energy dense food" (p. 683).

All these studies offer evidence for the impact of EFT on actual health behavior change. Although previous studies on EFT and health behavior mainly focused on addictive behaviors, e.g., smoking and alcohol use, recent studies have started to explore EFT's utility on other behavior types, such as weight loss maintenance (Leahey et al., 2020), prosocial (Gaesser et al., 2020), and proenvironmental behavior (Lee et al., 2020). Examining behavior types that have not been examined in previous studies could help increase the generalizability of EFT as well as testing the boundary conditions of its applicability.

In this dissertation, I examine two types of behavior that have not been examined in previous EFT studies. The two targeted health behaviors are sleep and physical activity. Given the close relationship between intention and behavior (Ajzen, 1991; Sheeran 2002), this dissertation proposes the following hypotheses:

H2: EFT (vs. ERT) will increase (a) intention to get enough sleep and (b) intention to engage in physical activity.

# H3: EFT (vs. ERT) will increase (a) sleep time and (b) physical activity.H4: Behavioral intentions will be positively related to actual behaviors.

In addition, this dissertation examines the effect of repeatedly engaging in EFT on behavior change. Not many studies have examined the repeated effect of engaging in EFT on DD or health behavior. For those that examined the repeated effect of engaging in EFT, the results are inconsistent. Two recent studies have showed some promises of this approach (Mellis et al., 2019; Sze et al., 2015).

Specifically, Mellis et al.'s (2019) study showed that for current and recent problem drinkers, the presence of future cues decreased their DD rates over six sessions, compared to those with no cue or shown with scarcity cues. Sze et al.'s (2015) study showed that prompting individuals to engage in EFT with personalized future cues over a four-week engendered weight loss among adults. However, another study (Mansouri et al., 2020) examined the effects of repeated engagement of EFT (i.e., one week of time) showed no effect of such repeated engagement of EFT on DD, nor on the ad lib energy intake and the relative reinforcing value of snack food compared to one engagement in EFT.

Based on the above discussion, I propose a research question concerning the effect of engaging in EFT (vs. ERT) repeatedly over a two-week period:

# RQ1: Does increasing the dose of EFT (vs. ERT) lead to more behavior change?

#### 4.2 Psychological Mechanism Underlying the Effect of EFT

As evidence on the role of EFT in reducing DD and improving health behaviors being cumulated, it is important to examine the psychological processes underlying these influences.

However, less is known in terms of the psychological mechanisms underlying the effect of EFT. Being developed from the field of neuroscience, research on EFT has focused more on the neural correlates of this strategy. Specifically, research has explored the role of individual differences such as working memory, inhibitory control, medial rostral prefrontal cortex, prefrontal-mediotemporal interactions, and dopamine genetics on the effect of EFT on DD (e.g., Benoit et al., 2011; Lin &

Epsterin, 2014). Among these constructs, working memory has been found to moderate the effect of EFT on DD (Lin & Epsterin, 2014). Neural correlates and physiological features are important mechanisms to learn about but are less relevant to the current study.

In terms of psychological variables, previous discussion has hinted to two aspects – positive affect and self-control – as potential underlying mechanisms. For example, Lin and Epstein (2014) suggested that "the time perspective and emotional valence of episodic thinking may dynamically shape intertemporal choice" (p. 12). Ye et al. (2020) proposed that anticipated affect and self-control are among the potential mechanisms underlying EFT's effect on delay discounting after systematically reviewing literature on EFT and meta-analyzed thirty-seven studies. These two mechanisms are also hinted in the discussion on the adaptive functions of EFT, which include far-sighted decision-making, emotional regulation, improved prospective memory, and greater spatial navigation (Schacter et al., 2012, 2017).

Accordingly, positive affect and self-control are proposed as two potential psychological mediating variables in the current dissertation. On the one hand, imagining events with positive emotion is one of the characteristics of EFT task, and EFT effect was shown to be more pronounced for episodes that were imagined with a higher emotional intensity (Benoit et al., 2011). Thus, positive affect might be one candidate mediating the effect of EFT on behavioral intentions and subsequent behavior change (Lin & Epsterin, 2014). On the other hand, self-control relates closely to delay discounting and has been an important construct in self-regulation

research (De Ridder et al., 2012). Thus, I propose self-control as the other mediating variable.

#### 4.2.1 EFT, Self-Control, and Health Behavior Change

As it is mentioned above, the relationship between EFT and self-control first comes from study results showing the relationship between EFT and delay discounting (DD). Previous research has generally supported that EFT interventions modify DD such that engaging in EFT helps reduce DD (e.g., Rung & Madden, 2018; Ye et al., 2020), i.e., increase self-control. Based on a meta-analysis (Rung & Madden, 2018), EFT produces sizeable (B = 0.38, SE = .09), significant reductions in DD (z = 4.02, p < .0001) with little study variability ( $I^2 = 3\%$ ) based on the ten studies in this review. Another two unpublished meta-analysis studies also showed similar results.

Low DD (i.e., high self-control), in turn, is associated with a variety of health outcomes and behaviors, including positive drug treatment outcomes (MacKillop & Kahler, 2009; Sheffer et al., 2012), lower rates of smoking initiation (Audrain-McGovern et al., 2009), and alcohol consumption (Moore & Cusens,2010). Whereas an excessively high DD has been hypothesized to be a trans-disease process that behaviorally contributes to the development of countless diseases (Bickel et al., 2012). Direct evidence has also suggested that self-control is beneficial for a large range of behaviors (De Ridder et al., 2012), including health-related behaviors, e.g., dieting, physical activity, and condom use (Kuijer et al., 2008; Wills et al., 2007).

The relationship between EFT and self-control also comes from research on future time perspective (or future time orientation) and self-control. In theory, self-

control requires individuals to act in accordance with long-term, rather than shortterm, outcomes (Trope & Fishbach, 2000), which is one of the characteristics of future time perspective. There is growing evidence that time perspective is linked to self-control (Joireman et al., 2008; Wills et al., 2001). For example, Price et al. (2017) found that higher future time perspective scores were associated with higher selfcontrol, which in turn, related to lower body mass index. In another study, Kim et al. (2017) showed that a future time perspective was associated with greater self-control and Internet use and procrastination indirectly. Self-control also predicted less procrastination and Internet addiction.

EFT works to broaden individuals' temporal window and activate a future (vs. present) time orientation (Rung & Madden, 2018). For example, Cheng et al.'s (2012) study showed that participants engaging in prospective imagery tended to focus on delayed utility over immediate utility when making financial decisions. This relationship was mediated by a future-oriented mindset induced by the prospective imagery. As such, EFT will likely improve individuals' ability to engage in self-control.

Based on the above discussion, one could argue that EFT (vs. ERT) will lead to improved self-control, which is then expected to increase intentions to change health behaviors and actual behavior change. However, evidence is not enough to suggest whether EFT (vs. ERT) would cause a change in self-control overtime. Accordingly, the following hypotheses and research question are proposed:

H5: EFT (vs. ERT) will increase self-control.

H6: Self-control will be positively related to a) behavioral intentions and b) actual behaviors, such that the effects of EFT (vs. ERT) on c) behavioral intentions and d) actual behaviors are mediated by self-control.

#### Q2. Whether EFT (vs. ERT) will increase self-control over time?

4.2.2 EFT, Positive Affect, and Health Behavior Change

The relationship between EFT and positive affect comes from the characteristics of future thinking. First, the majority of imagined future events are emotionally charged (D'Argembeau et al., 2011; Wilson & Gilbert, 2005). This emotion is usually positive biased and serves self-enhancement motivations (Rasmussen & Berntsen, 2013; Salgado & Berntsen, 2019). On the contrary, individuals suffering psychiatric disorders such as major depressive disorder, dysphoria, anxiety, and bipolar disorder usually have pessimism biased future-oriented thinking profiles (Miloyan et al., 2014; Moustafa et al., 2018). Empirical research has shown that future imagination produced strong affective response (e.g., Caruso et al., 2008; D'Argembeau & van der Linden, 2006; Rasmussen & Berntsen, 2013).

The emotional experience embedded in EFT can render decisions more farsighted and maximizes future benefits through making the later, larger reward bring more good feelings to the decision-maker (Benoit et al., 2018). As it was mentioned in Chapter 3, future thinking and remembering share similar neural network, labelled autonoetic consciousness. Autonoetic consciousness is human's capacity to "mentally represent and to become aware of one's protracted existence across a subjective time and to focus directly on one's own subjective experience"

(Wheeler et al., 1997, p. 335). It allows for the experience of "what it felt like" when remembering past events and "what it would feel like" when simulating future events (Tulving, 2002; Klein, 2013). One reason for temporal discounting is that people do not experience the anticipated emotional impact of a future reward when making an intertemporal decision (Benoit et al., 2018). By simulating the future moment of consuming the reward, one can mentally create this experience. This simulated experience, in turn, has been hypothesized to increase the valuation of the delayed reward and, consequently, to attenuate discounting (Benoit et al. 2011; Boyer 2008). Researchers thus argued that autonoetic consciousness conveys prospective emotions that can render decisions more farsighted and maximizes future benefits through making the later, larger reward bring more good feelings to the decision-maker (Benoit et al., 2018). As a result, the following hypothesis is proposed:

#### H7: EFT (vs. ERT) will increase positive affect.

Again, there is not enough evidence to suggest whether EFT (vs. ERT) would cause a change in positive affect overtime. Thus, a research question is proposed:

#### Q3. Whether EFT (vs. ERT) will increase positive affect over time?

The relationships between positive affect and intention and that with subsequent behavior change are less straightforward. Ferrer et al. (2016) reviewed research on various emotions and four categories of judgments and thought processes that relate closely to health decisions: risk perception, valuation and reward-seeking, interpersonal attribution, and depth of information processing. They found that the influence of emotions on health decisions varied depending on a variety of factors. For example, the emotions fear, anger, and happiness can systematically influence risk perceptions, with fear triggering more pessimistic risk judgments and risk-averse choices than happiness and anger. However, when it comes to valuation and rewardseeking, most research focuses on emotions sadness, disgust, and happiness. And happy individuals have been shown to be less willing than individuals in a neutral emotional state to forgo greater future monetary rewards in exchange for receiving smaller, immediate rewards (Ferrer et al., 2016). Peters et al. (2006) suggested that "affect's role in health communication is likely to be nuanced; … Affect sometimes may help and other times hurt decision processes" (p. S156). As such, this dissertation proposes two research questions concerning the relationships between positive affect and intentions and between positive affect and behavior:

RQ4: Is positive affect associated with (a) behavioral intentions and (b) actual behaviors?

RQ5: Does positive affect mediate the effect of EFT (vs. ERT) on (a) behavioral intentions or (b) actual behaviors?

To conclude this chapter, a table summarizing all the research hypotheses and questions and a figure showing the theoretical model are shown below:

Research Hypotheses	Research Questions
H1: EFT (vs. ERT) will lead to decreased delay discounting.	RQ1: Does increasing the dose of EFT (vs. ERT) lead to more behavior change?
H2: EFT (vs. ERT) will increase (a) intention to get enough sleep and (b) intention to engage in physical activity.	RQ2: Whether EFT (vs. ERT) will increase self- control over time?
H3: EFT (vs. ERT) will increase (a) sleep time and (b) physical activity.	RQ3: Whether EFT (vs. ERT) will increase positive affect over time?
H4: Behavioral intentions will be positively related to actual behavior.	RQ4: Is positive affect associated with (a) behavioral intentions and (b) actual behaviors?
H5: EFT (vs. ERT) will increase self-control.	RQ5: Does positive affect mediate the effect of EFT (vs. ERT) on (a) behavioral intentions or (b) actual behaviors?
H6: Self-control will be positively related to a) behavioral intentions and b) actual behaviors, such that the effects of EFT (vs. ERT) on c) behavioral intentions and d) actual behaviors are mediated by self- control.	
H7: EFT (vs. ERT) will increase positive affect.	

Summary of research hypotheses and questions

Table 1



#### Figure 2 Theoretical model

*Note*: H1 is about the effect of EFT (vs. ERT) on delay discounting, which was measured in the baseline session. H6c and H6d are about the mediation relationship from treatment to behavioral intentions through self-control (H6c) and that from treatment to actual behavior through self-control (H6d). RQ3a & RQ3b are also about mediation relationships. RQ3a concerns the effect of EFT (vs. ERT) on behavioral intentions through positive affect and RQ3b concerns the effect of EFT (vs. ERT) on actual behaviors through positive affect.

### Chapter 5: Methods

#### 5.1 Design & Procedures

5.1.1 Recruitment and Baseline Session

The purposes of the baseline session were to 1) randomly assign participants to one of the four experimental groups (EFT \* Sleep, EFT \* PA, ERT \* Sleep, ERT \* PA), 2) gain baseline information of participants, and 3) familiarize participants with the EFT/ERT task that would be used in the intervention session.

Participants were recruited from the UMD SONA communication participation pool. SONA is an online participant pool management system. It allows researchers to manage their research easily and allows participants to sign up and take part in online or offline studies. It could integrate outside online survey systems, such as Qualtrics, and help researchers assign course credit to participants easily. As such, it is well suited for the current dissertation. After signing up for this study on SONA, participants were directed to a Qualtrics survey (baseline session) and were randomly assigned to one of the four groups mentioned above. In this online survey, participants needed to answer questions on basic information such as demographics, baseline sleep time or physical activity time (depending on their group assignment) and provided their contact information. Participants also needed to engage in one of the two thinking tasks (i.e., EFT vs. ERT), again, depending on their group assignment.

For those who had provided their contact information, an invitation email was sent with detailed information on how to participate in the intervention session. Thus, participants were fully informed of the demands of the intervention. They were also

asked to download two apps – *SleepCycle* and *LifeCycle* for the sleep groups and *NikeTrainingClub* and *LifeCycle* for the physical activity groups – and send screenshots of those apps with their reply email.

SleepcCycle and NikeTrainingClub were the two focal apps that were related closely to the targeted behaviors under investigation. Participants needed to actively engage in using these apps to generate data. The *LifeCycle* app, on the other hand, could operate in the background and did not require active input from the participants. The purpose of adding this app was to make sure that the researcher had some behavior data even when participants did not use the two focal apps on certain days. These health apps (*SleepCycle* and *NikeTrainingClub*) are also used to record actual behavior change data (i.e., length of sleep time and physical activity time).

5.1.2 Intervention Session

After receiving reply emails from participants, the researcher first checked their eligibility for participation, which was decided based on participants' responses to self-reported sleep time and physical activity time. Eligibilities are: (1) For physical activity: MVPA (moderate-to-vigorous physical activity) and BRISK walking  $\leq$  300 min/week; (2) For sleep: Sleep time  $\leq$  7.99 h/night.

For those who were eligible, the researcher would set a schedule with them for their participation in the intervention session. This was a two-week intervention in which email prompts were sent to participants everyday/every third day depending on their frequency group assignment.

Specifically, participants were randomly assigned to one of the two frequency groups – high-dose (i.e., everyday) vs. low-dose (i.e., every third day) groups. The

high-dose group received a reminder email everyday (13 times + one last email) throughout the two-week timeframe, whereas the low-dose group received such email every third day (5 times + one last email). In other words, participants in the highdose group needed to engage in EFT (or ERT) everyday whenever they received the reminder email (13 times in total), whereas those in the low-dose group needed to engage in EFT (or ERT) every third day (5 times in total). The purpose of the frequency assignment was to test dose effect, i.e., whether engaging in EFT everyday (vs. every third day) was more effective. In all, there were eight experimental groups in the intervention session.

Researchers have suggested the need to assess the relative effectiveness of specific intervention characteristics, such as frequency of intervention delivery, timing of delivery, and duration of interventions, as it is difficult to draw strong conclusions on what characteristics worked better than others. (Hall et al., 2015). Because there has been a lack of guidelines on best practice and that the intervention characteristics could be quite idiosyncratic, this dissertation refers to previous studies to decide the frequency and timing of intervention delivery.

However, previous studies on EFT usually involved cross-sectional experiment conducted in laboratory settings. Less is known about the effect of repeated engagement of EFT over a period of time on delay discounting or other behavioral variables. As such, there is not enough evidence to help decide the frequency and timing of email reminders from the EFT studies. Mansouri et al.'s (2020) study is among the few EFT studies that examines the repeated engagement of EFT, which lasted for one week. During this one-week period, participants needed to engage in EFT daily prior to three eating occasions and visit the lab 4 times where they needed to engage in EFT and complete a delay discounting task.

Procedures from previous health intervention studies on physical activity and sleep could be informative but, in these studies, the timing of intervention delivery could be rather flexible because it does not necessarily require content to be delivered before a specific decision-making scenario, e.g., like the EFT study mentioned above, participants needed to engage in EFT prior to three eating occasions. For example, for sleep interventions, the majority of the studies employed individual sessions with a face-to-face design (Friedrich & Schlarb, 2018). As such, the timing of sending emails with intervention content was not applicable. For physical activity interventions, the reminders were usually sent multiple times during the day, e.g., morning, mid-day, evening (Martin et al., 2015), during nonschool waking hours (3-9 pm on weekdays and 7 am-9 pm on weekend days) (Dunton et al., 2016).

I also referred to ecological momentary assessment and intervention studies. Similarly, intervention content or EMI/EMA was usually delivered multiple times during the intervention period. In addition, Mead and Irish's (2021) study provided a timeframe from which participants could select a fixed time that worked best for them. Several EMI/EMA studies adopted the duration of one week or two on topics such as alcohol consumption, physical activity, eating behavior and negative affect (Ehlers et al, 2017; Heron et al., 2014; Riordan et al., 2015). As such, two-week was chosen as the study duration.

As for the frequency and timing of intention delivery, it might be better to send intervention content multiple times during the day or provide a timeframe for

participants based on the above discussion. That said, given considerations on intervention implementation by a single researcher and on reducing response burden to facilitate compliance, the current dissertation assigned participants to engage in one EFT every day as high does (13 times in total + one exit survey) and every third day as low dose (5 times in total + one exit survey). Emails were sent at 8 pm for the sleep behavior and 10 am for the physical activity behavior based on the rationale that participants would have engaged in EFT/ERT before their decision-making for implementing the behavior (i.e., go to sleep and participate in physical activity). It will not be perfect timing for every participant because it is not an adaptive intervention wherein messages are sent based on individuals' moment-to-moment responses. Still, the timing was set as such so that the thinking task was implemented before a decision-making point for sleep or physical activity for as many participants as possible.

This study collected data in the fall semester of 2018 and again the spring and fall semesters of 2019. Students could start their participation in the intervention at any time point throughout the semester as long as there was a two-week time window left before the semester ended. As a result, the influence of seasonal trend and fluctuation during a single semester should be minimal.

This dissertation uses emails to deliver intervention content. This is because this dissertation uses Qualtrics to deliver surveys to participants. Within the Qualtrics platform, it is more convenient to manage and deliver surveys through email, whereas delivering surveys through SMS is an add-on feature not included in the standard Qualtrics license. Also, research and market statistics have shown that about 80% of

users use smartphones to access email. Smartphones are the most common device for checking emails especially for younger individuals less than 35 years old (ITU, 2019; van Rijn, 2021). As a result, this dissertation uses email as means of survey delivery for the intervention

A reminder email contained a short message reminding participants to use the focal app and a link to a Qualtrics survey in which participants needed to complete either one EFT or one ERT task (similar to those that they had already done in the baseline session). Participants also needed to take a short survey 5 times throughout the intervention session (specified below, under *Measures*). To keep the measurements equivalent across the two frequency groups, measures were included in the 5 reminder emails for low-dose groups and in reminder emails on the 1<sup>st</sup>, 4<sup>th</sup>, 7<sup>th</sup>, 10<sup>th</sup>, 13<sup>th</sup> days for high-dose groups.

For the sleep groups, the reminder emails were sent at 8pm to participants whereas for physical activity groups, emails were sent at 10am. Participants were given a two-hour time window to complete the thinking task and fill out the survey after the first reminder email was sent. If a participant were unable to respond within this time window, a second email would be sent to remind participants to complete the thinking task and fill out the survey. A nonresponse was recorded if participants did not complete the task by the end of the day (for the sleep groups) or if they did not complete the task 4h later after the first prompt was sent (for the physical activity groups).

By the end of the two-week period, participants would receive another email with instructions on how to share their app use data with the researcher. Participants

were asked to send their sleep and physical activity data to an email account that was created to be used only for this study. Data, together with identification information, were downloaded to the researcher's computer and were deleted from the email account and Qualtrics website to ensure data safety. Figure 3 shows the flow of this study.



#### Figure 3 Flowchart for study design

#### 5.2 Participants

After replying to the researcher, eligible participants were enrolled in the intervention session and a schedule for participation was set with each participant. For the sleep groups, there were 148 participants (41 men, 105 women; mean age= 19, SD= 2.23). Eleven participants dropped out at various points of the intervention session. There were no significant differences between those who dropped out (i.e., dropout) and who completed (i.e., completer) the study in terms of their baseline self-reported sleep time, sex, race, age, health status, CFC, intention to get enough/more sleep, and interest in (downloading) a sleep related health app.
For the physical activity groups, there were 107 participants (18 men, 89 women; mean age= 19, SD= 1.62). Twenty-three participants dropped out at various points of the intervention session. There were no significant differences between dropouts and completers in terms of their baseline self-reported physical activity time, race, age, health status, and interest in (downloading) a physical activity related health app. However, there were statistically significant differences in terms of their sex ( $\chi^2 = 5.925$ , p = .015), with all dropouts being female students; CFC (t = 2.556, p =.012,  $M_{Completer}$  = 4.79,  $M_{Dropout}$  = 4.25), with dropouts having lower CFC; and intention to participate more in physical activity/keep participating in regular physical activity (t=2.541, p=.017,  $M_{Completer}=6.21$ ,  $M_{Dropout}=5.43$ ), again, with dropouts having lower intention scores. The majority of participants in the intervention session were female students, this might in part explain why dropouts in the physical activity groups were all females. On the other hand, the relative low intention for physical activity participation might explain why some participants dropped out, as intention is strongly related to behavior change. This could potentially bias the results of the current study. However, there was no statistically significant difference in treatment assignment between dropouts and completers (11 were in the EFT group, 12 were in the ERT group). In other words, the differential drop-out rate was minimal. As a result, the difference between dropouts and completers should not affect the results associated with the relative effect of EFT. However, those differences indicate that cautions should be taken when interpret the results because the results might only be applied to those who are high in motivation to adopt a healthy lifestyle. Figure 4 shows the flowchart for participants.

Participants received 0.75 SONA credit for completion of the baseline survey. They would receive an additional 2.00 credits after they completed the intervention. Although there were no monetary incentives for participation, the drop-out rate for the main study was 13.33%, which is a reasonable rate for longitudinal study (Cramer et al., 2016; Torous et al., 2020). In order to encourage retention and compliance, participants were told that they needed to complete 70% of the survey to receive the full 2 credits but could still receive partial credits depending on their survey completion rate. Recent meta-analysis study has suggested that strategies to reduce participant burden (e.g., flexibility in data collection methods) might be the most effective in maximizing retention (Teague et al., 2018). In line with this, the current dissertation employed health apps that are easy to export behavior data and kept the survey short and easy to fill out.





## 5.3 Stimulus: Episodic Future Thinking (EFT)

In the baseline session, EFT groups were asked to generate six positive, autobiographical events that could realistically occur following some delays of time (i.e., 1w, 2w, 1m, 2m, 4m and 6m). The events could be related or not related to sleep/physical activity. The instructions are as follows and are also shown in Appendix A (alternative statements for ERT control participants are shown in the second paragraph):

"In the following task, we want to invite you to imagine *positive* events that realistically could happen or that you have already planned *in the future* (e.g., in a week, a month, six months). This could be anything that comes to your mind (e.g., a getaway or something study-related). Think of something that applies to you. Experience this event in mind. Consider as many details of this event as possible (what do you do, where are you, who are with you, accompanying feelings, etc.). These images will be used in the next exercise. Please describe these events according to the time frames provided." "In the following task, we want to ask you to *recall positive* events that have taken place recently (e.g., 1 hour ago, 4 h ago, 1 day ago, and 3 days ago). This may for example be a getaway or something study related. Think of something that applies to you. Re-experience this event in mind. Consider as many details of this event as possible (what did you do, where were you, who were with you, accompanying feelings). These images will be used in the next exercise. Please describe these events according to the time frames provided."

In the intervention session, participants needed to generate only one event on a given day after they received the reminder email, but this event should be somewhat related to sleep/physical activity (e.g., "I will go to bed and have a nice sleep," "I will go jogging in a sunny spring Saturday with me friends."). The instructions are as follows and are also shown in Appendix B (statements for ERT control participants are shown in the second paragraph):

"Please describe a future event that realistically could happen and *relates, even remotely, to your physical activity participation* (e.g., something good resulted from your exercising behavior, something fun happens during your workout). Think of something that applies to you. Experience this event in mind. Consider as many details of this event as possible. If you cannot think of anything new, please write down a future event that you've imagined before. (There is a minimum 20-character requirement for this task)" "Please describe a positive recent event that happened in the past week. Think of something that applies to you. Re-experience this event in mind. Consider as many details of this event as possible. (There is a minimum 20-character requirement for this task)"

There was a textbox below this instruction in which participants would write down the content of their future or recent thinking. After documenting the events, participants in the EFT groups rated each event on a 7-point Likert scale (1= not at all; 7= very much) on vividness, positive valence, and how future-oriented the event was. Whereas participants in the ERT groups rated each event on vividness, positive valence, and difficulty to recall. These measures were used as manipulation checks.

These measures were used as manipulation checks as per the norm in studies of EFT. These measures assess participants' experience of thinking about the future, which are called phenomenological measures (Miloyan & McFarlane, 2019). They are recommended as manipulation checks because it is believed that participants may have better access to their own mental processes than observers (Bø & Wolff, 2019). Specifically, ERT was employed to ensure that episodic content in both groups engages memory and is matched for vividness and positive valence, and only time perspective is shifted during EFT (Hollis-Hansen et al., 2019).

5.4 Measures

(All measures were answered on a 1-7 Likert scale unless specified otherwise) *Key Measures in the Intervention Session:* 

*Behavior*. Sleep and physical activity were measured mainly through records in the two focal apps i.e., *SleepCycle* and *NikeTrainingClub*, both of which use time as metric. For those who did not interact with the two focal apps and thus did not have data points on certain days, data from the *LifeCycle* app were used. If there was no data on neither *SleepCycle/NikeTrainingClub* nor *LifeCycle* for a given day, it would be treated as a missing data point.

*Affect* was measured 5 times through the following question and items on a scale ranging from 0-100 with 5 Likert-scale style indicators to aid response (e.g., 0=None at all and 100=A great deal). Q: How do you feel right now? (Renner & Schwarzer, 2005, p. 28). Scores of the three negative emotions were recoded as negative numbers. A composite score summing across all the emotions was used for further analyses with higher score indicating higher positive affect.

- Furious
- Stressed out
- Good
- Happy
- Elated
- Depressed
- Other

For the *Other* category, participants needed to fill out the specific emotion they were feeling, and the researcher decided whether it was a positive or negative emotion.

*Self-control* was assessed 3 times with the 13-item brief self-control scale (Tangney et al., 2004) with answers from 1 (not at all like me) to 5 (just like me). For sleep data, Cronbach's Alpha was 0.842 for the first measurement wave (M=3.24, SD=0.36), 0.858 for the second measurement wave (M=3.29, SD=0.33), and 0.848 for the last measurement wave (M=3.30, SD=0.34). For physical activity data, Cronbach's Alpha was 0.821 for the first measurement wave (M=3.32, SD=0.35), 0.861 for the second measurement wave (M=3.37, SD=0.35), and 0.867 for the last measurement wave (M=3.31, SD=0.33).

- 1. I am good at resisting temptation.
- 2. I have a hard time breaking bad habits. (R)
- 3. I am lazy. (R)
- 4. I say inappropriate things. (R)
- 5. I do certain things that are bad for me, if they are fun. (R)

- 6. I refuse things that are bad for me.
- 7. I wish I had more self-discipline. (R)
- 8. People would say that I have iron self-discipline.
- 9. Pleasure and fun sometimes keep me from getting work done. (R)
- 10. I have trouble concentrating. (R)
- 11. I am able to work effectively toward long-term goals.
- 12. Sometimes I can't stop myself from doing something, even if I know it is wrong. (R)
- 13. I often act without thinking through all the alternatives. (R)

*Intention to get enough sleep* was measured 5 times through the following two items: 1) I intend to go to bed early and get enough sleep today, 2) I intend to use the sleep app to help me get more sleep today. *Intention to do more physical activity* was measured 5 times through the following two items: 1) I intend to do some physical activity today, and 2) I intend to use the physical activity app when I'm exercising today.

## Other Measures Used in the Study:

*Sleep time (self-reported)*: On average, how many hours a night do you sleep during weekdays," which was answered on a 7-point scale ranging from "less than 5h" with increments of 1h (5–5.99h, 6–6.99h, ...) to "more than10h" (Kroese et al., 2014).

*Physical activity (self-reported)*: Self-report physical activity were measured using a 7-day recall measure, derived from the Stanford 7-Day Recall (Blair et al., 1995) measure. Participants were asked to estimate the number of hours they engaged in vigorous and moderate intensity physical activity and brisk walking over the course of the past 7 days, to the nearest half hour by responding to the following question: "During the last 7 days, how much total time did you spend doing VIGOROUS physical activity, MODERATE physical activity, and/or BRISK WALKING? Record only time that you actually engaged in the activity (ignore breaks, rest periods, etc.)."

*Delay discounting (DD)*. DD was measured in the baseline session after the stimuli through a computerized version of the Monetary Choice Questionnaire (MCQ, Kirby et al., 1999). The measure consisted 21 out of the 27 original questions, asking participants to choose either a smaller, immediate monetary reward or a larger, delayed monetary reward. An example of a question is "Would you prefer \$14 today, or \$25 in 19 days?" The timeframes of the future events participants had imaged in previous task approximated the time delays specified on the MCQ.

*Trait time perspective* in terms of health behavior: This was a domainspecific, shorter version adapted from the Consideration of Future Consequences scale (CFC, Strathman et al., 1994). Cronbach's Alpha was .703 for the sleep data and .694 for the physical activity data ( $M_{Sleep}$ = 4.02,  $SD_{Sleep}$ = 1.44;  $M_{PA}$  = 4.45,  $SD_{PA}$ = 1.49). Both results showed that items 5 and 6 were problematic. Cronbach's Alpha increased to 0.745 for the sleep data and .737 for the PA data after these two items were deleted ( $M_{Sleep}$ = 4.13,  $SD_{Sleep}$ =1.46;  $M_{PA}$ = 4.77,  $SD_{PA}$ =1.48). These two items seemed to focus less on the behaviors themselves but more on feelings such as feelings of convenience and happiness. As a result, these two items were deleted and composite scores of CFC<sub>Sleep</sub> and CFC<sub>PA</sub> were calculated for further analyses.

- 1. I consider how my health might be in the future and try to influence my health with my day to day sleep behavior (physical activity).
- Often I engaging in health behaviors such as getting sufficient sleep (participating in physical activity) in order to achieve outcomes that may not result for many years.
- 3. I get to bed at night (participate in physical activity) whenever I feel like to in order to satisfy immediate needs, figuring the future will take care of itself.
- 4. My sleeping behavior (exercise behavior) is only influenced by the immediate (i.e., a matter of days or weeks) consequences of my actions.
- 5. My convenience is a big factor in the sleep time I choose or my sleeping behavior (the physical activity I choose or my exercise behavior) in general. (deleted in final analysis)
- 6. I am willing to sacrifice the immediate happiness or gain I derive from going to bed late at night (not doing physical activity) in order to achieve future health outcomes. (deleted in final analysis)
- I think it is important to take warnings about negative consequences of not getting enough sleep (physical activity) seriously even if the negative consequence will not occur for many years.
- I generally ignore warnings about possible future consequences of my sleeping behavior (exercise behavior) because I think they will be resolved before they reach crisis level.

9. I choose when to sleep at night (participate in physical activity) to satisfy immediate needs, figuring that I will take care of future health problems that may occur at a later date.

*Socio-demographics*: Age, sex, race/ethnicity, education level, and health status.

# Chapter 6: Results

## 6.1 Randomization Check

For randomization of the four experimental groups, a series of independent *t* tests and chi square tests were conducted to examine whether random assignment was achieved. For both the physical activity and sleep data, there were no statistically significant differences between the two groups (i.e., EFT vs. ERT) in terms of baseline self-reported physical activity/sleep time, sex, race, age, health status, and CFC (Table 2). It is thus concluded that randomization for group assignment was realized.

In addition, during the intervention session, survey completion rate ranged from 14.3% to 100% with a mean of 85.7% (*N*=211). There was no statistically significant difference among the four experimental groups on completion rate (i.e., EFT\_S, EFT\_PA, ERT\_S, ERT\_PA), *F* (3, 207)= 0.751, *p*= .523;  $\hat{M}_{EFT_S}$ = 84.71%, *SD*= .228;  $\hat{M}_{EFT_PA}$ = 89.34%, *SD*= .166;  $\hat{M}_{ERT_S}$ = 88.99%, *SD*= 0.176;  $\hat{M}_{ERT_PA}$ = 86.52%, *SD*= .162.

Key statistics for randomization check (experimental group assignment)									
		N	Mean	SD	t	р	95% CI		
Baseline	ERT_PA	175	4.05	2.91					
self- reported PA	EFT_PA	171	3.98	2.64	0.239	0.811	-0.51715, 0.66024		
Але	ERT_PA	175	19.27	1.76	-0.897	0 370	-0 599 0 224		
Agu	EFT_PA	171	19.46	2.11	-0.077	0.370	-0.377, 0.224		
Health	ERT_PA	175	5.97	0.67	0.515	0.607	0 117 0 200		
status	EFT_PA	171 5.93 0.82 0.515	0.313	0.007	-0.117, 0.200				
CEC	ERT_PA	175	4.67	0.92	0.514	0.607	-0.14192, 0.24237		
CFC –	EFT_PA	171	4.62	0.89	0.314	0.007			

Table 2Key statistics for randomization check (experimental group assignment)

<b>D I</b>		100					
Baseline	ERT_S	180	3.37	1.12			
self-					1 4 4 1	0.150	0.000.0.200
reported	EFT S	178	3.20	1.03	1.441	0.150	-0.060, 0.389
sleep	_						
A go	ERT_S	180	19.64	2.44	0.648	0.517	0 251 0 606
Age	EFT_S	178	19.47	2.59	0.048	0.317	-0.331, 0.090
Health	ERT_S	180	3.94	0.79	1 774	0.077	0.017 0.321
status	EFT_S	178	3.79	0.84	1.//4	0.077	-0.017, 0.321
CEC	ERT_S	180	4.0516	0.85	0.642	0.522	0 11092 0 22594
CFC	EFT_S	178	3.99	0.86	0.042	0.322	-0.11985, 0.25584
Chi	PA-Sex	2.071	<i>p</i> =.3	55 PA	A-Race	11.406	<i>p</i> =.494
Square	Sleep-Sex	2.039	) <i>p</i> =.3	61 SI	eep-Race	14.196	<i>p</i> =.584
Г	1	C .1			(*	1 . 1	1 1

For randomization of the two frequency groups (i.e., high-vs. low-dose

groups), similar analyses were run with frequency as the between-group variable. For both physical activity and sleep data, there were no statistically significant differences between the two groups (i.e., high- vs. low-dose) in terms of baseline self-reported physical activity/sleep time, sex, race, age, health status, and CFC (Table 3).

Mean SD 95% CI N t р Baseline High 38 2.95 1.71 -1.010 0.316 [-1.122, 0.366]self-Low 43 2.57 1.64 reported PA Baseline High 68 3.29 0.92 -0.662 0.509 [-0.401, 0.200]self-Low 62 3.19 0.81 reported sleep [-0.234, 0.637]High 106 19.13 1.23 0.911 0.363 Age 105 19.33 1.90 Low Health High 106 4.64 1.33 -0.073 0.942 [-0.365, 0.339]status Low 105 4.63 1.26 [-0.367, 0.160]CFC 106 4.42 0.10 -0.774 0.440 High 4.32 0.94 Low 105 Sex-Chi-square= 5.279 p = .071Frequency Race-Chi-square= 4.930 p = .295Frequency

Key statistics for randomization check (frequency assignment)

Table 3

## 6.2 Manipulation Check

Some of the phenomenological measures for the thinking tasks are used for manipulation check purposes (Miloyan & McFarlane, 2019). As a reminder, the use of ERT controls for episodic thought (i.e., vivid measure) and valence (i.e., positive measure), highlighting the temporal differences between EFT and ERT. As such, scores on vivid and positive measures were compared between EFT and ERT.

For the thinking tasks in the baseline session, each participant engaged in EFT/ERT on a single occasion, i.e., during the online survey. However, during this one time point, they thought about 6 different events for 6 different time points in the future/past. After thinking about each event, they were asked the phenomenological measure questions. As a result, the scores for the phenomenological measures were averaged across the 6 time points for each participant. The phenomenological measures for manipulation check and mean scores of the answers are shown in Table 4. The differences on vividness and positive valence between participants in the EFT and ERT groups were not significant: for physical activity data,  $t_{vivid}$ = 0.316, p= 0.80;  $t_{positive}$ = 0.0004, p= 0.99; for sleep data,  $t_{vivid}$ = 0.076, p= 0.95;  $t_{positive}$ = 0.0003, p= 0.99.

For the thinking tasks in the intervention session, each participant needed to think about only 1 event on one occasion. However, there were multiple occasions on which they needed to engage in EFT/ERT. As a result, the phenomenological scores were averaged across different occasions for a single participant. Answers were combined for physical activity and sleep data. The differences on vividness and positive valence between EFT and ERT groups were not significant,  $t_{vivid}$ = -0.129, p=

 $0.198, M_{EFT} = 5.69, SD = 1.10, M_{ERT} = 5.88, SD = 1.10; t_{positive} = -1.067, p = 0.287,$  $M_{EFT} = 5.83$ , SD = 1.17,  $M_{ERT} = 5.98$ , SD = 0.84.

In addition, for the baseline session, the mean scores for future-oriented and difficulty to recall measures were shown as a function of time (Figure 5), which helped illustrate the time direction – as time in the future increases, the event felt more future oriented (for EFT groups) and as time in the past increases, it is more difficult to recall an event (for ERT groups).

Based on the above information, it is thus concluded that the manipulation of future thinking was successful. The episodic content in both EFT and ERT groups was equivalent in vividness and positive valence and only time perspective was shifted (Hollis-Hansen et al., 2019).

Table 4

	questions in the	ouseline session
Question for EFT	Mean_PA	Mean_S
How vivid is the event?	5.40	5.59
How positive is the event?	6.11	6.17
Questions for ERT	Mean_PA	Mean_S
How vivid was the event?	5.22	5.17
How positive was the event?	5.72	5.67

Mean scores of the answers for manipulation check questions in the baseline session



*Figure 5* Change in mean scores on future-oriented (left) and difficulty to recall (right) measures as a function of time – baseline data

## 6.3 Main Analysis – Baseline Session

First, for the baseline session, the outcome variable was delay discounting (DD), which has been used in many studies on EFT as an important outcome variable (e.g., Bulley & Gullo, 2017; Leahey et al., 2020). Compared to participants in the ERT group, participants engaged in EFT were shown to have lower DD (Rösch et al., 2021; Rung & Madden, 2018; Ye et al., 2020). The results in the current dissertation showed that participants in the EFT group did have lower DD compared to those in the ERT group ( $M_{EFT}$ = 0.017,  $M_{ERT}$ = 0.021). However, this difference was not statistically significant with a one-tail *t* test at 0.05 level (*t*= 1.348, *p*= 0.089). Hypothesis 1 was not supported. This might be because no cues were shown to participants during the DD task, as it was the case in many of the previous EFT studies. Still, the direction is consistent with previous study results.

#### 6.4 Main Analysis - Sleep Data

For the intervention session, for both sleep and physical activity data, three different types of analyses were conducted to test the hypotheses and answer the research questions proposed in Chapter 4. Specifically, one-way MANCOVA and SEM were conducted to examine hypotheses 2-7, research questions 4 and 5, whereas longitudinal analyses were conducted to answer research questions 1-3 but could also aid in examining hypothesis 3. The analyses were done separately for sleep and physical activity data. However, the two frequency groups (high- vs. low- dose) were combined for most analyses except for the analysis on dose effect.

## 6.4.1 One-Way MANCOVA

One-Way MANCOVA was conducted to compare the effect of EFT (vs. ERT) on the combined dependent variables (DV) of affect, self-control, intention, and behavior while controlling for CFC, health status, frequency assignment, survey completion rate, and demographics. The behavior variable was a difference between baseline (self-reported) sleep time and an average sleep time over the 14 waves of the intervention session. For the other outcome variables (i.e., affect, self-control, and intention), average scores across different measurement waves were used. There was a statistically significant difference between EFT and ERT groups on the combined DVs after controlling for the aforementioned covariates, F(4, 115)= 4.352, p=.003, Wilks'  $\Lambda = .869$ , partial  $\eta^2 = .131$ . Univariate analysis showed that the treatment was effective for the outcome variable self-control (F= 2.901, df(1,118), p=.004, partial  $\eta^2 = .068$ ) and behavior (F= 4.628, df(1,118), p=.053, partial  $\eta^2 = .031$ ). Means and standard deviations on the four DVs for EFT and ERT groups are shown in Table 5.

DV	Group	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν
Affect	ERT	10.5987	9.9618	68
	EFT	6.7581	11.0916	62
Self-control	ERT	3.1137	0.6628	68
	EFT	3.3261	0.6031	62
Intention	ERT	4.8565	1.0463	68
	EFT	4.8836	1.0309	62
Sleep time difference	ERT	0.4963	1.1294	68
	EFT	-0.0108	1.0444	62

Table 5Descriptive results for the sleep data

## 6.4.2 Longitudinal Data Analysis on Behavior Variable

## Descriptive Results

The outcome variable for longitudinal analysis was sleep time recorded by *SleepCycle* and *LifeCycle* (when needed). Linear mixed-effects models were used to analyze longitudinal sleep data using the R package lme4 (Bates et al., 2014). There were 62 participants (with 930 observations including the baseline self-reported data) in the EFT group and 68 participants (with 1020 observations including the baseline self-reported data) in the ERT group. There was a total of 14 waves in the intervention session. Descriptive statistics of the sleep data for these 14 waves are shown in Tables 6-8, whereas individual trend lines are shown in Figure 6.



Figure 6 Descriptive individual trend lines for EFT vs. ERT groups

Wave	Mean	Median	Minimum	Maximum	SD	Missing	n
1	7.05	7.2	2.72	10.6	1.41	5	130
2	7.17	7.29	3.12	10.3	1.3	8	130
3	6.97	7.22	3.18	9.65	1.57	10	130
4	7.11	7.4	1.6	11.7	1.82	6	130
5	7.4	7.5	3.22	11.7	1.64	8	130
6	6.97	7.07	2.15	10.3	1.66	3	130
7	7.24	7.31	3.21	11.7	1.71	6	130
8	6.98	7.03	1.23	11.6	1.6	5	130
9	6.82	7.11	2.84	10.1	1.66	12	130
10	6.86	6.92	1.46	11	1.8	12	130
11	7.17	7.16	3.5	10.9	1.64	11	130
12	7.12	7.21	3.65	11.3	1.48	13	130
13	6.75	6.75	1.35	11.3	1.83	12	130
14	7.01	6.93	2.98	11.1	1.53	13	130

Table 6Descriptive statistics by wave for the sleep data

*Note:* These descriptive statistics were for the outcome variable *sleep time* in minutes.

Table 7

Percentages of missing data for each wave for the sleep data

Wave	W_1	Ŵ_2	W_3	W_4	W_5	W_6	W_7	
Missing data	3.85%	6.15%	7.69%	4.62%	6.15%	2.31%	4.62%	
Wave	W_8	W_9	W_10	W_11	W_12	W_13	W_14	
Missing data	3.85%	9.23%	9.23%	8.46%	10.00%	9.23%	10.00%	

## Table 8

Correlation matrix between different waves for the sleep data

					<i>J</i> .	/		5	1					
0.329 $0.348$ $0.274$ $0.247$ $0.292$ $0.379$ $0.431$ $0.128$ $0.33$ $0.356$ $0.255$ $0.211$ $0.286$ $0.238$ $0.499$ $0.155$ $0.328$ $0.126$ $0.244$ $0.252$ $0.301$ $0.287$ $0.314$ $0.25$ $0.174$ $0.281$ $0.384$ $0.268$ $0.408$ $0.317$ $0.285$ $0.238$ $0.182$ $0.267$ $0.416$ $0.239$ $0.333$ $0.201$ $0.343$ $0.461$ $0.289$ $0.176$ $0.194$ $0.255$ $0.404$ $0.399$ $0.376$ $0.194$ $4$ $5$		2	ເມ	4	IJ	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14
0.348 $0.274$ $0.247$ $0.292$ $0.431$ $0.128$ $0.33$ $0.356$ $0.211$ $0.286$ $0.238$ $0.499$ $0.328$ $0.126$ $0.244$ $0.252$ $0.328$ $0.126$ $0.244$ $0.252$ $0.384$ $0.268$ $0.408$ $0.317$ $0.384$ $0.268$ $0.408$ $0.317$ $0.421$ $0.312$ $0.267$ $0.416$ $0.333$ $0.201$ $0.255$ $0.404$ $0.376$ $0.194$ $4$ $5$ $2$ $3$ $4$ $5$	1	0.399	0.289	0.297	0.239	0.381	0.257	0.285	0.281	0.301	0.155	0.255	0.379	0.329
0.2740.2470.2920.1280.330.3560.2860.2380.4990.1260.2440.2520.3140.250.1740.2680.4080.3170.1820.2670.4160.2010.3430.4610.1940.2550.404345	2		0.176	0.376	0.333	0.388	0.421	0.238	0.384	0.287	0.328	0.211	0.431	0.348
0.247 0.292   0.33 0.356   0.238 0.499   0.244 0.252   0.25 0.174   0.267 0.416   0.343 0.461   0.255 0.404   0.405 0.404   4 5	ల			0.194	0.201	0.21	0.31	0.182	0.268	0.314	0.126	0.286	0.128	0.274
0.292 0.356 0.499 0.252 0.499 0.174 0.416 0.416 0.461 0.461 0.461 0.404	4				0.45	0.255	0.343	0.267	0.408	0.25	0.244	0.238	0.33	0.247
	U)					0.404	0.461	0.416	0.317	0.174	0.252	0.499	0.356	0.292

9	0.347	0.256	0.229	0.118	0.413	0.344	0.422	0.245
7		0.236	0.352	0.314	0.479	0.36	0.295	0.439
×			0.348	0.321	0.321	0.283	0.193	0.273
¢				0.331	0.335	0.207	0.355	0.484
10					0.5	0.239	0.311	0.382
=						0.386	0.281	0.377
12							0.423	0.33
13								0.359

## Main Results

Group mean trendline with a linear and a polynomial function are shown in Figure 7. It seemed that both functions could fit the data. As a result, a linear model with random intercept (Model 1), a linear model with random intercept and random slope (Model 2), and a linear model with random intercept and a quadratic term (Model 3) were fitted to data from the 14 waves + baseline self-reported sleep time.



*Figure 7* Descriptive mean trendlines fitted with a linear (left) and a polynomial (right) function for EFT vs. ERT groups

Model 1: Linear model with random intercept:  $y_{ij} = (\beta_0 + b_{i0}) + (\beta_0 + b_{i0})$ 

$$\beta_1 Wave_j + \varepsilon_{ij}$$

Model 2: Linear model with random intercept and slope:  $y_{ij} = (\beta_0 + b_{i0}) + (\beta_1 + b_{i1})Wave_j + \varepsilon_{ij}$ 

Model 3: Linear model with random intercept and a quadratic term:  $y_{ij} =$ 

$$(\beta_0 + b_{i0}) + \beta_1 Wave_j + \beta_2 Wave_j^2 + \varepsilon_{ij}$$

The time trend in Model 3 was not statistically significant. Whereas for both Models 1 and 2, there were statistically significant time effects: (Model 1)  $\hat{\beta}_1 = -0.019$ , p = 0.017; (Model 2)  $\hat{\beta}_1 = -0.021$ , p = 0.021. In general, participants slept an average of 7.14h at the first wave of the intervention session, compared to 6.92h at baseline. Their sleep time then decreased over the course of the intervention. Model comparison using AIC and BIC was conducted on Models 1 and 2. The results are shown in Table 9. Although AIC and significance result showed that Model 2 was slightly better, BIC indicated that Model 1 was better. Model 1 was chosen because it was a simpler model.

Table 9Model comparison results

Model Co										
	Df	AIC	BIC	logLik	deviance	Chisq	Chi	Df	Pr(>Chisq)	
Model 1	4	6077.1	6098.9	-3034.6	6069.1					
Model 2	6	6072.9	6105.5	-3030.4	6060.9	8.2501	2	0.01616	*	

In the next steps, covariates were added to the model to test the effect of treatment (i.e., EFT) and the effect of treatment controlling for demographics and CFC scores. First, a model with treatment as the covariate was examined (Model 4). Then, interaction term between time and treatment was added to the model (Model 5). Lastly, other covariates mentioned above were added to the model (Model 6).

Model 4: Linear mixed-effects model with treatment as covariate:  $y_{ij} =$ 

$$(\beta_0 + b_{i0}) + \beta_1 Wave_i + \beta_2 Group + \varepsilon_{ii}$$

Model 5: Linear mixed-effects model with treatment and interaction between wave and treatment:  $y_{ij} = (\beta_0 + b_{i0}) + \beta_1 Wave_j + \beta_2 Group + \beta_3 Group *$  $Wave + \varepsilon_{ij}$ 

Model 6: Linear mixed-effects model with treatment, interaction, and other covariates:  $y_{ij} = (\beta_0 + b_{i0}) + \beta_1 Wave_j + \beta_2 Group + \beta_3 Group * Wave + \beta_4 CFC + \beta_5 (Age - 18) + \beta_6 Gender + \beta_7 Race + \varepsilon_{ij}$ 

For Model 4, the treatment effect was statistically significant ( $\hat{\beta}_2 = 0.41$ , p = 0.024, with EFT as the reference group), indicating that participants in the ERT group slept about 25mins more on average than those in the EFT group at wave 1, which was contrary to what was hypothesized.

For Model 5, the interaction between time and treatment was statistically significant ( $\hat{\beta}_3 = 0.06$ , p < 0.001). This interaction effect was significant after

controlling for participants' demographics and their CFC (Model 6:  $\hat{\beta}_3 = 0.06$ , p < 0.001). In other words, the time trends were different between the two groups. As time went by, sleep time decrease for participants in the EFT group compared to those in the ERT group.



*Figure 8* Mean trendlines from baseline to the last wave for EFT and ERT groups for the sleep data

6.4.3 Longitudinal Data Analysis on Psychological Variables

Mixed ANOVA was conducted on the three psychological variables (affect, self-control, and intention) for sleep and physical activity datasets separately, with treatment as the fixed (between-subject) factor and different time points of measurements as the random (within-subjects) factor.

For the sleep data, after controlling for demographics, CFC, health status, survey completion rate, intervention frequency, there was a statistically significant within-subjects main effect for time, in other words, the mean affect scores differed statistically significantly between time points ( $F_{time}$  (4,288) = 2.345, p = 0.055;  $M_{T1}$ = 11.61,  $M_{T2}$ = 11.29,  $M_{T3}$ = 11.32,  $M_{T4}$ = 8.41,  $M_{T5}$ =7.37). There was a close to significant within-between subjects interaction effect between time points and treatment ( $F_{interaction}$  (4,288) = 2.214, p = 0.068). The between-subjects main effect for treatment was not significant ( $F_{EFT}(1,72) = 2.385$ , p = 0.127). For self-control and intention, none of the effects (including two main effects and an interaction effect) was significant.

6.4.4 SEM Analysis

SEM was used to fit the proposed model to the sleep data using the R package lavaan (Revelle, 2019). All variables were treated as observed variables. The treatment was used as the exogenous variable. A difference between baseline (self-reported) sleep time and an average sleep time over the 14 waves of the intervention session was used as the behavior variable. Other endogenous variables included: affect, self-control, and intention. Because none of the between-within interactions is statistically significant, average scores across different measurement waves were used. Correlations between key variables are shown in Table 10. Maximum likelihood estimation with robust standard errors and a Satorra-Bentler scaled test statistic (Revelle, 2019) was used to address nonnormality for some variables. Indirect effects were estimated using bootstrapping procedures. Multiple fit indices were employed. The cutoff criteria were based on Hu and Bentler (1999) recommendations: *CFI* close to .95, *SRMR* close to .08; *RMSEA* close to .06.

Correlation m	Correlation matrix of the endogenous variables with means and sd for the sleep data								
	Affect	Self-control	Intention	Sleep (Diff)	Treatment				
Affect	1	0.047	0.143	0.133	-0.181*				
Self-control		1	0.196*	0.181*	0.166				
Intention			1	0.267**	0.013				
Sleep (Diff)				1	-0.228**				
Treatment					1				
Mean (SD)	8.77 (10.65)	3.21 (0.64)	4.87 (1.04)	0.25 (1.11)	NA				
Note: * Corre	lation is signif	icant at the 0.05	Javal (2 taila	d) ** Corrola	tion is				

. . .

Table 10

*Note*: \*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed); \*\*. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

The model fit the data well,  $\gamma^2 = 0.750$  (*df*=1, *p*=0.387), *CFI*= 1.000, *RMSEA*= 0.000 (90% *CI* [0.000, 0.231]), *SRMR*= 0.021. According to the path coefficients (Figure 9), the effect of EFT (vs. ERT) on intention was not significant, hypothesis 2a was not supported); but that of behavior was statistically significant  $(\hat{\beta}_{EFT-S} = -0.252, p < .01)$ . However, the direction was contrary to what was hypothesized, hypothesis 3a was not supported. That is, engaging in EFT (vs. ERT) significantly decreased sleep time. Intention related to behavior in a positive and significant way ( $\hat{\beta}_{INT-S} = 0.229, p < .01$ ), hypothesis 4 was supported. EFT (vs. ERT) significantly predicted increases in self-control ( $\hat{\beta}_{EFT-SC} = 0.176, p = .054$ ), hypothesis 5 was supported. Self-control, in turn, related significantly to intention ( $\hat{\beta}_{SC-INT}$ = 0.189, p=.028) and behavior ( $\hat{\beta}_{SC-SLEEP}=0.176$ , p=.023) in a positive way, hypotheses 6a and 6b were supported. Lastly, EFT (vs. ERT) had a statistically significant negative effect on affect ( $\hat{\beta}_{EFT-A}$  = -0.181, p= .037), hypothesis 7 was not supported. In other words, participants in the EFT (vs. ERT) group had lower positive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The significance score for correlation between treatment and self-control is 0.059 and that between treatment and affect is 0.04. The MANOVA results with no covariates produced similar results as shown in the correlation matrix table. However, the MANCOVA results with covariates are as a bit different, as shown in the text on page 74. Results from all three types of analyses were used to help make decision on whether a hypothesis was supported or not. This applies to the physical activity data as well.

affect (or higher negative affect). The effects of affect on intention and behavior were not significant ( $\hat{\beta}_{A-INT} = 0.135$ , p = .176;  $\hat{\beta}_{A-S} = 0.047$ , p = .589).



*Figure 9* Path model with standardized path coefficients for sleep data *Note*: \*. Coefficient is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed); \*\*. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Mediation analyses were performed to examine whether affect and selfcontrol mediated the effect of EFT on intention and actual behavior change. The indirect effects showed that none of the mediation was significant ( $\hat{\gamma}_{EFT-A-INT}$ = -0.05, p = .224, 95% *CI* [-0.132, 0.031];  $\hat{\gamma}_{EFT-SC-INT}$ = 0.064, p = .145, 95% *CI* [-0.022, 0.151];  $\hat{\gamma}_{EFT-A-S}$ = -0.031, p = .463, 95% *CI* [-0.115, 0.052];  $\hat{\gamma}_{EFT-SC-S}$ = 0.081, p = .143, 95% *CI* [-0.027, 0.189]), hypotheses 6c and 6d were not supported. 6.5 Main Analysis - Physical Activity Data

## 6.5.1 One-Way MANCOVA

One-Way MANCOVA was conducted to compare the effect of EFT (vs. ERT) on the combined dependent variables (DV) of affect, self-control, intention, and behavior while controlling for baseline (self-reported) exercise time, CFC, health status, frequency assignment, survey completion rate, and demographics. Data for physical activity behavior was drawn from *NikeTrainingClub* measured as time in minutes. A log transformation was applied to the data to correct its skewness. For the other outcome variables (i.e., affect, self-control, and intention), average scores across different measurement waves were used. There was a statistically significant difference between EFT and ERT groups on the combined DVs (i.e., affect, selfcontrol, intention, and behavior) after controlling for the aforementioned covariates, F(4, 66)=3.039, p=.023, Wilks'  $\Lambda = .844$ , partial  $\eta^2 = .156$ . Univariate analysis showed that the treatment was effective for the outcome variable intention  $(F=9.426, df(1,69), p=.003, partial \eta^2 = .120)$ . Means and standard deviations on the four DVs for EFT and ERT groups are shown in Table 11, participants in the EFT group had higher scores on all four DVs.

Table 11					
Descriptive	results for	the nh	vsical a	ctivity o	lata

DV	Group	Mean	Std. Deviation	Ν
Affect	ERT	7.9053	11.64524	41
	EFT	12.6617	10.82561	40
Self-control	ERT	3.1667	0.62502	41
	EFT	3.4260	0.60154	40
Intention	ERT	4.6848	0.93246	41
	EFT	5.3298	0.92306	40
PA (log)	ERT	2.4990	0.48504	41
	EFT	2.7380	0.56100	40

## 6.5.2 Longitudinal Analysis on Behavior Variable

## **Descriptive Results**

For the physical activity data, there were 40 participants (with 574

observations) in the EFT group and 41 participants (with 560 observations) in the

ERT group. The observations were computed as composite scores based on intensity

and time in minutes from records in both NikeTrainingClub and LifeCycle.

Specifically, the observations were mostly from the LifeCycle app where participants'

daily walk time was recorded and multiplied by 3 (i.e., the intensity index) to form a composite score. Most participants in the physical activity groups did not use *NikeTrainingClub* every day, so there were a lot of "missing" data points. This missingness is understandable because 1) even the recommendation of physical activity is an average time per week (i.e., 150 minutes MVPA per week, American Heart Association, 2018). It is highly likely that people exercise on some days of a week but take a break on other days. 2) Participants might not record every type of physical activity they did with *NikeTrainingClub*, or the exercise in which they participated could not be recorded by this app. Descriptive statistics of the physical activity data for these 14 waves are shown in Tables 12-14, whereas individual trend lines are shown in Figure 10.

Wave	Mean	Median	Minimum	Maximum	SD	Missing	n
1	148	103	6.05	888	158	15	81
2	145	131	7.65	540	113	21	81
3	170	83.8	6.95	1390	222	17	81
4	154	108	7	743	149	21	81
5	157	106	12.6	929	175	19	81
6	153	107	10.1	776	153	17	81
7	138	93	6	540	120	18	81
8	153	79	6.1	1324	204	20	81
9	146	98.8	10	900	155	20	81
10	123	82.5	10.8	917	147	27	81
11	132	67.8	6.65	1239	205	20	81
12	137	74	7.2	835	179	27	81
13	152	89.2	9	625	151	22	81
14	174	120	14.2	938	184	17	81

Table 12

Descriptive statistics by wave for physical activity data

*Note:* These descriptive statistics were for the outcome variable *physical activity* in composite scores computed based on intensity and time in minutes.

Table 13							
Percentages of	missing da	ta for ea	ch wave fo	or physical	l activity d	ata	
Wave	W_1	W_2	W_3	W_4	W_5	W_6	W_7
Missing data	19%	26%	21%	26%	23%	21%	22%
Wave	W_8	W_9	W_10	W_11	W_12	W_13	W_14
Missing data	25%	25%	33%	25%	33%	27%	21%

## Table 14

\_Correlation matrix between different waves for physical activity data

	2	J	4	UI	6	7	<b>x</b>	ڡ	10	1	12	13	14
1	0.206	0.241	0.263	0.193	0.51	0.45	0.272	0.435	0.273	0.019	0.662	0.203	0.385
2		0.112	0.171	0.152	0.223	0.235	0.257	0.632	0.594	0.399	0.231	0.108	0.463
ω			0.314	0.472	0.182	-0.024	0.204	-0.022	0.136	0.038	0.589	0.065	0.083
4				0.44	0.107	0.187	0.405	0.261	0.257	0.168	-0.021	0.082	0.434
וט					0.112	0.069	0.424	-0.014	0.127	-0.114	0.401	0.144	0.156
6						0.628	0.282	0.48	0.388	0.105	0.58	0.389	0.356
7							0.157	0.509	0.308	0.348	0.394	0.435	0.431
œ								0.252	0.008	-0.108	0.165	0.502	0.271
9									0.686	0.424	0.388	0.071	0.381
10										0.483	0.262	0.04	0.631
11											0.016	-0.035	0.328
12												0.252	0.243
13													0.394



*Figure 10* Descriptive individual trend lines for EFT vs. ERT groups with (left) and without (right) problematic data points.

Main Results

Exploratory results indicated that there were two cases, one in each group, that were problematic (Figure 10). These two cases were excluded for following analyses. Because the sample size was small, only a linear model with random intercept was fitted.

Model 1: Linear model with a random intercept:  $y_{ij} = (\beta_0 + b_{i0}) + (\beta_0 + b_{i0}) +$ 

 $\beta_1 Wave_j + \varepsilon_{ij}$ 

Model 1 showed that the time trend was not significant. Explorative analysis showed that there might be some treatment effect. As a result, group was added to Model 1 and was examined (see Model 2).

Model 2: Linear mixed-effects model with treatment as covariate:  $y_{ij} =$ 

 $(\beta_0 + b_{i0}) + \beta_1 Wave_j + \beta_2 Group + \varepsilon_{ij}$ 

The results showed that there was a statistically significant effect of treatment  $(\hat{\beta}_2 = -59.45, p = 0.002)$ , with EFT as the reference group). The effect of the treatment

was statistically significant after controlling for baseline self-reported exercise time, CFC, and demographics (Model 3,  $\hat{\beta}_2 = -55.16$ , p = 0.008). This result indicated that the treatment (i.e., EFT) might be effective in promoting physical activity behavior change in terms of a variety of workouts recorded by *NikeTrainingClub* and walking recorded by *LifeCycle*, which indicated that *hypothesis 3b* could be supported.

Model 3: Linear mixed-effects model with treatment and other covariates:  $y_{ij} = (\beta_0 + b_{i0}) + \beta_1 Wave_j + \beta_2 Group + \beta_3 * Base + \beta_4 CFC + \beta_5 (Age - 18) + \beta_6 Gender + \beta_7 Race + \varepsilon_{ij}$ 

6.5.3 Longitudinal Analysis on Psychological Variables

For the physical activity data, after controlling for demographics, CFC, health status, survey completion rate, intervention frequency, and baseline self-reported physical activity time, for affect, the between-subjects main effect for treatment was significant ( $F_{EFT}(1,42) = 4.773$ , p = 0.035;  $M_{EFT} = 14.303 M_{ERT} = 7.524$ ), participants in the EFT (vs. ERT) group had higher positive affect. The within-subjects time effect was not significant ( $F_{time}(4, 168) = .797, p = 0.529$ ). The within-between subjects interaction effect between time points and treatment was not significant ( $F_{interaction}$ (4,168) = 0.619, p = 0.649). For intention, the between-subjects main effect for treatment was significant (F<sub>EFT</sub> (1,42) = 5.648, p = 0.022;  $M_{EFT} = 5.377 M_{ERT} = 4.687$ ), participants in the EFT (vs. ERT) group had higher intention to do more physical activity. The within-subjects time effect was not significant  $(F_{time}(4, 168) = 1.628, p = 1.628)$ (0.170). The within-between subjects interaction effect between time points and treatment was not significant ( $F_{interaction}(4,168) = 0.619, p = 0.649$ ). For self-control, none of the effects (including two main effects and an interaction effect) was significant.

6.5.4 SEM Analysis

Again, all variables were treated as observed variables. The treatment was used as the exogenous variable. Total time of workouts (in minutes) recorded in the *NikeTrainingClub* app was used as the behavior variable with a log transformation to correct for skewness. Other endogenous variables included: affect, self-control, and intention. Again, because none of the between-within subjects interactions is statistically significant, average scores across different measurement waves were used. Correlation matrix of the five variables with their means and standard deviations are shown in Table 15.

Because the sample size was small, SEM results were presented but not interpreted. The model fit indices were as follows:  $\chi^2 = 6.649$  (*df*=1, *p*= 0.01), *CFI*= 0.828, *RMSEA*= 0.321 (90% *CI* [0.126, 0.570]), *SRMR*= 0.089. Path coefficients are showed in Figure 11.

Tał	ole	15
Iuu		15

Correlation matrix of variables with means and standard deviations for physical activity data

	Affect	SC	Intention	PA (Log)	Treatment
Affect	1	0.367**	0.266*	0.332**	0.209
SC		1	0.097	0.254*	0.209
Intention			1	0.482**	0.332**
PA (Log)				1	0.225*
Treatment					1
Mean (SD)	10.25 (11.43)	3.29 (0.62)	5.00 (0.98)	2.62 (0.53)	NA



*Figure 11* Path model with standardized path coefficients for the physical activity data

### 6.5.5 Additional Analyses

## Mediation analysis on physical activity data

Although the SEM results are not reliable due to the small sample size, they suggested that there might be 1) an indirect effect of EFT on behavior change through intention, and 2) an indirect effect of EFT on intention through affect. Accordingly, two mediation analyses were conducted: one with intention as the mediating variable between treatment and physical activity results; the other with affect as the mediating variable between treatment and intention. These analyses were conducted using the r package mediation (Tingley et al., 2014).

The effect of EFT on physical activity was fully mediated via intention to do more physical activity. As Figure 12 illustrates, the regression coefficient between treatment and intention and the regression coefficient between intention and PA were significant. The indirect effect was 0.16. The significance of this indirect effect was tested using bootstrapping procedures. Unstandardized indirect effects were computed for each of 1000 bootstrapped samples. The 95% confidence interval ranged from .05 to .30. The indirect effect was statistically significant (p < .001). The indirect effect remained significant ( $\hat{\gamma}_{EFT-INT-PA} = 0.15, p < .01, 95\%$  CI [0.04, 0.28]) after controlling for covariates (i.e., baseline self-reported PA, CFC, health status, and demographics), which suggested that *hypothesis 3b* could be supported. The indirect effect of EFT on intention through affect was not significant.



Figure 12 Indirect effect of EFT on physical activity through intention

## Dose effect

In the intervention session, participants were randomly assigned to low- vs. high-dose groups to test the dose effect of sending reminders on behavior change. Specifically, participants in the high-dose group needed to engage in EFT (or ERT) everyday whenever they received the reminder email (13 times in total) whereas those in the low-dose group needed to engage in EFT (or ERT) every third day (5 times in total). The behavior variable for sleep groups was a difference between baseline sleep time and an average sleep time over the 14 waves of the intervention. Whereas that for physical activity groups was the total time of workouts (in minutes) recorded in the *NikeTrainingClub* app with a log transformation. Data on sleep and physical activity behaviors were combined to conduct the analysis. The results showed that the does effect was not significant, F= 1.636, df= 1, p= 0.202,  $\hat{M}_{high}= 1.287$ , SD= 1.51;  $\hat{M}_{low}= 1.037$ , SD= 1.45.

Based on the above analyses, a summary of the results in terms of hypotheses

and research questions across the two data sets are shown in Table 16.

Summary of results across two data sets		
Hypotheses	Sleep data	Physical activity data
H1: EFT (vs. ERT) will lead to decreased	Not significant	¥
delay discounting.		
H2: EFT (vs. ERT) will increase (a) intention	Not significant	Supported
to get enough sleep and (b) intention to		
engage in physical activity.	Not survey out a d	Course a stard
time and (b) physical activity	Not supported	Supported
H4: Behavioral intentions will be positively	Supported	
related to actual behaviors.	Supported	
H5: EFT (vs. ERT) will increase self-control.	Supported	Not enough
		evidence
H6a: Self-control will be positively related to	Supported	Not enough
behavioral intentions.		evidence
H6b: Self-control will be positively related to	Supported	Not enough
actual behaviors.	Not supported	evidence
behavioral intentions will be mediated by	Not supported	
self-control.		
H6d: The effect of EFT (vs. ERT) on actual	Not supported	
behaviors will be mediated by self-control.		
H7: EFT (vs. ERT) will increase positive	Not supported	Not
affect.		significant
Research Questions	Sleep data	Physical activity data
RQ1: Does increasing the dose of EFT (vs.	Engaging in EFT (vs. ERT)	No
ERT) lead to more behavior change?	repeatedly led to a decrease	
DO201 Is monitive offerst according to derive	in sleep time.	Na
kQ2a. is positive affect associated with behavioral intentions?	INO	INO
RO2b: Is positive affect associated with	Not significant	Not enough
actual behaviors?	i tot bigintiount	evidence
RQ3a: Does positive affect mediate the effect	No	No
of EFT (vs. ERT) on behavioral intentions?		
RQ3b: Does positive affect mediate the	No	No
effect of EFT (vs. ERT) on actual behaviors?		

# Table 16

# Chapter 7: Discussion

This dissertation takes an "active ingredient" perspective towards examining the effect of mHealth interventions and proposes and examines one strategy called episodic future thinking (EFT) in mHealth lifestyle intervention to promote healthy behavior change. The choice of this strategy is based on considerations of its suitability with the targeted behaviors under investigation and the mobile technologies employed.

Specifically, many decisions about lifestyle-related behavior change are intertemporal in nature. That is, the desirable outcomes of health behavior change are often temporarily distant, whereas the temptations, or benefits for not engaging in the behavior, are at the here and now. The value of the distant outcomes is usually discounted sharply by people, a tendency called delay discounting (Frederick et al., 2002; Kang & Ikeda, 2016). The subjective value of more immediate rewards, on the other hand, are valued more at the moment of choice, for example, an immediate gratification of eating high calorie food or binge-watching TV shows without moving all day. Researchers have proposed that effortful attempts to shift temporal focus toward the future could be a potent way of increasing healthy decision-making (Hall & Fong, 2007).

Episodic future thinking (EFT) is one such strategy. It broadens one's temporal horizon and bridges the future and the present through enhancing one's sense of temporal continuity and personal identity and through its close relationships with personal goals and self-control.

However, even if the future benefits or health goals are highlighted and wanted, the means and process to gain those benefits or achieve the goals are in the here and now. Failures occur when individuals do not know how best to achieve their goals (Taylor & Wilson, 2016). Specific to health behaviors, research has shown that a substantial number of individuals are motivated to engage in health behavior and form goal intentions to do so but fail to carry out those intentions (Gollwitzer et al., 2010; Rhodes & Dickau, 2012).

New technologies, such as smart mobile devices, can serve as tools that connect present actions with future goals. Based on the construal level theory, mobile phones serve as low abstraction cues because they are anchored with the self and in the here and now (Katz & Byrne, 2013). This characteristic enables mobile phones to bridge high level goals with specific actions, which are also supplied by the various APPs embedded in mobile devices. Due to these characteristics, it is thus argued that combining EFT with mobile technologies helps connect present actions with future health goals and might enhance the effect of EFT.

Participants who met the inclusion criteria and who showed an initial interest in changing their behavior through using health apps were invited to participate in a two-week intervention study. During the two-week, they received reminder to engage in EFT (vs. ERT) and use two health apps. Their self-control, affective state, behavioral intentions, actual behavior were measured through self-reported instruments and mobile apps.

In general, the results suggested that EFT could be a useful strategy incorporated into mHealth interventions to promote health behavior change.
However, it might have contradictory effects when applied to different types of behavior. Specific to the current study, EFT was effective in promoting physical activity as recorded through the health app *NikeTrainingClub* among college students. However, EFT had negative effect when applied to the sleep behavior. The reasons why this was the case are explained and theoretical and practical implications for EFT study and mHealth interventions are discussed in the following sections.

## 7.1 EFT and Psychological Outcomes (i.e., affect, self-control, and intention)

EFT predicts change in psychological outcomes to varying degrees for the sleep and physical activity behaviors. Specifically, EFT (vs. ERT) increases self-control for the sleep behavior, which in turn, is associated with an increase in intention, and increases positive affect and intention for the physical activity behavior. Across two datasets, the results seem to suggest that EFT (vs. ERT) has the potential to increase intentions for health behavior change, which is consistent with previous evidence showing the relation between future thinking and personal goals and the motivating effect of EFT (D'Argembeau et al., 2010; Demblon & D'Argembeau, 2017). Specifically, one of the adaptive functions of EFT is to boost prospective memory, i.e., the ability to remember carrying out a designated intention at a future time (Schacter et al., 2017).

#### 7.2 EFT and Behavioral Outcomes (i.e., sleep and physical activity)

In theory, EFT should also promote actual behavior change because simulating performing an upcoming intention should make it more likely that this intention be carried out. Previous studies have also provided empirical support for the effect of EFT on actual behavior change. For example, EFT has been associated with changes in one's demand for cigarettes (Stein et al., 2016), alcohol (Snider et al., 2016) and food (Sze et al., 2017). It has also been shown to improve clinical outcomes, including reduced eating in the laboratory (Daniel et al, 2013; Dassen et al., 2016) and in a food court (O'Neill et al., 2016).

However, in the current intervention, EFT (vs. ERT) was shown to promote physical activity participation but decrease sleep time compared to baseline among college students. I argue that the relation between EFT (and repeatedly engaging in EFT) and actual behavior change is more complex than its relations with psychological outcomes, such as self-control and intention.

Specific to the current dissertation, the two behaviors under investigation differ in their controllability (Sheeran, 2002), which is an important aspect for intentions to be translated into action. In other words, individuals must have control over performing a behavior to be able to turn their intention into the realization of that behavior (Sheeran, 2002).

Several control factors have been proposed to determine the amount of control a person actually possesses over performing a behavior and thus whether an intention is translated into action. These factors include knowledge, ability, resources, opportunity, availability, cooperation, and unexpected situations (Sheeran, 2002, p.10).

One key difference between the sleep and physical activity behaviors is their controllability – individuals have less control over their sleep behavior than over physical activity behavior as measured in the current dissertation. For example, in terms of ability, those who have difficulties falling asleep do not have too much to

rely on except for resorting to medications. On the other hand, people with different physical conditions could find some sort of exercise that is suitable for them. In terms of unexpected situations, the sleeping behavior is more susceptible to unexpected situations, such as a break-up with romantic partner, a party lasting till late evening; whereas exercise behavior might be less susceptible to unexpected situations – someone who wants to go for a run could still realize the goal of running in an indoor stadium even if it suddenly rains outside. For opportunity, in the current study, sleep was measured once when participants went to bed at the end of a day, whereas physical activity was measured whenever participants felt like doing it.

All these factors contribute to the low controllability of the sleep behavior, which might influence one's confidence in his/her ability to perform the behavior, i.e., their self-efficacy. This dissertation did measure self-efficacy and found that selfefficacy beliefs were associated positively with affect. Previous research has pointed to the close relationship between self-efficacy and emotions, suggesting that selfefficacy relate positively to positive emotions, probably through the perception of being capable to manage the challenging situations; whereas low self-efficacy may lead an individual to perceive goals as less attainable, which may increase negative emotions (e.g., Buric et al., 2018; Buric & Frenzel, 2019; Lohbeck et al., 2018). The repeated measures ANOVA results showed that there was a main effect of time on positive affect in the sleep data, with mean affect scores decreasing over the course of the two-week.

As it was mentioned in Chapters 3 & 4, there is an enhanced positivity bias for future thinking relative to remembering the past among health adults (Rasmussen &

Berntsen, 2013). While this positivity bias serves self-enhancement motivations, it could also trigger feelings of shame and guilt when there is failure to meet personal health goals (Sirois, 2015), e.g., getting more sleep in the case of the current dissertation. Future thinking is closely related to personal goals and the EFT tasks in the current dissertation specifically asked participants to imagine health goal related events. As such, engaging in EFT repeatedly might thus heighten goal failure (if there is any) and the associated negative feelings. In other words, when used as an intervention strategy to influence repeated decisions and behaviors in life, EFT might interact with the realization of the behavior (or a lack thereof). This interaction might in turn impact affect and subsequent behavior change.

The interaction between future thinking and real-life situation are hinted in previous studies on future thinking as well. For example, Quoidbach et al.'s (2009) study on future mental time travel (MTT) examined the effect of positive, negative, and neutral future MTT on happiness and anxiety. They found that participants in the negative MTT group showed a significant increase in happiness, whereas those in the neutral MTT group showed a significant reduction in anxiety. Their explanations were, for the negative MTT group, that the negative events imagined did not actually happen, which could have led participants to evaluate themselves as relatively lucky people and increased their happiness; for the neutral MTT group, they found that the content of the projections were mainly related to daily routines and to planning, which prepared participants for organizing the upcoming day and reduced stress. They thus speculated that MTT might interact with affective forecasting (Wilson & Gilbert, 2005) to influence outcomes such as wellbeing.

Future studies could investigate how EFT interact with the realization of goaldirected behavior and how this interaction might affect subsequent behavior change, individuals' affective forecasting, and their overall wellbeing. For example, is the mere simulation of positive events enough to increase positive affect? Do imagined positive events still lead to motivation when one is disappointed by the actual result at one point of time? Such intricate relationships might require researchers to conduct studies in more natural settings and with longitudinal design.

### 7.3 Technological Functions in mHealth Interventions

In addition to behavior type, the difference in the two health apps (i.e., technological functions) might also contribute to the contradictory effect of EFT on behavior change for sleep and physical activity.

Fogg (2009) proposed a model called the Fogg behavior model (FBM) to address the issue of using technology to persuade, which was referred to as "attempts to influence people's behaviors, not attitude" (p.1). Behavior is proposed as a product of three factors that constitute the FBM: motivation, ability, and triggers. The FBM asserts that for a person to perform a target behavior, he or she must (1) be sufficiently motivated, (2) have the ability to perform the behavior, and (3) be triggered to perform the behavior. These three factors must occur at the same moment.

On the basis of this framework, EFT works to address the motivation factor, whereas mobile phone reminders work as triggers. Health apps, due to their powerful computing power and various functionalities, aid their users in performing the behavior. For example, with *NikeTrainingClub*, users can do various workouts at a place of their choice. They do not need to worry about the weather or not having an instructor. As such, using *NikeTrainingClub* might increase one's confidence in their ability to perform the behavior. When they finish a workout, there will be a record of it, which could serve as an indicator of the user's success that further boosts their confidence or self-efficacy. However, not all APPs are equal in this ability to boost confidence or self-efficacy. The *SleepCycle* app, for example, only has the record function and provides analysis on sleep quality. These functions do not seem to help offer more opportunities to facilitate behavior, nor do they provide alternatives for when the users encounter obstacles. These two apps, while being able to work similarly as triggers and provide action opportunities for the users, differ significantly in their ability to aid performance of the behavior. This difference might interact with the behavior change strategy accompanying their usage to influence the actual behavior change.

Taken together, the above discussion provides some explanation on why EFT had distinct effects on sleep and physical activity in the current study. It emphasizes the importance of examining the "active ingredient" before applying one or even more strategies to influence behavior. Various situations could arise and influence the end results. For example, a strategy could be effective for changing the target behavior but not suitable to be combined with a target technology or another strategy. Or a strategy might be effective for changing one target behavior but could backfire when being applied to another behavior.

More broadly, the results also dovetail a long-lasting emphasis on the vital importance of context in intervention research (Moore & Evans, 2017). As Pawson

and Tilley (1997) cogently articulated that the mechanisms of change are always contingent on context; what "works" in one time and place may be ineffective, or even harmful, elsewhere (Moore & Evans, 2017, p. 134).

In addition, the results of the current study also hinted the possibility that EFT may not always be adaptive, which is consistent with suggestions from a metaanalysis that it is not always beneficial to nudge decisions via EFT (Rösch et al., 2021). Future thinking is inherently uncertain (Bulley et al., 2017; Wilson & Gilbert, 2005). As a result, highlighting the positive reward-related emotions for delayed choice option may, at times, impair efforts to obtain future goals or even backfire. *7.4 Practical Implications* 

Previous studies on EFT were usually conducted in laboratory settings with DD tasks and one time behavior choice as outcomes. These studies suggested that EFT provided motivational incentives for choices that can immediately be acted upon (Rösch et al., 2021). That is, individuals could make the decision to forego an immediate but smaller reward right away, such as in a DD task. However, for long lasting behavior change, merely foregoing an immediate reward may not be enough. An additional identification of possible obstacles may also be required (Oettingen & Gollwitzer, 2018; Oettingen & Reininger, 2016). Under such circumstances, other self-regulation strategies may be needed to company EFT in order to generate optimal results. However, less is known about the effect of EFT outside of the laboratory setting and that of repeatedly engaging in EFT on long lasting behavior change over an extended period of time. The results of the current dissertation suggest that it is important to test the effect of EFT in real-world settings so that the power of this

strategy could be better leveraged by people in daily life. Future studies could keep testing the effect of EFT on other types of behavior in natural settings or test the combined effects of EFT and other self-regulation strategies.

The results of the current study showed that EFT sent through mobile phones could increase self-control, which in turn, influence intention and behavior (at least for the sleeping behavior). Though an increase in self-control did not seem to mediate the effect of EFT on intention and behavior. Researchers have proposed that using EFT to enhance self-control would be one approach to incorporating EFT into standard behavioral interventions. They also suggested that interventions could use EFT to increase self-control by cueing EFT when individuals detect a situation in which they may favor an immediate reward over a future outcome (O'Donnell et al., 2019). This could be realized through mobile technologies, for example, when a health app on the mobile device detects that the user has entered a bakery, it can translate this spatial measurement into an estimation of psychological distance and determine that the user is likely to be close to a health decision-making moment. This could trigger the app to send EFT cues to the user and help reduce responding for immediate gratification (Katz & Byrne, 2013; O'Donnell et al., 2019). The results of this dissertation could be seen as one initial step toward this synergistic work by mobile technologies and behavioral change strategies. Future studies could explore other possibilities of integrating EFT (or other behavioral change strategies) with different types of mobile technologies/functionalities.

### 7.5 Limitations

The current dissertation study is limited in several ways. First, the attrition rate was quite high and, even though there were no group differences in the exclusion/dropout rate for each experimental group, a possible selection effect cannot be excluded. Related to this, the final sample size of the study, especially for physical activity, is rather small. The small sample size means that the study may lack adequate statistical power to detect an effect size of practical importance and lead to incorrect conclusions about the efficacy of the intervention (Pan et al., 2018). Small sample size in longitudinal studies might be a regular instead of an anomaly. As a result, researchers have also suggested other methods to increase statistical power, such as blocking, including additional predictors, obtaining more reliable measures or modeling measurement error, and sampling participants with more variability on the outcome variables (Fritz et al., 2015). This study measured key variables multiple times and used the average scores of these measures to reduce measurement error and adopted analysis method that modeled measurement error. Still, the results should be interpreted with caution.

Second, treatment compliance might be an issue since the experiment was conducted in the natural setting with very limited experimenter control. Various ways were used to enhance compliance. For example, participants were informed about what the study was trying to achieve, and the important roles they played in the study. Research has shown that it is important to develop a partnership with participants at baseline and throughout the study and to let participants know the purpose of the study and their important role in it in order to enhance adherence and compliance to

EMI/EMA (Burke et al., 2017). Another method is to use follow up such as an email or phone call if a person does not fill out the survey within a specific time frame. This study used reminder email to follow up when participants did not respond within the predefined time window. Participants were also told that they needed to complete 70% of the prompt surveys in order to receive participation credits. However, these might introduce measurement reactivity and demand characteristics to the study.

Related to the compliance issue is that the whole study was conducted "online." That is, both the EFT tasks and DD tasks and all the survey measures were completed online. Although there has been an increase in studies on EFT and DD to be conducted online, this is not a standard procedure of EFT studies. Accordingly, the traditional procedures and measures in EFT studies might not fit well with an online setting. This study thus employed some untraditional procedures and measures. Future studies aiming at comparing results should keep this in mind. As more and more studies on EFT chose online platforms, new standard might develop quickly.

The third limitation concerns the health apps used to collect behavior data. Although actual behavior data should be more accurate than self-reported data, several issues could impact the accuracy of data collection through mobile apps. For example, most participants in the physical activity groups did not use the focal app *NikeTrainingClub* every day, so there were a lot of "missing" data points. This missingness is understandable because 1) even the recommendation of physical activity is an average time per week. It is highly likely that people exercise on some days of a week but take a break on other days. 2) Participants might not record every type of physical activity they did with *NikeTrainingClub*, or the exercise in which

they participated could not be recorded by this app. If this is the case, using *NikeTrainingClub* might actually interfere with participants exercise routine. For the sleep app *SleepCycle*, the data collection could be inaccurate if participants wake up during the night and use the phone, which could mess up with the record or may generate many short sleep time records. As such, the results should be interpreted with these constraining conditions in mind. In addition, although this dissertation adopted ecological momentary evaluation to measure key cognitive and behavioral variables, the data collection process could still feel unnatural to the participants, or pose inconvenience to their daily life, both of which might influence the accuracy of data collection.

Last but not least, some intervention characteristics, such as the duration of the intervention, and frequency and timing of intervention delivery, were decided rather subjectively. While not enough evidence in the previous EFT intervention to suggest a best practice, based on health interventions for physical activity and sleep, it might be better to send intervention content multiple times during the day or provide a timeframe for participants given that it does not impose too much response burden. 7.6 Conclusion

mHealth has grown in its importance since this term was coined in the first years of the new century, thanks to two lines of development in the health arena. One development is that the scope of health has been broadened considerably to integrate lifestyle related aspects of diet, fitness, and wellness, among others. The second is that new technologies have altered how people perceive health, opening new opportunities for individuals to take an active part in their health care and

management, which also has an empowering effect on them (Koinig & Diehl, 2020, p.179). This development also poses challenges to researchers and practitioners, for example, lifestyle-related behavior change usually requires more self-regulatory resources from the individuals and takes longer time to realize, whereas the additional layer of mobile technologies bring with it more complexity in terms of how to integrate them with behavioral change strategies. Following the WHO's (2011) call to discover "new horizons for health through mobile technologies," we should take advantage of the development in mHealth and leverage mHealth to promote better health.

# Appendices

Appendix A Instructions for the EFT Task Used in the Baseline Survey

In the following task, we want to invite you to imagine positive events that realistically could happen or that you have already planned in the future (e.g., in a week, a month, six months). This could be anything that comes to your mind (e.g., a getaway or something study-related). Think of something that applies to you. Experience this event in mind. Consider as many details of this event as possible (what do you do, where are you, who are with you, accompanying feelings, etc.). These images will be used in the next exercise. Please describe these events according to the time frames provided.

1.1 Please describe a positive future event that realistically could happen or that you have already planned in the future in 1 weeks (7 days). Think of something that applies to you. Experience this event in mind. Consider as many details of this event as possible. (There is a minimum 20-character requirement for this task)

1.2 Please rate the event you just described on the following 7-point scale (1 = not at all; 7 = very much)How vivid is the event?How positive is the event?How future-oriented is the event?

2.1 Please describe a positive future event that realistically could happen or that you have already planned in the future in 2 weeks (14 days). Think of something that applies to you. Experience this event in mind. Consider as many details of this event as possible. (There is a minimum 20-character requirement for this task)

2.2 Please rate the event you just described on the following 7-point scale (1 = not at all; 7 = very much)How vivid is the event?How positive is the event?How future-oriented is the event?

3.1 Please describe a future event that realistically could happen or that you have already planned in the future in 1 month (about 30 days). Think of something that applies to you. Experience this event in mind. Consider as many details of this event as possible. (There is a minimum 20-character requirement for this task)

3.2 Please rate the event you just described on the following 7-point scale (1 = not at all; 7 = very much)How vivid is the event?How positive is the event?How future-oriented is the event?

4.1 Please describe a positive future event that realistically could happen or that you have already planned in the future in 2 months (about 62 days). Think of something that applies to you. Experience this event in mind. Consider as many details of this event as possible. (There is a minimum 20-character requirement for this task)



How future-oriented is the event?

5.1 Please describe a positive future event that realistically could happen or that you have already planned in the future in 4 months (about 120 days). Think of something that applies to you. Experience this event in mind. Consider as many details of this event as possible. (There is a minimum 20-character requirement for this task)

5.2 Please rate the event you just described on the following 7-point scale (1 = not at all; 7 = very much)How vivid is the event?How positive is the event?How future-oriented is the event?

6.1 Please describe a positive future event that realistically could happen or that you have already planned in the future in 6 months (about 186 days). Think of something that applies to you. Experience this event in mind. Consider as many details of this event as possible. (There is a minimum 20-character requirement for this task)

6.2 Please rate the event you just described on the following 7-point scale (1 = not at all; 7 = very much)How vivid is the event?How positive is the event?How future-oriented is the event?

Appendix B Instructions for the EFT Task Used in the Intervention

## Sleep:

Please describe a future event that realistically could happen and relates, even remotely, to your sleeping behavior (e.g., something good resulted from your good sleeping habit, something relaxing before your bedtime). Think of something that applies to you. Experience this event in mind. Consider as many details of this event as possible. (There is a minimum 20-character requirement for this task)

Please rate the event you just described on the following 7-point scale (1 = not at all; 7 = very much) How vivid is the event? How positive is the event? How future-oriented is the event?

## **Physical activity**

Please describe a future event that realistically could happen and relates, even remotely, to your physical activity participation (e.g., something good resulted from your exercising behavior, something fun happens during your workout). Think of something that applies to you. Experience this event in mind. Consider as many details of this event as possible. (There is a minimum 20-character requirement for this task)

Please rate the event you just described on the following 7-point scale (1 = not at all; 7 = very much) How vivid is the event? How positive is the event? How future-oriented is the event?

# References

- Aaker, J. L., & Lee, A. Y. (2001). "I" seek pleasures and "we" avoid pains: The role of self-regulatory goals in information processing and persuasion. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 28(1), 33-49. https://doi.org/10.1086/321946
- Adelman, R. M., Herrmann, S. D., Bodford, J. E., Barbour, J. E., Graudejus, O., Okun, M. A., & Kwan, V. S. (2017). Feeling closer to the future self and doing better: Temporal psychological mechanisms underlying academic performance. *Journal of Personality*, 85(3), 398-408. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopy.12248
- Addis, D. R., Wong, A. T., & Schacter, D. L. (2007). Remembering the past and imagining the future: common and distinct neural substrates during event construction and elaboration. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(7), 1363-1377. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2006.10.016
- Aguiar, S. O., Auad, S. M., Silveira, K. S., Hermont, A. P., Prado, I. M., Vitória Diniz Reis, T., & Serra-Negra, J. M. (2021). The impact of social distancing caused by the COVID-19 pandemic in dietary and sleep features of graduate and postgraduate university students with different chronotype profiles. *Biological Rhythm Research*, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/09291016.2021.1920733
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 179-211. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Andre, L., van Vianen, A. E., Peetsma, T. T., & Oort, F. J. (2018). Motivational power of future time perspective: Meta-analyses in education, work, and health. *PloS one*, *13*(1), e0190492. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190492
- Atance, C. M., & O'Neill, D. K. (2001). Episodic future thinking. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *5*(12), 533-539. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(00)01804-0
- Audrain-McGovern, J., Rodriguez, D., Epstein, L. H., Cuevas, J., Rodgers, K., & Wileyto, E. P. (2009). Does delay discounting play an etiological role in smoking or is it a consequence of smoking?. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 103(3), 99-106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2008.12.019
- Bang, H. M. (2018). *Temporal Comparisons: How the Future Self Affects Current Self-Appraisals and Motivation* (Doctoral dissertation, Duke University).
- Bartels, D. M., & Rips, L. J. (2010). Psychological connectedness and intertemporal choice. *Journal of Experimental Psychology. General*, 139(1), 49-69. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018062
- Bashshur, R., Shannon, G., Krupinski, E., & Grigsby, J. (2011). The taxonomy of telemedicine. *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 17(6), 484-494.

- Bays, R. B., Wellen, B. C., & Greenberg, K. S. (2018). Looking forward: The effects of photographs on the qualities of future thinking. *Memory*, 26(4), 493-502. https://doi.org/10.1080/09658211.2017.1375529
- Belk, R. W. (2013). Extended self in a digital world. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 40(3), 477-500. https://doi-org.proxyum.researchport.umd.edu/10.1086/671052
- Benoit, R. G., Berkers, R. M., & Paulus, P. C. (2018). An adaptive function of mental time travel: motivating farsighted decisions. *Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 41. doi:10.1017/S0140525X1700125X
- Benoit, R. G., Gilbert, S. J., & Burgess, P. W. (2011). A neural mechanism mediating the impact of episodic prospection on farsighted decisions. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(18), 6771-6779. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.6559-10.2011
- Bequette, B. W. (2009). Glucose clamp algorithms and insulin time-action profiles. *Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology*, 3(5), 1005-1013. https://doi.org/10.1177/193229680900300503
- Berntsen, D., & Bohn, A. (2010). Remembering and forecasting: The relation. Memory & cognition, 38(3), 265-278. https://link.springer.com/article/10.3758/MC.38.3.265
- Bickel, W. K., Athamneh, L. N., Basso, J. C., Mellis, A. M., DeHart, W. B., Craft, W. H., & Pope, D. (2019). Excessive discounting of delayed reinforcers as a trans-disease process: Update on the state of the science. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 30, 59-64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2019.01.005
- Bickel, W. K., Jarmolowicz, D. P., Mueller, E. T., Koffarnus, M. N., & Gatchalian, K. M. (2012). Excessive discounting of delayed reinforcers as a trans-disease process contributing to addiction and other disease-related vulnerabilities: Emerging evidence. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 134(3), 287-297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2012.02.004
- Blair, S.N., Kohl, H.W. III, Paffenbarger, R.S. Jr., Clark, D.G., Cooper, K.H. and Gibbons, L.W. (1995). Changes in physical fitness and all-cause mortality: A prospective study of healthy and unhealthy men. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 273, 1093-1098. doi:10.1001/jama.1995.03520380029031
- Blouin-Hudon, E. M. C., & Pychyl, T. A. (2015). Experiencing the temporally extended self: Initial support for the role of affective states, vivid mental imagery, and future self-continuity in the prediction of academic procrastination. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 86, 50-56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2015.06.003
- Bø, S., & Wolff, K. (2019). A terrible future: Episodic future thinking and the perceived risk of terrorism. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 2333. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02333

- Boyer, P. (2008). Evolutionary economics of mental time travel?. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *12*(6), 219-224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2008.03.003
- Bromberg, U., Lobatcheva, M., & Peters, J. (2017). Episodic future thinking reduces temporal discounting in healthy adolescents. *PLoS One, 12*(11), e0188079. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0188079
- Buhi, E. R., Trudnak, T. E., Martinasek, M. P., Oberne, A. B., Fuhrmann, H. J., & McDermott, R. J. (2013). Mobile phone-based behavioral interventions for health: A systematic review. *Health Education Journal*, 72(5), 564-583. https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896912452071
- Bulley, A., & Gullo, M. J. (2017). The influence of episodic foresight on delay discounting and demand for alcohol. *Addictive Behaviors*, 66, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.11.003
- Bulley, A., Henry, J. D., & Suddendorf, T. (2017). Thinking about threats: Memory and prospection in human threat management. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 49, 53-69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2017.01.005
- Burke, L. E., Shiffman, S., Music, E., Styn, M. A., Kriska, A., Smailagic, A., ... & Mancino, J. (2017). Ecological momentary assessment in behavioral research: Addressing technological and human participant challenges. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(3), e77, 1-17. doi: 10.2196/jmir.7138
- Caruso, E. M., Gilbert, D. T., & Wilson, T. D. (2008). A wrinkle in time: Asymmetric valuation of past and future events. *Psychological Science*, *19*(8), 796-801. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02159.x.
- Chandran, S., & Menon, G. (2004). When a day means more than a year: Effects of temporal framing on judgments of health risk. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 31(2), 375-389. https://doi.org/10.1086/422116
- Chavez, S., Fedele, D., Guo, Y., Bernier, A., Smith, M., Warnick, J., & Modave, F. (2017). Mobile apps for the management of diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 40(10), e145-e146. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc17-0853
- Cheng, Y. Y., Shein, P. P., & Chiou, W. B. (2012). Escaping the impulse to immediate gratification: The prospect concept promotes a future - oriented mindset, prompting an inclination towards delayed gratification. *British Journal* of Psychology, 103(1), 129-141. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8295.2011.02067.x
- Chiou, W. B., & Wu, W. H. (2017). Episodic future thinking involving the nonsmoking self can induce lower discounting and cigarette consumption. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 78(1), 106-112. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2017.78.106
- Clark, A. E., & Semin, G. R. (2008). Receivers' expectations for abstract versus concrete construal: conversational relevance as a determinant of construal level. *Journal of Language and Social Psychology*, 27(2), 155-167. https://doi.org/10.1177/0261927X07313645

- Cole, S. N., & Berntsen, D. (2016). Do future thoughts reflect personal goals? Current concerns and mental time travel into the past and future. *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 69(2), 273-284. https://doi.org/10.1080/17470218.2015.1044542
- Collins, L. M., Murphy, S. A., & Strecher, V. J. (2007). The multiphase optimization strategy (MOST) and the sequential multiple assignment randomized trial (SMART): New methods for more potent eHealth interventions. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 32(5), S112-S118. https://doi.org/10.1109/TMI.2012.2196707.Separate
- Conroy, D. E., Yang, C. H., & Maher, J. P. (2014). Behavior change techniques in top-ranked mobile apps for physical activity. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 46(6), 649-652. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2014.01.010
- Daniel, T. O., Stanton, C. M., & Epstein, L. H. (2013). The future is now: Reducing impulsivity and energy intake using episodic future thinking. *Psychological Science*, 24(11), 2339-2342. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797613488780
- D'Argembeau, A., & Mathy, A. (2011). Tracking the construction of episodic future thoughts. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General, 140*(2), 258-271. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022581
- D'Argembeau, A., Stawarczyk, D., Majerus, S., Collette, F., Van, der L. M., Feyers, D., ... Salmon, E. (2010). The neural basis of personal goal processing when envisioning future events. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 22(8), 1701-13. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2009.21314
- D'Argembeau, A., & Van der Linden, M. (2004). Phenomenal characteristics associated with projecting oneself back into the past and forward into the future: Influence of valence and temporal distance. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 13(4), 844-858. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2004.07.007
- D'Argembeau, A., & Van der Linden, M. (2006). Individual differences in the phenomenology of mental time travel: The effect of vivid visual imagery and emotion regulation strategies. *Consciousness and Cognition*, *15*(2), 342-350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2005.09.001
- D'Argembeau, A., & Van, der L. M. (2012). Predicting the phenomenology of episodic future thoughts. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 21(3), 1198-206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2012.05.004
- Dassen, F. C., Jansen, A., Nederkoorn, C., & Houben, K. (2016). Focus on the future: Episodic future thinking reduces discount rate and snacking. *Appetite*, 96, 327-332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2015.09.032
- Demblon, J., & D'Argembeau, A. (2017). Contribution of past and future selfdefining event networks to personal identity. *Memory*, 25(5), 656-665. https://doi.org/10.1080/09658211.2016.1205095
- De Ridder, D. T., Lensvelt-Mulders, G., Finkenauer, C., Stok, F. M., & Baumeister, R. F. (2012). Taking stock of self-control: A meta-analysis of how trait self-control

relates to a wide range of behaviors. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, *16*(1), 76-99. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868311418749

- Direito, A., Pfaeffli D. L., Shields, E., Dobson, R., Whittaker, R., & Maddison, R. (2014). Do physical activity and dietary smartphone applications incorporate evidence-based behavior change techniques? *BMC Public Health*, 14(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-646
- Direito, A., Walsh, D., Hinbarji, M., Albatal, R., Tooley, M., Whittaker, R., & Maddison, R. (2018). Using the intervention mapping and behavioral intervention technology frameworks: development of an mHealth intervention for physical activity and sedentary behavior change. *Health Education & Behavior*, 45(3), 331-348. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198117742438
- Duckworth, A. L., & Steinberg, L. (2015). Unpacking self control. *Child* Development Perspectives, 9(1), 32-37. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdep.12107
- Dunton, G. F., Atienza, A. A., Castro, C. M., & King, A. C. (2009). Using ecological momentary assessment to examine antecedents and correlates of physical activity bouts in adults age 50+ years: A pilot study. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 38(3), 249-255. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-009-9141-4
- Dunton, G. F., Dzubur, E., & Intille, S. (2016). Feasibility and performance test of a real-time sensor-informed context-sensitive ecological momentary assessment to capture physical activity. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 18(6), e106. doi:10.2196/jmir.5398
- Dutta, K., Mukherjee, R., Sen, D., & Sahu, S. (2020). Effect of COVID-19 lockdown on sleep behavior and screen exposure time: An observational study among Indian school children. *Biological Rhythm Research*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/09291016.2020.1825284
- Ebert, J. P., & Wegner, D. M. (2010). Time warp: Authorship shapes the perceived timing of actions and events. *Consciousness and Cognition: An International Journal*, 19(1), 481-489. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2009.10.002
- Ehlers, D. K., Aguiñaga, S., Cosman, J., Severson, J., Kramer, A. F., & McAuley, E. (2017). The effects of physical activity and fatigue on cognitive performance in breast cancer survivors. *Breast Cancer Research and Rreatment*, 165(3), 699-707. doi: 10.1007/s10549-017-4363-9
- Ellen, P. S., Wiener, J. L., & Fitzgerald, M. P. (2012). Encouraging people to save for their future: Augmenting current efforts with positive visions of the future. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, 31(1), 58-72. https://doi.org/10.1509/jppm.09.089
- Epstein, L. H., Salvy, S. J., Carr, K. A., Dearing, K. K., & Bickel, W. K. (2010). Food reinforcement, delay discounting and obesity. *Physiology & Behavior*, 100(5), 438-445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2010.04.029
- Ersner-Hershfield, H., Garton, M. T., Ballard, K., Samanez-Larkin, G. R., & Knutson, B. (2009a). Don't stop thinking about tomorrow: Individual differences in future

self-continuity account for saving. *Judgment and Decision Making*, 4(4), 280-286.

- Ersner-Hershfield, H., Wimmer, G. E., & Knutson, B. (2009b). Saving for the future self: Neural measures of future self-continuity predict temporal discounting. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 4(1), 85-92.
- Fanning, J., Mackenzie, M., Roberts, S., Crato, I., Ehlers, D., & McAuley, E. (2016). Physical activity, mind wandering, affect, and sleep: An ecological momentary assessment. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 4(3), e104 1-11. doi:10.2196/mhealth.5855
- Ferrer, R., Klein, W., Lerner, J., Reyna, V., & Keltner, D. (2016). Emotions and health decision making. *Behavioral Economics and Public Health*, 101-132. https://scholar.harvard.edu/files/jenniferlerner/files/emotion\_and\_health\_jdm\_ 2014\_0724.pdf
- Fiordelli, M., Diviani, N., & Schulz, P. J. (2013). Mapping mhealth research: A decade of evolution. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 15, e95. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2430
- Fogg, B. J. (2009, April). A behavior model for persuasive design. In Proceedings of the 4th international Conference on Persuasive Technology (pp. 1-7). https://doi.org/10.1145/1541948.1541999
- Fortmann, A. L., Gallo, L. C., Garcia, M. I., Taleb, M., Euyoque, J. A., Clark, T., ... & Philis-Tsimikas, A. (2017). Dulce Digital: an mHealth SMS-based intervention improves glycemic control in Hispanics with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care, 40*(10), 1349-1355. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc17-0230
- Frederick, S., Loewenstein, G., & O'Donoghue, T. (2002). Time discounting and time preference: A critical review. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 40(2), 351-401. doi:10.1257/002205102320161311
- Free, C., Phillips, G., Felix, L., Galli, L., Patel, V., & Edwards, P. (2010). The effectiveness of M-health technologies for improving health and health services: A systematic review protocol. *BMC Research Notes*, 3(1), 250. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-0500-3-250
- Friedrich, A., & Schlarb, A. A. (2018). Let's talk about sleep: A systematic review of psychological interventions to improve sleep in college students. *Journal of Sleep Research*, 27(1), 4-22. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.12568
- Fritz, M. S., Cox, M. G., & MacKinnon, D. P. (2015). Increasing statistical power in mediation models without increasing sample size. *Evaluation & the health Professions*, 38(3), 343-366. https://doi.org/10.1177/0163278713514250
- Fujita, K. (2011). On conceptualizing self-control as more than the effortful inhibition of impulses. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 15(4), 352-366. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868311411165

- Gaesser, B., Shimura, Y., & Cikara, M. (2020). Episodic simulation reduces intergroup bias in prosocial intentions and behavior. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 118(4), 683-705. https://doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000194
- Gellert, P., Ziegelmann, J. P., Lippke, S., & Schwarzer, R. (2011). Future time perspective and health behaviors: Temporal framing of self-regulatory processes in physical exercise and dietary behaviors. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 43(2), 208-218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-011-9312-y
- Gibson, J. J. (1977). The theory of affordances. Hilldale, USA, 1(2), 67-82.
- Glowacki, E. M., Kirtz, S., Hughes Wagner, J., Cance, J. D., Barrera, D., & Bernhardt, J. M. (2018). HealthyhornsTXT: A text-messaging program to promote college student health and wellness. *Health Promotion Practice* 19(6). 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839917754089
- Gollwitzer, P. M., Wieber, F., Myers, A. L., McCrea, S. M., Agnew, C., & Carlston, D. (2010). How to maximize implementation intention effects. Then a miracle occurs: Focusing on behavior in social psychological theory and research, 137-161.
- Grysman, A., Prabhakar, J., Anglin, S. M., & Hudson, J. A. (2013). The time travelling self: Comparing self and other in narratives of past and future events. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 22(3), 742-755. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2013.04.010
- Hagger, M. S., Luszczynska, A., de Wit, J., Benyamini, Y., Burkert, S., Chamberland, P. E., ... & Gauchet, A. (2016). Implementation intention and planning interventions in Health Psychology: Recommendations from the Synergy Expert Group for research and practice. *Psychology & Health*, 31(7), 814-839. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08870446.2016.1146719
- Hall, A. K., Cole-Lewis, H., & Bernhardt, J. M. (2015). Mobile text messaging for health: A systematic review of reviews. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 36, 393-415. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031914-122855
- Hall, P. A., & Fong, G. T. (2007). Temporal self-regulation theory: A model for individual health behavior. *Health Psychology Review*, 1(1), 6-52. https://doi.org/10.1080/17437190701492437
- Hébert, E. T., Stevens, E. M., Frank, S. G., Kendzor, D. E., Wetter, D. W., Zvolensky, M. J., ... & Businelle, M. S. (2018). An ecological momentary intervention for smoking cessation: The associations of just-in-time, tailored messages with lapse risk factors. *Addictive Behaviors*, 78, 30-35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.10.026
- Heron, K. E., Scott, S. B., Sliwinski, M. J., & Smyth, J. M. (2014). Eating behaviors and negative affect in college women's everyday lives. *International Journal* of Eating Disorders, 47(8), 853-859. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.22292
- Heron, K. E., & Smyth, J. M. (2010). Ecological momentary interventions: Incorporating mobile technology into psychosocial and health behaviour

treatments. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, *15*(1), 1-39. https://doi.org/10.1348/135910709X466063

- Hershfield, H. E. (2011). Future self-continuity: How conceptions of the future self transform intertemporal choice. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1235*, 30-43. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06201.x
- Hershfield, H. E. (2018). The self over time. *Current Opinion in Psychology, 26*, 72-75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2018.06.004
- Hershfield, H. E., Cohen, T. R., & Thompson, L. (2012). Short horizons and tempting situations: Lack of continuity to our future selves leads to unethical decision making and behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 117(2), 298-310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.obhdp.2011.11.002
- Hershfield, H. E., Goldstein, D. G., Sharpe, W. F., Fox, J., Yeykelis, L., Carstensen, L. L., & Bailenson, J. N. (2011). Increasing saving behavior through ageprogressed renderings of the future self. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 48(SPL), S23-S37. http://dx.doi.org/10.1509/jmkr.48.SPL.S23.
- Hollis-Hansen, K. (2020). Episodic future thinking as an intervention on mothers' food shopping behavior (Doctoral dissertation, State University of New York at Buffalo).
- Hollis-Hansen, K., O'Donnell, S. E., Seidman, J. S., Brande, S. J., & Epstein, L. H. (2019). Improvements in episodic future thinking methodology: Establishing a standardized episodic thinking control. *PloS One*, *14*(3), e0214397. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0214397
- Hollis-Hansen, K., Seidman, J., O'Donnell, S., & Epstein, L. H. (2020). Mothers' DASH diet adherence and food purchases after week-long episodic future thinking intervention. *Appetite*, 154, 104757. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2020.104757
- Hollis-Hansen, K., Seidman, J., O'Donnell, S., Wedderburn, A., Stanar, S., Brande, S., & Epstein, L. H. (2020). An ecological momentary episodic future thinking intervention on mother's weekly food purchases. *Health Psychology*, 39(2), 159-167. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000817
- Holtz, B. E., Murray, K. M., Hershey, D. D., Dunneback, J. K., Cotten, S. R.,
  Holmstrom, A. J., ... & Wood, M. A. (2017). Developing a patient-centered mHealth app: A tool for adolescents with type 1 diabetes and their parents. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 5(4), e53. doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6654
- International Telecommunication Union (ITU). (2017). ICT Facts and Figures 2017. Geneva: International Telecommunication Union. https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Statistics/Documents/facts/ICTFactsFigures2017.pdf
- International Telecommunication Union (ITU). (2019). Measuring digital development Facts and figures 2019. Geneva: International Telecommunication Union. https://www.itu.int/en/mediacentre/Documents/MediaRelations/ITU%20Facts

%20and%20Figures%202019%20-%20Embargoed%205%20November%201200%20CET.pdf

- Johnson, M. W., Bickel, W. K., & Baker, F. (2007). Moderate drug use and delay discounting: A comparison of heavy, light, and never smokers. *Experimental* and Clinical Psychopharmacology, 15(2), 187-194. https://doi.org/10.1037/1064-1297.15.2.187
- Joireman, J., Balliet, D., Sprott, D., Spangenberg, E., & Schultz, J. (2008). Consideration of future consequences, ego-depletion, and self-control: Support for distinguishing between CFC-Immediate and CFC-Future subscales. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 45(1), 15-21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2008.02.011
- Kahneman, D., & Tversky, A. (1979). On the interpretation of intuitive probability: A reply to Jonathan Cohen. *Cognition*, 7(4), 409-411. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(79)90024-6
- Kakoschke, N., Hawker, C., Castine, B., de Courten, B., & Verdejo Garcia, A. (2018). Smartphone based cognitive bias modification training improves healthy food choice in obesity: A pilot study. *European Eating Disorders Review*, 26(5), 526-532. https://doi.org/10.1002/erv.2622
- Kang, M. I., & Ikeda, S. (2016). Time discounting, present biases, and health-related behaviors: Evidence from Japan. *Economics & Human Biology*, 21, 122-136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ehb.2015.09.005
- Kaplan, B. A., Reed, D. D., & Jarmolowicz, D. P. (2016). Effects of episodic future thinking on discounting: Personalized age - progressed pictures improve risky long - term health decisions. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, 49(1), 148-169. https://doi.org/10.1002/jaba.277
- Kaplan, R. M., & Stone, A. A. (2013). Bringing the laboratory and clinic to the community: Mobile technologies for health promotion and disease prevention. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 64, 471-498. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevpsych-113011-143736
- Katz, S. J., & Byrne, S. (2013). Construal level theory of mobile persuasion. *Media Psychology*, 16(3), 245-271. https://doi.org/10.1080/15213269.2013.798853
- Kay, M. (2014). *mHealth: New horizons for health through mobile technologies*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2011.
- Kim, J., Hong, H., Lee, J., & Hyun, M. H. (2017). Effects of time perspective and self-control on procrastination and Internet addiction. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 6(2), 229-236. https://doi.org/10.1556/2006.6.2017.017
- Kirby, K. N., Petry, N. M., & Bickel, W. K. (1999). Heroin addicts have higher discount rates for delayed rewards than non-drug-using controls. *Journal of Experimental psychology: General*, 128(1), 78-87. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Warren-Bickel/publication/13191604\_Kirby\_KN\_Petry\_NM\_Bickel\_WK\_Heroin\_addic

ts\_have\_higher\_discount\_rates\_for\_delayed\_rewards\_than\_non-drugusing\_controls\_J\_Exp\_Psychol\_Gen\_128\_78-87/links/5cf477a5299bf1fb18530f53/Kirby-KN-Petry-NM-Bickel-WK-Heroinaddicts-have-higher-discount-rates-for-delayed-rewards-than-non-drug-usingcontrols-J-Exp-Psychol-Gen-128-78-87.pdf

- Klasnja, P., Consolvo, S., & Pratt, W. (2011, May). How to evaluate technologies for health behavior change in HCI research. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI* conference on human factors in computing systems (pp. 3063-3072). https://doi.org/10.1145/1978942.1979396
- Klein, S. B. (2013). The complex act of projecting oneself into the future. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Cognitive Science*, 4(1), 63-79. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.1210
- Knoops, K. T., de Groot, L. C. P. G. M., Kromhout, D., Perrin, A. E., Moreiras-Varela, O., Menotti, A., & van Staveren, W. A. (2004). Mediterranean diet, lifestyle factors, and 10-year mortality in elderly European men and women: The HALE project. *JAMA: Journal of the American Medical Association*, 292(12), 1433-1439. doi:10.1001/jama.292.12.1433
- Koffarnus, M. N., Jarmolowicz, D. P., Mueller, E. T., & Bickel, W. K. (2013). Changing delay discounting in the light of the competing neurobehavioral decision systems theory: A review. *Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior*, 99(1), 32-57. https://doi.org/10.1002/jeab.2
- Koinig, I., & Diehl, S. (2020). Health goes mobile: State-of-the art and future research agenda. In J., Kim & H., Song (Eds.). *Technology and Health: Promoting Attitude and Behavior Change* (pp.179-204). Academic Press.
- Kroese, F. M., De Ridder, D. T., Evers, C., & Adriaanse, M. A. (2014). Bedtime procrastination: introducing a new area of procrastination. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 5, 611. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00611
- Kuijer, R., de Ridder, D., Ouwehand, C., Houx, B., & van den Bos, R. (2008).
  Dieting as a case of behavioural decision making. Does self-control matter?. *Appetite*, 51(3), 506-511. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2008.03.014
- Kuo, H. C., Lee, C. C., & Chiou, W. B. (2016). The power of the virtual ideal self in weight control: Weight-reduced avatars can enhance the tendency to delay gratification and regulate dietary practices. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 19*(2), 80-85. http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2015.0203.
- La Corte, V., & Piolino, P. (2016). On the Role of Personal semantic memory and temporal distance in episodic future thinking: The TEDIFT model. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10, 385. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2016.00385
- Laranjo, L., Ding, D., Heleno, B., Kocaballi, B., Quiroz, J. C., Tong, H. L., ... & Bates, D. W. (2021). Do smartphone applications and activity trackers increase physical activity in adults? Systematic review, meta-analysis and metaregression. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 55(8), 422-432. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2020-102892

- Laska, M. N., Pasch, K. E., Lust, K., Story, M., & Ehlinger, E. (2009). Latent class analysis of lifestyle characteristics and health risk behaviors among college youth. *Prevention Science*, 10(4), 376-386. doi: 10.1007/s11121-009-0140-2
- Leahey, T. M., Gorin, A. A., Wyckoff, E., Denmat, Z., O'Connor, K., Field, C., ... & Gilder, C. (2020). Episodic future thinking, delay discounting, and exercise during weight loss maintenance: The PACE trial. *Health Psychology*, 39(9), 796-805. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000860
- Lee, P. S., Sung, Y. H., Wu, C. C., Ho, L. C., & Chiou, W. B. (2020). Using episodic future thinking to pre-experience climate change increases pro-environmental behavior. *Environment and Behavior*, 52(1), 60-81. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916518790590
- Lempert, K. M., & Phelps, E. A. (2016). The malleability of intertemporal choice. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 20(1), 64-74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2015.09.005
- Lewin, K. (1942). Time perspective and morale. In G. Watson (Ed.), *Civilian Morale* (pp. 48-70). New York, Houghton, Mifflin.
- Liberman, N., & Trope, Y. (2003). Construal level theory of intertemporal judgment and decision. In G. Loewenstein, D. Read, & R. Baumeister (Eds.), Time and decision: Economic and psychological perspectives on intertemporal choice (p. 245–276). Russell Sage Foundation.
- Lin, H., & Epstein, L. H. (2014). Living in the moment: Effects of time perspective and emotional valence of episodic thinking on delay discounting. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *128*(1), 12-19. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035705
- Loewenstein, G., & Thaler, R. H. (1989). Anomalies: Intertemporal choice. *Journal* of Economic Perspectives, 3(4), 181-193. doi: 10.1257/jep.3.4.181
- Lohbeck, A., Hagenauer, G., & Frenzel, A. C. (2018). Teachers' self-concepts and emotions: Conceptualization and relations. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 70, 111-120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.11.001
- Louie, K., & De Martino, B. (2014). The neurobiology of context-dependent valuation and choice. In *Neuroeconomics* (pp. 455-476). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-416008-8.00024-3
- Lyons, E. J., Lewis, Z. H., Mayrsohn, B. G., & Rowland, J. L. (2014). Behavior change techniques implemented in electronic lifestyle activity monitors: A systematic content analysis. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 16(8), e192. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.3469
- MacKillop, J., & Kahler, C. W. (2009). Delayed reward discounting predicts treatment response for heavy drinkers receiving smoking cessation treatment. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 104(3), 197-203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2009.04.020
- Mansouri, T. H., Crandall, A. K., & Temple, J. L. (2020). The effect of repeated episodic future thinking on the relative reinforcing value of snack food.

*Journal of Health Psychology*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105320914060

- Marcolino, M. S., Oliveira, J. A. Q., D'Agostino, M., Ribeiro, A. L., Alkmim, M. B. M., & Novillo-Ortiz, D. (2018). The Impact of mHealth interventions: Systematic review of systematic reviews. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 6, e23. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.8873
- Markus, H., & Nurius, P. (1986). Possible selves. *American Psychologist, 41*(9), 954-969. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.41.9.954
- Markus, H., & Ruvolo, A. (1989). Possible selves: Personalized representations of goals. In L. A. Pervin (Ed.), *Goal concepts in personality and social psychology* (p. 211-241). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Martin, S. S., Feldman, D. I., Blumenthal, R. S., Jones, S. R., Post, W. S., McKibben, R. A., ... & Blaha, M. J. (2015). mActive: A randomized clinical trial of an automated mHealth intervention for physical activity promotion. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 4(11), e002239. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.115.002239
- McMillan, K. A., Kirk, A., Hewitt, A., & Macrury, S. (2017). A systematic and integrated review of mobile-based technology to promote active lifestyles in people with Type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology*, 11(2), 299-307. https://doi.org/10.1177/1932296816656018
- Mead, M. P., & Irish, L. A. (2021). The theory of planned behaviour and sleep opportunity: An ecological momentary assessment. *Journal of Sleep Research*, e13420. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsr.13420
- Mellis, A. M., Snider, S. E., Deshpande, H. U., LaConte, S. M., & Bickel, W. K. (2019). Practicing prospection promotes patience: Repeated episodic future thinking cumulatively reduces delay discounting. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 204*, 107507. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.06.010
- Middelweerd, A., Mollee, J. S., van der Wal, C. N., Brug, J., & Te Velde, S. J. (2014). Apps to promote physical activity among adults: A review and content analysis. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 11(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-014-0097-9
- Miloyan, B., & McFarlane, K. A. (2019). The measurement of episodic foresight: a systematic review of assessment instruments. *Cortex*, 117, 351-370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cortex.2018.08.018
- Miloyan, B., Pachana, N. A., & Suddendorf, T. (2014). The future is here: A review of foresight systems in anxiety and depression. *Cognition & Emotion*, 28(5), 795-810. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2013.863179
- Minami, H., Brinkman, H. R., Nahvi, S., Arnsten, J. H., Rivera-Mindt, M., Wetter, D. W., ... & Brown, R. A. (2018). Rationale, design and pilot feasibility results of a smartphone-assisted, mindfulness-based intervention for smokers with mood disorders: Project mSMART MIND. *Contemporary Clinical Trials, 66,* 36-44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cct.2017.12.014

- Moore, S. C., & Cusens, B. (2010). Delay discounting predicts increase in blood alcohol level in social drinkers. *Psychiatry Research*, 179(3), 324-327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2008.07.024
- Moore, G. F., & Evans, R. E. (2017). What theory, for whom and in which context? Reflections on the application of theory in the development and evaluation of complex population health interventions. SSM-Population Health, 3, 132-135. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2016.12.005
- Moustafa, A. A., Morris, A. N., & ElHaj, M. (2018). A review on future episodic thinking in mood and anxiety disorders. *Reviews in the Neurosciences*, 30(1), 85-94. https://doi.org/10.1515/revneuro-2017-0055
- Nahum-Shani, I., Smith, S. N., Spring, B. J., Collins, L. M., Witkiewitz, K., Tewari, A., & Murphy, S. A. (2018). Just-in-time adaptive interventions (JITAIs) in mobile health: Key components and design principles for ongoing health behavior support. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 52(6), 446-462. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-016-9830-8
- Nauts, S., & Kroese, F. M. (2017). The role of self-control in sleep behavior. In de Ridder, D., Adriaanse, M., & Fujita, K. (Eds.). *Routledge international handbook of self-control in health and well-being* (pp. 288-299). Abingdon: Routledge.
- Nelson, L. A., Mayberry, L. S., Wallston, K., Kripalani, S., Bergner, E. M., & Osborn, C. Y. (2016). Development and usability of REACH: a tailored theory-based text messaging intervention for disadvantaged adults with type 2 diabetes. *JMIR Human Factors*, 3(2), e6029. doi: 10.2196/humanfactors.6029
- Nurmi, J. E. (2005). Thinking about and acting upon the future: Development of future orientation across the life span. In A. Strathman & J. Joireman (Eds.), Understanding Behavior in the Context of Time: Theory, Research, and Application (pp. 31-57). London: Psychology Press.
- Nurra, C., & Oyserman, D. (2018). From future self to current action: An identitybased motivation perspective. *Self and Identity*, *17*(3), 343-364. https://doi.org/10.1080/15298868.2017.1375003
- O'Donnell, S., Daniel, T. O., Koroschetz, J., Kilanowski, C., Otminski, A., Bickel, W. K., & Epstein, L. H. (2019). Do process simulations during episodic future thinking enhance the reduction of delay discounting for middle income participants and those living in poverty?. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 32(3), 231-240. https://doi-org.proxy-um.researchport.umd.edu/10.1002/bdm.2108
- Oettingen, G., & Gollwitzer, P. M. (2018). Health behavior change by self-regulation of goal pursuit: Mental contrasting with implementation intentions. In D. de Ridder, M. Adriaanse, & K. Fujita (Eds.), *Routledge international handbooks. The Routledge international handbook of self-control in health and well-being* (p. 418-430). Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group.

- Oettingen, G., & Reininger, K. M. (2016). The power of prospection: Mental contrasting and behavior change. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, *10*(11), 591-604. https://doi.org/10.1111/spc3.12271
- O'Neill, J., Daniel, T. O., & Epstein, L. H. (2016). Episodic future thinking reduces eating in a food court. *Eating Behaviors*, 20, 9-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2015.10.002
- Oved, S., Mofaz, M., Lan, A., Einat, H., Kronfeld-Schor, N., Yamin, D., & Shmueli, E. (2021). Differential effects of COVID-19 lockdowns on well-being: Interaction between age, gender and chronotype. *Journal of the Royal Society, Interface, 18*(179). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2021.0078
- Owens, H., Christian, B., & Polivka, B. (2017). Sleep behaviors in traditional age college students: A state of the science review with implications for practice. *Journal of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners*, 29(11), 695-703. doi: 10.1002/2327-6924.12520
- Pan, H., Liu, S., Miao, D., & Yuan, Y. (2018). Sample size determination for mediation analysis of longitudinal data. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1), 1-11. doi:10.1186/s12874-018-0473-2
- Pawson, R., & Tilley, N. (1997). Realistic evaluation. sage.
- Payne, H. E., Lister, C., West, J. H., & Bernhardt, J. M. (2015). Behavioral functionality of mobile apps in health interventions: A systematic review of the literature. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 3(1), e20. doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3335
- Peters, E., Lipkus, I., & Diefenbach, M. A. (2006). The functions of affect in health communications and in the construction of health preferences. *Journal of Communication*, 56(S1), S140-S162. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2006.00287.x
- PEW Research Center Internet & Technology (JAN. 2017). Mobile phone ownership. http://www.pewinternet.org/chart/mobile-phone-ownership/
- Pietrobelli, A., Pecoraro, L., Ferruzzi, A., Heo, M., Faith, M., Zoller, T., ... & Heymsfield, S. B. (2020). Effects of COVID - 19 lockdown on lifestyle behaviors in children with obesity living in Verona, Italy: A longitudinal study. *Obesity*, 28(8), 1382-1385. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22861
- Prestwich, A., Perugini, M., & Hurling, R. (2010). Can implementation intentions and text messages promote brisk walking? A randomized trial. *Health Psychology*, 29(1), 40-49. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016993
- Price, M., Higgs, S., & Lee, M. (2017). Self-control mediates the relationship between time perspective and BMI. *Appetite*, *108*, 156-160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.09.034
- Qin, Z., Wang, N., Ware, R. S., Sha, Y., & Xu, F. (2021). Lifestyle-related behaviors and health-related quality of life among children and adolescents in

China. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes, 19*(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-020-01657-w

- Quoidbach, J., Wood, A. M., & Hansenne, M. (2009). Back to the future: The effect of daily practice of mental time travel into the future on happiness and anxiety. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 4(5), 349-355. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760902992365
- Rasmussen, A. S., & Berntsen, D. (2013). The reality of the past versus the ideality of the future: Emotional valence and functional differences between past and future mental time travel. *Memory & Cognition*, 41(2), 187-200. doi: 10.3758/s13421-012-0260-y
- Reimers, S., Maylor, E. A., Stewart, N., & Chater, N. (2009). Associations between a one-shot delay discounting measure and age, income, education and realworld impulsive behavior. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 47(8), 973-978.
- Renner, B., & Schwarzer, R. (2005). Risk and Health Behaviours: Documentation of the Scales of the Research Project: Risk Appraisal Consequences in Korea-International University Bremen and Freie Universität Berlin 2005.
- Revelle, W. (2019, January 12). Using the psych package to generate and test structural models. https://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/psych/vignettes/psych for sem.pdf
- Rhodes, R. E., & Dickau, L. (2012). Experimental evidence for the intention– behavior relationship in the physical activity domain: A meta-analysis. *Health Psychology*, 31(6), 724-727. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0027290
- Riley, W. T., Rivera, D. E., Atienza, A. A., Nilsen, W., Allison, S. M., & Mermelstein, R. (2011). Health behavior models in the age of mobile interventions: Are our theories up to the task?. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, 1(1), 53-71. https://doi-org.proxyum.researchport.umd.edu/10.1007/s13142-011-0021-7
- Rimer, B. K., & Glanz, K. (2005). Theory at a glance. A guide for health promotion practice. https://www.sbccimplementationkits.org/demandrmnch/wpcontent/uploads/2014/02/Theory-at-a-Glance-A-Guide-For-Health-Promotion-Practice.pdf.
- Riordan, B. C., Conner, T. S., Flett, J. A., & Scarf, D. (2015). A brief orientation week ecological momentary intervention to reduce university student alcohol consumption. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 76(4), 525-529. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2015.76.525
- Robbins, R., & Niederdeppe, J. (2015). Using the integrative model of behavioral prediction to identify promising message strategies to promote healthy sleep behavior among college students. *Health Communication*, 30(1), 26-38. https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2013.835215
- Rösch, S. A., Stramaccia, D. F., & Benoit, R. G. (2021). Promoting farsighted decisions via episodic future thinking: A meta-analysis. [unpublished]

- Rung, J. M., & Madden, G. J. (2018). Experimental reductions of delay discounting and impulsive choice: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General*, 147(9), 1349-1381. https://doi.org/10.1037/xge0000462
- Rutchick, A. M., Slepian, M. L., Reyes, M. O., Pleskus, L. N., & Hershfield, H. E. (2018). Future self-continuity is associated with improved health and increases exercise behavior. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 24(1), 72-80. https://doi.org/10.1037/xap0000153
- Sadeh, N., & Karniol, R. (2012). The sense of self-continuity as a resource in adaptive coping with job loss. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 80(1), 93-99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2011.04.009
- Salgado, S., & Berntsen, D. (2019). My future is brighter than yours: The positivity bias in episodic future thinking and future self-images. *Psychological Research*, 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00426-019-01189-z
- Schacter, D. L. (2012). Adaptive constructive processes and the future of memory. *American Psychologist*, 67(8), 603-613. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029869
- Schacter, D. L., & Addis, D. R. (2007). The cognitive neuroscience of constructive memory: remembering the past and imagining the future. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 362(1481), 773-786. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2007.2087
- Schacter, D. L., Addis, D. R., Hassabis, D., Martin, V. C., Spreng, R. N., & Szpunar, K. K. (2012). The future of memory: Remembering, imagining, and the brain. *Neuron*, 76(4), 677-694. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.11.001
- Schacter, D. L., Benoit, R. G., & Szpunar, K. K. (2017). Episodic future thinking: Mechanisms and functions. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 17, 41-50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2017.06.002
- Schacter, D. L., Gaesser, B., & Addis, D. R. (2013). Remembering the past and imagining the future in the elderly. *Gerontology*, 59(2), 143-151. https://doi.org/10.1159/000342198
- Schrock, A. R. (2015). Communicative affordances of mobile media: Portability, availability, locatability, and multimediality. *International Journal of Communication*, 9, 1229-1246. https://ijoc.org/index.php/ijoc/article/viewFile/3288/1363
- Schroeder, S. A. (2007). We can do better improving the health of the American people. New England Journal of Medicine, 357(12), 1221-1228. doi: 10.1056/NEJMsa073350
- Schwerdtfeger, A. R., Schmitz, C., & Warken, M. (2012). Using text messages to bridge the intention-behavior gap? A pilot study on the use of text message reminders to increase objectively assessed physical activity in daily life. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *3*, 270. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00270

- Sheeran, P. (2002). Intention—behavior relations: a conceptual and empirical review. *European Review of Social Psychology*, 12(1), 1-36. https://doi.org/10.1080/14792772143000003
- Sheffer, C., MacKillop, J., McGeary, J., Landes, R., Carter, L., Yi, R., ... & Bickel, W. (2012). Delay discounting, locus of control, and cognitive impulsiveness independently predict tobacco dependence treatment outcomes in a highly dependent, lower socioeconomic group of smokers. *The American Journal on Addictions*, 21(3), 221-232. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1521-0391.2012.00224.x
- Shevorykin, A., Pittman, J. C., Bickel, W. K., O'connor, R. J., Malhotra, R., Prashad, N., & Sheffer, C. E. (2019). Primed for health: Future thinking priming decreases delay discounting. *Health Behavior and Policy Review*, 6(4), 363-377. https://doi.org/10.14485/HBPR.6.4.5
- Shiffman, S., & Stone, A. A. (1998). Introduction to the special section: Ecological momentary assessment in health psychology. *Health Psychology*, 17(1), 3-5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0092706
- Sinha, M., Pande, B., & Sinha, R. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 lockdown on sleepwake schedule and associated lifestyle related behavior: A national survey. *Journal of Public Health Research*, 9(3). https://doi.org/10.4081/jphr.2020.1826
- Siopis, G., Chey, T., & Allman Farinelli, M. (2015). A systematic review and meta - analysis of interventions for weight management using text messaging. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics*, 28, 1-15. https://doi-org.proxyum.researchport.umd.edu/10.1111/jhn.12207
- Sirois, F. M. (2015). A self-regulation resource model of self-compassion and health behavior intentions in emerging adults. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 2, 218-222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmedr.2015.03.006
- Snider, S. E., LaConte, S. M., & Bickel, W. K. (2016). Episodic future thinking: Expansion of the temporal window in individuals with alcohol dependence. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 40, 1558-1566. doi: 10.1111/acer.13112
- Sofis, M. J., Budney, A. J., Stanger, C., Knapp, A. A., & Borodovsky, J. T. (2020). Greater delay discounting and cannabis coping motives are associated with more frequent cannabis use in a large sample of adult cannabis users. *Drug* and Alcohol Dependence, 207, 107820. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.107820
- Sokolovsky, A. W., Mermelstein, R. J., & Hedeker, D. (2013). Factors predicting compliance to ecological momentary assessment among adolescent smokers. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*, 16(3), 351-358. https://doi-org.proxyum.researchport.umd.edu/10.1093/ntr/ntt154
- Spreng, R. N., & Grady, C. L. (2010). Patterns of brain activity supporting autobiographical memory, prospection, and theory of mind, and their

relationship to the default mode network. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, 22(6), 1112-1123. https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn.2009.21282

- Statista (February 2018). Share of adults in the United States who owned a mobile phone in 2017, by age group. https://www.statista.com/statistics/194992/percentage-of-us-smartphoneowners-by-age-group/
- Stein, J. S., Tegge, A. N., Turner, J. K., & Bickel, W. K. (2018). Episodic future thinking reduces delay discounting and cigarette demand: An investigation of the good-subject effect. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 41(2), 269-276. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-017-9908-1
- Stein, J. S., Wilson, A. G., Koffarnus, M. N., Daniel, T. O., Epstein, L. H., & Bickel, W. K. (2016). Unstuck in time: Episodic future thinking reduces delay discounting and cigarette smoking. *Psychopharmacology*, 233(21), 3771-3778. doi:10.1007/s00213-016-4410-y
- Stephenson, A., McDonough, S. M., Murphy, M. H., Nugent, C. D., & Mair, J. L. (2017). Using computer, mobile and wearable technology enhanced interventions to reduce sedentary behaviour: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 14(1), 105. doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0561-4
- Strathman, A., Gleicher, F., Boninger, D.S., & Edwards, C.S. (1994). The consideration of future consequences: Weighing immediate and distant outcomes of behavior. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 66(4), 742-752. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.66.4.742
- Suddendorf, T., & Busby, J. (2005). Making decisions with the future in mind: Developmental and comparative identification of mental time travel. *Learning and Motivation*, *36*(2), 110-125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lmot.2005.02.010
- Sze, Y. Y., Daniel, T. O., Kilanowski, C. K., Collins, R. L., & Epstein, L. H. (2015). Web-based and mobile delivery of an episodic future thinking intervention for overweight and obese families: A feasibility study. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 3(4), e97. doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4603
- Sze, Y. Y., Stein, J. S., Bickel, W. K., Paluch, R. A., & Epstein, L. H. (2017). Bleak present, bright future: Online episodic future thinking, scarcity, delay discounting, and food demand. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 5(4), 683-697. https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702617696511
- Szpunar, K. K. (2010). Episodic future thought: An emerging concept. Perspectives on Psychological Science, 5(2), 142-162. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691610362350
- Szpunar, K. K., & McDermott, K. B. (2008). Episodic future thought and its relation to remembering: Evidence from ratings of subjective experience. *Consciousness and Cognition*, 17(1), 330-334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2007.04.006

- Szpunar, K. K., Watson, J. M., & McDermott, K. B. (2007). Neural substrates of envisioning the future. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(2), 642-647. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0610082104
- Tan, S. L., Storm, V., Reinwand, D. A., Wienert, J., de Vries, H., & Lippke, S. (2018). Understanding the positive associations of sleep, physical activity, fruit and vegetable intake as predictors of quality of life and subjective health across age groups: A theory based, cross-sectional web-based study. *Frontiers* in Psychology, 9, 977. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00977
- Tangney, J. P., Baumeister, R. F., & Boone, A. L. (2004). High self control predicts good adjustment, less pathology, better grades, and interpersonal success. *Journal of Personality*, 72(2), 271-324. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-3506.2004.00263.x
- Taylor, S. E., Pham, L. B., Rivkin, I. D., & Armor, D. A. (1998). Harnessing the imagination: Mental simulation, self-regulation, and coping. *American Psychologist*, 53(4), 429-439. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.53.4.429
- Taylor, J., & Wilson, J. C. (2016). Failing time after time: time perspective, procrastination, and cognitive reappraisal in goal failure. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 46(10), 557-564. https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12383
- Tingley, D., Yamamoto, T., Hirose, K., Keele, L., & Imai, K. (2014). Mediation: R package for causal mediation analysis. https://cran.rproject.org/web/packages/mediation/vignettes/mediation.pdf
- Tong, H. L., Quiroz, J. C., Kocaballi, A. B., Fat, S. C. M., Dao, K. P., Gehringer, H., ... & Laranjo, L. (2021). Personalized mobile technologies for lifestyle behavior change: A systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression. *Preventive Medicine*, 106532. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2021.106532
- Trope, Y., & Fishbach, A. (2000). Counteractive self-control in overcoming temptation. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *79*(4), 493-506. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.79.4.493
- Trope, Y., & Liberman, N. (2010). Construal-level theory of psychological distance. *Psychological Review*, *117*(2), 440-463. doi: 10.1037/a0018963
- Tulving, E. (1985). Memory and consciousness. *Canadian Psychology*, *26*(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0080017
- Tulving, E. (2002). Episodic memory: From mind to brain. Annual Review of Psychology, 53(1), 1-25. https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/pdf/10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.13 5114
- Vaast, E., & Kaganer, E. (2013). Social media affordances and governance in the workplace: An examination of organizational policies. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 19(1), 78-101. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12032
- van Dam, R. M., Li, T., Spiegelman, D., Franco, O. H., & Hu, F. B. (2008). Combined impact of lifestyle factors on mortality: Prospective cohort study in

US women. *BMJ: British Medical Journal, 337*, a1440. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.a1440

- Van Gelder, J. L., Hershfield, H. E., & Nordgren, L. F. (2013). Vividness of the future self predicts delinquency. *Psychological Science*, 24(6), 974-980. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612465197
- Van Gelder, J. L., Luciano, E. C., Weulen Kranenbarg, M., & Hershfield, H. E. (2015). Friends with my future self: Longitudinal vividness intervention reduces delinquency. *Criminology*, 53(2), 158-179. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1111/1745-9125.12064.
- van Rijn, J. (May 2021). The ultimate mobile email statistics overview. https://www.emailmonday.com/mobile-email-usage-statistics/#growth
- Vasquez, N. A., & Buehler, R. (2007). Seeing future success: Does imagery perspective influence achievement motivation?. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 33(10), 1392-1405. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167207304541
- Villinger, K., Wahl, D. R., Boeing, H., Schupp, H. T., & Renner, B. (2019). The effectiveness of app - based mobile interventions on nutrition behaviours and nutrition - related health outcomes: A systematic review and meta - analysis. *Obesity Reviews, 20*(10), 1465-1484. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12903
- Wang, T., Mellis, A. M., Lau, N., & Bickel, W. (2019, November). Integrating Episodic Future Thinking into Virtual Reality to Mitigate Substance Use Disorders: A Theoretical Framework. In Proceedings of the *Human Factors* and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting (Vol. 63, No. 1, pp. 2282-2286). Sage CA: Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Waugh, C. E., & Fredrickson, B. L. (2006). Nice to know you: Positive emotions, self-other overlap, and complex understanding in the formation of a new relationship. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 1(2), 93-106. doi: 10.1080/17439760500510569
- Weinstein, N. D. (1988). The precaution adoption process. *Health Psychology*, 7(4), 355-386. https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.7.4.355
- Wheeler, M. A., Stuss, D. T., & Tulving, E. (1997). Toward a theory of episodic memory: the frontal lobes and autonoetic consciousness. *Psychological Bulletin*, 121(3), 331-354.
  http://www.sscnet.ucla.edu/comm/steen/cogweb/Discourse/Narrative/Wheeler -97.pdf
- Whittaker, R., McRobbie, H., Bullen, C., Borland, R., Rodgers, A., & Gu, Y. (2012). Mobile phone-based interventions for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database Systematic Review*, 11.
- Wiederhold, B. K. (2015). mHealth apps empower individuals. Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 18(8), 429-430. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2015.29006.bkw
- Wilmer, H. H., & Chein, J. M. (2016). Mobile technology habits: Patterns of association among device usage, intertemporal preference, impulse control, and reward sensitivity. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 23(5), 1607-1614. doi: 10.3758/s13423-016-1011-z
- Wills, T. A., Isasi, C. R., Mendoza, D., & Ainette, M. G. (2007). Self-control constructs related to measures of dietary intake and physical activity in adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 41(6), 551-558. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2007.06.013
- Wills, T. A., Sandy, J. M., & Yaeger, A. M. (2001). Time perspective and early-onset substance use: A model based on stress-coping theory. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 15(2), 118-125. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-164X.15.2.118
- Wilson, T. D., & Gilbert, D. T. (2005). Affective forecasting: Knowing what to want. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 14(3), 131-134. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0963-7214.2005.00355.x
- World Health Organization. (2011). Global status report on noncommunicable diseases 2010. Geneva: World Health Organization. http://www.who.int/nmh/publications/ncd\_report\_full\_en.pdf
- Wu, Y., Yao, X., Vespasiani, G., Nicolucci, A., Dong, Y., Kwong, J., ... Li, S. (2017). Mobile app-based interventions to support diabetes self-management: A systematic review of randomized controlled trials to identify functions associated with glycemic efficacy. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 5(3), e35, https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.6522
- Ye, J. Y., Ding, Q. Y., Cui, J. F., Liu, Z., Jia, L. X., Qin, X. J., ... & Wang, Y. A meta-analysis of the effect of episodic future thinking on delay discounting. [unpublished]
- Zhao, J., Freeman, B., & Li, M. (2016). Can mobile phone apps influence people's health behavior change? An evidence review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 18(11), 287-2871. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.5692
- Zhao, G., & Pechmann, C. (2007). The impact of regulatory focus on adolescents' response to antismoking advertising campaigns. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 44(4), 671-687. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmkr.44.4.671